Investigation of nonlinear dynamics in and via femtosecond filaments in gases

Von der Fakultät für Mathematik und Physik der Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktor der Naturwissenschaften - Dr. rer. nat. -

genehmigte Dissertation von

M.Sc. Christoph Jusko

2022

Referent:Prof. Dr. Milutin KovačevKorreferent:Prof. Dr. Uwe MorgnerKorreferent:Associate Prof. Dr. Cord L. ArnoldTag der Promotion:04.07.2022

Abstract

Christoph Jusko

Investigation of nonlinear dynamics in and via femtosecond filaments in gases

Intense, ultrashort laser pulses are required for the study of many nonlinear optical effects and are of utmost relevance for various applications from ultrafast X-ray radiography in medicine up to remote sensing of the atmosphere. Increasing their intensity while interacting with matter eventually leads to the generation of laserinduced plasma. This plasma has fascinating optical properties such as a negative refractive index contribution proportional to the free electron density or the lack of a damage threshold, giving the prospect of a multitude of new applications based on the manipulation of light with plasma. The realization of such plasma-based applications requires a precise knowledge of its properties and temporal evolution, as the plasma remains for much longer than its generation event. A method to generate and investigate ultrashort laser pulses as well as laser-induced plasma is femtosecond filamentation. It represents the formation of an intense self-guided light channel in a medium for distances much longer than the Rayleigh range of the same beam focused in vacuum. It is formed by a dynamic balance of Kerr-induced self-focusing and plasma-induced defocusing. In this thesis, it is demonstrated that femtosecond filamentation can be employed as a tool to investigate the temporal evolution of laser-induced plasma. The study is realized in various atomic and molecular gas atmospheres via measuring the temporal evolution of the enhancement of third harmonic radiation generated by a femtosecond filament which is intercepted by a laser-induced plasma spot. Significant differences for the lifetime of the plasma in atomic and molecular gas atmospheres are found. Further, a novel method for the complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length is presented. It is based on controlled filament termination at various positions along its length in combination with spatio-temporal pulse characterization and numerical backpropagation of the filament pulses to the termination point. The capabilities of the method are illustrated by revealing complex spatio-temporal dynamics and couplings during filament propagation.

Key words: femtosecond filamentation, laser-induced plasma, plasma lifetime, filament pulse characterization

Contents

Introduction	
1.1	Motivation for the present work
Fur	ndamentals 7
2.1	Laser filamentation
	2.1.1 Spatial profile of the filament
	The core
	The reservoir $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	Conical emission $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	2.1.2 Self-healing and self-cleaning
	2.1.3 Multifilamentation $\ldots \ldots 12$
	2.1.4 Scale invariance of filaments
2.2	Basics of nonlinear optics
	2.2.1 Kerr effect
	Self-phase modulation
	2.2.2 Self-steepening
2.3	Femtosecond laser-induced plasma
	2.3.1 Plasma parameters
	Free electron density $\ldots \ldots 20$
	Free electron temperature distribution
	2.3.2 Ionization
	2.3.3 Recombination
	Int: 1.1 Fur 2.1 2.2 2.3

		3.4 Experimental methods for the determination of the free electron	
		density $\ldots \ldots 2$	28
		Interferometric measurements of plasma-induced phase shifts $\ . \ . \ 2$	29
		Thomson scattering $\ldots \ldots 2$	29
		Measurement of plasma-induced beam diffraction 3	30
	2.4	Filamentation models and pulse propagation effects	30
		$2.4.1 Moving focus model \dots 3$	30
		2.4.2 Self-guiding model	31
		2.4.3 Dynamic spatial replenishment model $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 3	32
		2.4.4 Summary of the filamentation models $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $	32
		2.4.5 Nonlinear Envelope Equation	33
		$2.4.6 Self-compression \ldots 3$	34
		2.4.7 Pulse splitting and intensity spikes	35
		2.4.8 Third harmonic generation	37
		Principle of TH enhancement	38
	2.5		6
		2.5.1 Spatio-temporal couplings	1
		2.5.2 Spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry $\ldots \ldots \ldots 4$	13
		$2.5.3 \text{ INSIGHT} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	18
		2.5.4 Temporal pulse characterization techniques	i 0
		Frequency-resolved optical gating	60
		$2.5.5$ Dispersion scan $\ldots \ldots 5$	51
3	Det	rmination of the temporal plasma evolution via TH enhance-	
	me	5	5
	3.1	Experimental setup, procedure and principle	55
		5.1.1 Experimental setup	55
		Laser system	55
		Setup \ldots \ldots \ldots 5	6
		1.2 Experimental procedure	i 8
		1.3 Experimental principle	; 9

	3.2	Experimental results	61
		3.2.1 Parameter study	61
		Pulse energy	62
		Polarization	64
		$Pulse duration \dots \dots$	64
		Gas pressure	68
		3.2.2 Plasma lifetime of the molecular gases	69
		3.2.3 Plasma lifetime of the atomic gases	71
	3.3	Analysis and discussion of the measured plasma lifetimes	74
	3.4	Investigation of the TH enhancement around zero delay \ldots	77
	3.5	Analysis and discussion of the TH enhancement around zero delay $\ .$.	83
		3.5.1 Temporal TH evolution around zero delay	83
		3.5.2 Pulse-energy-dependent shift of TH onset	85
4	Spa its	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along	27
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along length Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	3 7 38
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	37 38 38
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	37 38 38 38
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	37 88 88 92 94
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	37 88 88 92 94 96
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	37 88 88 92 94 94 96 97
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	87 88 88 92 94 96 97
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	87 88 88 92 94 96 97 98 98
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions 8 4.1.1 Laser system and experimental setup 8 4.1.2 Experimental procedure 9 4.1.3 Experimental principle 9 Data treatment 9 Numerical backpropagation 9 Simulations on the filament dynamics 9 4.1.4 Experimental conditions 9 Experimental results 9	87 88 88 92 94 96 97 98 99 98
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions 8 4.1.1 Laser system and experimental setup 8 4.1.2 Experimental procedure 8 4.1.3 Experimental principle 9 Data treatment 9 Numerical backpropagation 9 Simulations on the filament dynamics 9 4.1.4 Experimental conditions 9 4.1.4 Experimental results 10 4.2.1 Spectral evolution and comparison with simulations 10	87 88 92 94 96 97 98 99 98 99 20
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions 8 4.1.1 Laser system and experimental setup 8 4.1.2 Experimental procedure 9 4.1.3 Experimental principle 9 Data treatment 9 Numerical backpropagation 9 Simulations on the filament dynamics 9 4.1.4 Experimental conditions 9 4.2.1 Spectral evolution and comparison with simulations 10 4.2.2 Temporal evolution and comparison with simulations 10	87 88 92 94 96 97 98 99 20 20 20
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	37 88 92 94 96 97 98 99 20 20 20 20
4	Spa its 4.1	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	87 88 92 94 96 97 98 99 00 00 00 00 01 05 08
4	Spa its 4.1 4.2	atio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along 8 length 8 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions	87 88 92 94 96 97 98 99 00 00 00 00 01 05 08 12

5	Conclusion and outlook	115
	5.1 Conclusion \ldots	115
	5.2 Outlook	119
Bi	bliography	123
A	ppendix	161

A Parameter study	161
A.1 Pulse energy	
A.2 Polarization	
A.3 Pulse duration	
Publications	16

Acronyms and symbols

Acronyms

Notation	Description
ADK	Ammosov-Delone-Krainov
ATI	above-threshold ionization
BBO	beta barium borate
CCD	charge-coupled device
CPA	chirped pulse amplification
d-scan	dispersion scan
DCMs	double-chirped mirrors
DFG	difference frequency generation
EEDF	electron energy distribution function
ELI	Extreme Light Infrastructure
FFT	fast Fourier transform
FROG	frequency-resolved optical gating
FTS	Fourier transform spectroscopy
FWHM	full width at half maximum
GD	group delay
GDD	group delay dispersion
HHG	high-order harmonic generation

Notation	Description
IAPs	isolated attosecond pulses
LIDAR	light detection and ranging
MIR	mid-infrared radiation
MPI	multi-photon ionization
ND	neutral density
NEE	Nonlinear Envelope Equation
NIR	near-infrared radiation
NLSE	Nonlinear Schrödinger Equation
OAP	off-axis paraboloid
OPCPA	optical parametric chirped pulse amplification
PG	polarization-gate
PPT	Peremolov-Popov-Terent'ev
RHHG	relativistic high-order harmonic generation
SD	self-diffraction
SFG	sum frequency generation
SHG	second harmonic generation
SIGC	semi-infinite gas cell
SNR	signal-to-noise ratio

-

Notation	Description
SPM	self-phase modulation
SRFTS	spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry
SRSI	self-referenced spectral interferometry
STCs	spatio-temporal couplings
STFT	short-time Fourier transform
SVEA	slowly varying envelope approximation
TBC	two-beam coupling
TG	transient-grating
TH	third harmonic
THG	third harmonic generation
TI	tunnel ionization
TOD	third-order dispersion
TS	Thomson scattering
UPPE	unidirectional pulse propagation equation
UV	ultra violet
XPW	crossed-polarized wave
XUV	extreme ultra violet
YI	Yudin and Ivanov

Symbols

Notation	Description
A	heavy particle
A^*	excited heavy particle
A^+	positively charged ion
$A_{\rm cross}$	cross correlation signal term of the SRFTS method
a_0	Bohr radius
β	fraction of incident beam for the reference
С	speed of light
$C_{\rm 3body}$	rate factor of three-body electron-ion collisions
D	dispersion operator
$D_{\rm beam}$	collimated beam diameter
d	relative filament position
E	scalar electric field
E	vectorial electric field
E'	reference corrected electric field
E^*	complex conjugated electric field
$E_{\rm at}$	atomic field strength
$E_{\rm av}$	average electron energy
$E_{\rm in}$	incident pulse energy

_

Notation	Description
$E_{\rm kin}$	kinetic energy
$E_{\rm out}$	output pulse energy
$E_{\rm pulse}$	incident pulse energy
$E_{\rm ref}$	reference electric field
$E_{\rm TF}$	spectrogram in the time-frequency analysis
$E_{\rm tot}$	total free electron energy
ε	vectorial electric field
e	mathematical constant
$e_{ m c}$	elementary charge
e^-	electron
ε_0	vacuum permittivity
\mathcal{FT}	Fourier transform
f	focal length
ϕ	phase
$\phi_{ m mirror}$	mirror curvature phase
$\phi_{ m ref}$	phase of the reference electric field
$\phi_{ m SPM}$	phase contribution by self-phase modulation
$\Delta \phi_{ m disp}$	wedge phase contribution

-

Notation	Description
$\Delta \phi_{\rm p}$	plasma phase contribution
G	sliding window function
γ	Keldysh parameter
h	Planck constant
Ι	intensity
$I_{\rm at}$	required intensity for the atomic field strength
$I_{\rm clamp}$	clamping intensity
I_{p}	ionization potential
i	imaginary number
K	number of photons
$K_{\rm disp}$	wavenumber including dispersion
$K_{\rm z}$	Fourier optics plane wave propagator
k	wavenumber
\boldsymbol{k}	wave vector
k_0	central wavenumber
$k_{\rm B}$	Boltzmann constant
k_x	Reciprocal coordinate perpendicular to the propagation direction
k_y	Reciprocal coordinate perpendicular to the propagation direction

-

Notation	Description
$L_{\rm c}$	nonlinear focal length
$L_{\rm c,f}$	effective nonlinear focal length
λ_0	central wavelength
λ_c	central wavelength
М	molar mass
$m_{ m e}$	electron mass
μ	minimization parameter
$N_{ m A}$	Avogadro constant
$N_{ m crit}$	critical free electron density
$N_{ m e}$	free electron density
$N_{ m nt}$	number density
$N_{\rm pixel}$	required amount of pixels for interference pattern recording
n	refractive index
n_0	linear refractive index
n_2	nonlinear refractive index
$\Delta n_{\rm Kerr}$	nonlinear refractive index contribution
$n_{ m p}$	refractive index of plasma
$\Delta n_{\rm p}$	refractive index change due to plasma

Notation	Description
η	scaling parameter
Р	scalar polarization
P	vectorial polarization
$P_{\rm crit}$	critical peak power
$P_{\rm L}$	linear polarization
$P_{\rm NL}$	nonlinear polarization
$P_{\rm peak}$	peak power
p	pressure
$p_{ m pixel}$	required amount of pixels for fringe resolvement at the beam edge
$ ho_{ m m}$	mass density
π	mathematical constant
r	spatial coordinate perpendicular to the propagation direction
r	spatial coordinate vector perpendicular to the propagation direc- tion
S	spectral density function
$S_{\rm meas}$	measured d-scan trace
$S_{\rm sim}$	simulated d-scan trace
σ_0	geometrical atomic cross section

Notation	Description
$\sigma_{ m K}$	absorption cross section for K photons
Т	space-time focusing operator
$T_{\rm e}$	free electron temperature
$T_{\rm p}$	moving time frame of the optical pulse
t	temporal coordinate
$ au_{ m p}$	pulse duration
$\theta_{\rm con}$	cone angle
$U_{\rm p}$	ponderomotive potential
v	probability
$v_{ m g}$	group velocity
$v_{\rm ph}$	phase velocity
W	probability
$W_{\rm MPI}$	multi-photon ionization rate
w_0	waist radius
ω	angular frequency
ω_0	central angular frequency
$\omega_{ m L}$	angular laser frequency
$\omega_{ m p}$	plasma frequency

Notation	Description
$\Delta \omega$	induced angular frequency contribution
$\Delta \omega_{\rm p}$	induced angular frequency contribution of plasma
x	Cartesian coordinate perpendicular to the propagation direction
x_{c}	Beam center along the Cartesian coordinate x
χ	susceptibility
y	Cartesian coordinate perpendicular to the propagation direction
$y_{ m c}$	Beam center along the Cartesian coordinate y
z	Cartesian coordinate in propagation direction
$z_{\rm crit}$	critical length
$z_{ m R}$	Rayleigh range/length
$z_{\rm ter}$	Filament termination position
Δz	propagated distance

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Since the development of lasers in the 1960's, pulsed lasers have enabled the study of nonlinear light-matter interaction due to their achievable high intensity as well as the study of ultrafast processes up to the attosecond regime $(1 \text{ as} = 10^{-18} \text{ s})$ due to their short duration [Bra00; Cor07; Kra09]. By applying pump-probe schemes, fundamental physical processes and concepts can be studied with a temporal resolution in the range of the applied pulsed laser's duration [Sto92; Hen01; Lea10]. The femtosecond-resolved pump-probe spectroscopy studies of chemical reactions, called "femtochemistry", led by Ahmed Zewail [Zew00], were rewarded with the Noble Prize in Chemistry in 1999. Via the development of sophisticated amplification concepts such as the Noble-Prize-awarded chirped pulse amplification (CPA) [Str85; Mai88] or optical parametric chirped pulse amplification (OPCPA) [Dub92; Ros97] techniques, the achievable peak power of pulsed laser systems could be continuously increased over the last decades. Peak powers of GW [Hen00; Rot09] to TW [Tak06; Her09] are reached in present-day table-top laboratory systems and even up to PW in large-scale facilities such as the Extreme Light Infrastructure (ELI) [Wil20], with pulse durations in the fs-regime. In this way, extremely high intensities of $10^{18} \,\mathrm{W/cm^2}$ up to $10^{23} \,\mathrm{W/cm^2}$ can be achieved [Hen00; Yam02; Dor20]. With such intensity levels, many nonlinear process can be driven efficiently until, for high enough intensities, ionization of the respective medium takes place, leading to the generation of laser-induced plasma, i.e. free charges. With intensities above 10^{13} - 10^{14} W/cm², in combination with pulse durations in the fs-range, practically only gaseous media can be studied, as dense media already ionize [Gam02]. The generation of free electrons in femtosecond laser-induced plasma, via the processes of multi-photon ionization (MPI)

or tunnel ionization (TI), counteracts nonlinear processes such as self-focusing, that would otherwise continuously increase the intensity in the focus of an intense laser beam, by leading to plasma absorption and plasma defocusing. Plasma defocusing is based on the presence of free electrons that alter the refractive index of the medium: the higher the free electron density, the lower is the refractive index of the medium. Controlling the spatial distribution and the amount of the free electron density paves the way for "plasma photonics", the manipulation of light with plasma. Due to the fact that plasma is based on ionized matter, it has a unique property for the realization of optics: it has no damage threshold. Hence, it is well suited to be used for beam manipulation in environments with very high light intensities of the order of TW/cm^2 or higher, making it also an ideal candidate for the development of future laser systems. Schemes for plasma-based lenses [Kat09], gratings [Liu10; Dur11], holograms [Leb17], waveplates based on plasma gratings [Mic14; Tur16] and mirrors [Kap91; Dro04] were already realized, leading to applications such as the generation of relativistic high-order harmonic generation (RHHG) [Edw14; Edw20], a potential tool towards very bright extreme ultraviolet radiation sources. Further, laser-induced plasma forms the basis of laser-based accelerator schemes [Taj79; Esa09; Fau18] and can be used for broadening pulse spectra [Fou10; Aug12], generate new frequencies up to intense mid-infrared radiation [Nie18] or enhance existing radiation [Har08]. From the moment of its creation, laser-induced plasma inherently is a transient phenomenon. Its constituents of opposite charge, negatively charged free electrons and positively charged ions, have the tendency to form neutral matter via recombination processes eventually. Therefore, it is fundamentally important to know the characteristic decay time of the plasma of interest, also referred to as "plasma lifetime". This knowledge can improve many applications in which a temporally delayed beam interacts with the laser-induced plasma, e.g. in the case of plasma gratings in which an incident beam shall be diffracted from laser-induced grating structure consisting of plasma.

A fundamental nonlinear propagation phenomenon that combines nonlinear processes such as self-focusing and laser-induced ionization, is femtosecond filamentation [Bra95; Cou07]. It describes the formation of an intense light channel in gaseous or dense media for distances much longer than the Rayleigh range of the same laser pulse focused in vacuum. It is formed by a dynamic balance between the aforementioned self-focusing due to the Kerr effect, a nonlinear effect of third order, defocusing due to usual beam diffraction and laser-induced ionization of the medium, leaving a weakly ionized plasma column in its wake. Filament lengths between millimeters [Yua13] up to hundreds of meters [Fon99a; Béj07; Dur13] were realized. Due to the high intensity in the center or "core" of the filament, about $50 \,\mathrm{TW/cm^2}$ for a femtosecond filament in air [Kas00], many nonlinear effects such as the generation of the third harmonic (TH) of the fundamental driving field are induced along its length [Sun09; Liu11]. Due to their combination of high intensities with laser-induced ionization, femtosecond filaments cover a wide range of applications such as atmospheric light detection and ranging (LIDAR) techniques by white-light continuum [Rai00; Kas03], guiding of electric discharges in laboratory [Tzo01b] and atmospheric environments [Kas08], generation of down to sub-1.5-cycle pulses [Ste12] or the generation of new frequencies such as THz-radiation [DAm07; DAm08], the aforementioned TH radiation [Liu19] or high-order harmonics [Ste11b]. Furthermore, their intrinsic dynamic balance of nonlinear focusing and defocusing effects makes them a key candidate for the investigation of nonlinear pulse propagation phenomena. Filaments are fascinating as, on the one hand, they are a tool to study nonlinear effects and laser-induced plasma and, on the other hand, they can be utilized for applications based on their intrinsic nonlinear effects. For instance, high order harmonics can be generated directly from a filament [Ste11b], without the need of a capillary [Run98], gas cell [Tak02], semi-infinite gas cell (SIGC) [Pap01; Ste09a; App21] or gas jet [Sal97]. Further, ultrashort pulses can be generated directly from a filament [Ste12], instead of employing gas-filled hollow-core fibers [Nis96; Böh14], multi-plates [Lu14; Che16] or multi-pass cells [Sch16; Bal20] for that purpose. However, due to the interplay of the nonlinear effects in a filament, spatio-temporal couplings (STCs), acting on the filament pulse properties in a non-trivial way, occur [Fac05]. Therefore, filaments need to be completely, i.e. in terms of amplitude and phase, and spatio-temporally characterized so that the pulse properties can be tailored for any application.

1.1 Motivation for the present work

This work targets on showing the potential of femtosecond filaments as a tool to study nonlinear effects by the example of direct plasma lifetime studies in various gases via third harmonic enhancement as well as providing a new method for the investigation of nonlinear propagation effects in filamentation itself, able to resolve complex STCs, via a complete spatio-temporal characterization along its length. Furthermore, this work aims at revealing that there is still plenty of potential at deepening the understanding and control of femtosecond filaments, thereby expanding their application range, as well as expanding the fundamental knowledge about the temporal evolution of femtosecond laser-induced plasma for the improvement and expansion of methods in the field of plasma optics.

To the best of the author's knowledge, existing methods for the determination of femtosecond laser-induced plasma lifetimes are all indirect, requiring certain assumptions or additional measurements before the temporal decay of the plasma can be determined. The method presented in this work, based on filament-assisted TH enhancement, is the first method that enables a direct analysis of the temporal plasma evolution by studying the temporal evolution of the enhancement of TH radiation from a filament by laser-induced plasma. Previous works have shown, that the TH from a filament can be enhanced, whenever the filament core is disturbed by an obstacle [Akö02; Liu15]. When the obstacle is formed by laser-induced plasma, the temporal evolution of the TH enhancement maps the temporal evolution of the plasma [Sun09; Sun10]. In this work, plasma lifetime studies in atomic gas plasmas (helium, argon and xenon), in molecular gas plasmas (nitrogen and carbon dioxide), and in the mostly molecular gas plasma of air, are shown. Possible parameter dependencies of the laser-induced plasma are investigated and characteristic differences between the plasma lifetimes of atomic and molecular gas plasmas as well as differences in between the decays of plasmas of atomic or molecular gases are analyzed and discussed.

In this work, to the best of the author's knowledge, the first complete spatiotemporal pulse characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length is realized, by providing a new comprehensive method for femtosecond filamentation analysis. The method is based on defined termination of a filament at different lengths, a complete spatio-temporal characterization with a combination of spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry (SRFTS) [Mir14; Gal14] and the dispersion scan (d-scan) technique [Mir12a; Mir12b], and a numerical backpropagation of the characterized pulses to the termination point. Measurement results, revealing STCs and nonlinear effects in the filament are presented and analyzed, demonstrating the potential of the method for filamentation analysis and paving the way for a precise tailoring of filaments pulses for any application of interest.

This thesis is structured into four parts. In Chapter 2, the fundamentals about laser filamentation, the basic concepts of nonlinear optics, ionization and recombination as well as key properties of laser-induced plasma, STCs, and the used pulse characterization techniques are introduced. These concepts are required to understand the presented experiments in the following two chapters. In Chapter 3, the experiment about the determination of plasma lifetimes via TH enhancement in various gas plasmas is presented and the results are analyzed and discussed. In Chapter 4, the new complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length is displayed and its capabilities on revealing complex nonlinear propagation, via a four-dimensional tracing of nonlinear propagation dynamics, are demonstrated in one-, two- and three-dimensional pulse representations. In the final Chapter 5, this work is summarized and an outlook on further potential investigations is given.

CHAPTER 2

Fundamentals

In this chapter, the fundamentals, necessary for the understanding of the experiments presented in this thesis, are provided. At the beginning, a description of laser filamentation is given, followed by a basic introduction into nonlinear optics effects, such as Kerr effect and self-phase modulation, as well as into the theory of laserinduced plasma. Subsequently, filamentation models are described. All these basics support the understanding of femtosecond filamentation, which is the central topic of this thesis. A special focus is given to third-harmonic generation in filaments as well as to the enhancement of that radiation. The last section then introduces methods for the spatio-temporal as well as the pure temporal characterization of femtosecond laser pulses.

2.1 Laser filamentation

Laser filamentation is a nonlinear optical phenomenon in which a beam propagates with high intensity for much longer than the Rayleigh length of the same beam focused in vacuum without any external guiding mechanism, while creating a thin plasma channel along its propagation path. The focused light channel is formed by a dynamic balance of the nonlinear focusing and defocusing effects "self-focusing" due to the Kerr effect and "plasma-induced defocusing", being described in more detail in Sec. 2.2.1 and Sec. 2.3.1 later in this chapter. A schematic view of laser filamentation is shown in Fig. 2.1. The laser beam self-focuses until it ionizes the medium which leads to plasma-induced defocusing. Several such focusing-defocusing cycles can take place subsequently during laser filamentation, forming the intense and focused light channel that is called filament. More details on the filamentation dynamics are given in Sec. 2.4.



Figure 2.1: Schematic view of laser filamentation, showing self-focusing of the laser beam due to the Kerr and subsequent plasma-induced defocusing. Several such focusing defocusing cycles can take place, forming the filament. Reprinted from [Ste11a].

Filamentation exists in solids, liquids, and gases [Cou07] with propagation lengths reaching from a few mm [Yua13] up to several hundreds of m [Fon99a; Béj07; Dur13], generated from laser beams with pulse energies from hundreds of nJ [Liu03] up to several Joule [Béj07; Toc19] and pulse durations from sub-10 fs [Mat18] up to ps [Toc19]. Hence, laser filamentation covers a broad parameter space with numerous intrinsic nonlinear effects.

While filamentation exists in all states of matter with very different propagation lengths, generated from laser beams with a broad range of pulse parameters, the basic concept always remains the same. This principle also applies to spatial profile of a filament, presented in more detail in the following.

2.1.1 Spatial profile of the filament

The spatial profile of the filament consists of three different elements which are, from the center to the outer edge: the core, the reservoir and the conical emission. They are presented in more detail in the following. An illustration of the different spatial segments is shown in Fig. 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Schematic representation of the spatial profile of a femtosecond filament. The center is formed by the white-light core, surrounded by the reservoir. The conical emission is emitted as a cone of colored rings around the reservoir with different angles Θ_{λ} for the individual wavelengths of the filament spectrum. Adapted from [Sch12].

The core

In the center of the filament is the core. Typically, it has a diameter of about 55 -100 µm, for a filament in air [Thé06], depending on the external focusing conditions and the pressure. In liquid water the core diameter was measured to be roughly $60 \, \mu m$ [Dub03] and in fused silica the core diameter is in between 10 to 40 µm [Tzo01c]. Note that for very loose focusing conditions core diameters up to the mm range were observed for air [Fon99a; Chi02; Méc04]. However, such large diameters comprise a special filamentation regime in which the ionization threshold is not reached and balance between focusing and defocusing is only given by the Kerr effect and beam diffraction. The core inhibits all the nonlinear dynamics and the high intensities of TW/cm^2 , mentioned earlier. Whereas the core diameter is slightly different for filaments in the three different states of matter, the clamping intensity is similar for gases and solids [Kas00; Cou07], i.e. the clamping intensity for glass is around $50 \,\mathrm{TW/cm^2}$ [Sme12], equal to the clamping intensity of air [Kas00]. Similar clamping intensities in gases and solids originate from the balance between the Kerr-induced self-focusing with the plasma-induced defocusing and natural beam diffraction. In solids, the particle density $N_{\rm nt}$ is roughly three orders of magnitude higher than the particle density of gases at ambient pressure and room temperature. This higher

density directly leads, in a linear dependence, to a higher free electron density $N_{\rm e}$, thus a denser plasma (see Sec. 2.3.1). However, also the nonlinear refractive indices of solids are much higher than in gases, leading to stronger self-focusing. The much stronger plasma defocusing balances the significantly stronger self-focusing, resulting in a similar clamping intensity in gases and solids. The same principle, applies for the clamping intensity in liquids with free electron densities and nonlinear refractive indices in between gases and solids. A denser plasma is also connected to stronger plasma absorption, though, which leads to very short filaments of only a few cm in solids [Phi05] compared to lengths of several 10^2 m for gas filaments (see Sec. 2.1)). The core has a self-cleaning property, meaning an arbitrary beam profile during the onset of filamentation is becoming more similar to a Gaussian ground mode during propagation. This property is related to the spatio-temporal focusing behaviour of the filament. The Kerr-induced self-focusing and the plasma-induced focusing are stronger for higher pulse intensities and therefore favour Gaussian spatial pulse shapes which have better focusing properties than non-Gaussian beam shapes, suppressing non-intense parts of the pulse that are diffracted out of the pulse.

The reservoir

The reservoir is a ring with a diameter of 5 - 10 times the core diameter [Liu05a] that is comparable in size to the incident beam during the onset of filamentation, sometimes even exceeding the initial beam diameter [Cou07]. The reservoir is the energy storage of the filament since it contains around 50% of its total energy (see Sec. 2.4.2). Whereas a filament can continue to propagate when the core of the filament is disturbed or blocked (see Sec. 2.1.2), the filament is immediately terminated when the reservoir is blocked [Bro97; Liu05a; Liu05b]. The reservoir is in a dynamic interaction with the core, supplying it with energy. Around the reservoir is a wavelength-dependent radiation called "conical emission" that is explained in the following.

Conical emission

The conical emission surrounds the reservoir and the core, forming a cone of rings with a characteristic angles θ_{con} for every color in the cone spectrum. The relationship

between the angle and the color for the conicial emission is inversely to normal beam diffraction: red light has the smallest angle, whereas blue light the biggest angle. The origin of the conical emission is not completely understood yet and different explanations exist [Cou07]. One explanation is the appearance of a Cherenkov process in the filament [Gol90; Nib96]. In this explanation, the different angles for different colours are explained by $\cos(\theta_{\rm con}) = v_{\rm ph}/v_{\rm g}$ with the different ratios between their phase and group velocity. Other explanations are based on X-waves [Con03; Tra03; Fac06], plasma-induced broadening [Blo73; Kos97], or four-wave mixing [Xin93; Lut94; Thé08]. Fig. 2.3 shows a measurement of the spatial profile of a femtosecond filament in argon atmosphere, presented in [Sch12].



Figure 2.3: Spatial profile of a femtosecond filament in argon atmosphere. (a) spectral distribution as a function of the beam radius. The spectra are normalized for each wavelength and smoothed along the wavelength axis. The radii for the filament core and the surrounding ring structure formed by the conical emission and the reservoir are marked by horizontal white lines. (b) image of the corresponding beam profile of the filament taken after the end of the filament with labels for the different spatial elements. Adapted from [Sch12].

In the following, the effects of self-healing and self-cleaning are briefly described. They are both caused by a dynamic interaction of the filament core and the reservoir.

2.1.2 Self-healing and self-cleaning

Interestingly, a filament can self-reconstruct, if the core is blocked by any obstacle. The phenomenon has been observed first for gas filaments propagating through water droplets in a fog chamber [Cour03], as well as for water filaments blocked by solid beam stopper [Dub04a; Dub04b]. This effect can be explained by the dynamical interaction of the filament core with the reservoir. The reservoir sustains and resupplies the core with energy before and after the obstacle. According to [Dub04a], multiphoton absorption plays a key role in the filament propagation and beam reshaping. Due to the plasma-induced nonlinear losses in the core during propagation, the pulse in the filament receives a conical component, shaping it into a more Bessel-like beam. This Bessel shape connects the beam in the core to the reservoir. From the reservoir, it can self-reconstruct into the core via self-focusing due to the Kerr effect. The universal self-reconstruction property of a filament makes it a very interesting tool for atmospheric applications such as remote sensing applications like LIDAR, where the beam can be disturbed by water droplets, ice crystals, or aeorosols. Due to the self-healing property, the propagation of the beam can be assured over long distances despite a lot of possible disturbances by microparticles in between.

Closely connected to the pulse dynamics leading to the self-healing phenomenon is the effect of self-cleaning, self-spatial mode filtering, or spatial mode cleaning [Liu07; Chi07; Akt07]. It describes the effect of a significant improvement of beam quality for an optical pulse undergoing filamentation and is very interesting for any application requiring a very clean beam profile in combination with a high intensity.

So far, single filaments were described which can exist for a broad range of laser beam parameters. However, i.e. the pulse energy cannot be increased limitlessly to remain in that regime. Above a certain threshold, the filament breaks up into a manifold structure consisting of many single filaments. This phenomenon is called multifilamentation and is described briefly in the following.

2.1.3 Multifilamentation

If the peak power of the filament driving pulse strongly exceeds the critical peak power $P_{\rm crit}$, described in more detail in Sec. 2.2.1, the single filament breaks up into multiple hot spots forming multiple single filaments and one enters the regime of multifilamentation [Ber04; Méc04; Fib04]. Every single filament in the multifilamentation regime has a peak power which is roughly 2.5 times the critical peak power [Bes66; Ber03; Ber04]. The multifilamentation regime is chaotic, i.e. it cannot be predicted where in the spatial profile the filament channels will be formed. Further, the channels are prone to slightest modulations of the spatial distribution of the beam intensity leading to channel break-up which creates a constantly changing pattern of multiple filaments. Multifilamentation can be avoided by reducing the peak power of the driving laser pulse and cleaning its beam profile.

The last filament property that is introduced in this section, is its scaling invariance to the beam input parameters and filamentation parameters. The description of scaling invariance is based on [Zho14; Hey16].

2.1.4 Scale invariance of filaments

Many nonlinear optical effects are scale-invariant, that means by carefully upscaling or downscaling certain parameters or dimensions the scalable nonlinear effect can take place in the same way. This principle even applies to highly complex nonlinear phenomena such as HHG and filamentation in gases. In order to introduce the principle of scale invariance, one needs to introduce a dimensionless scaling parameter η . Filamentation in gases is scale-invariant to the Gaussian beam parameters $z_{\rm R}$ and w_0 with the scaling $z_{\rm R} \to \eta^2 z_{\rm R}$ and $w_0 \to \eta w_0$ and the incident pulse energy E_{pulse} with $E_{\text{pulse}} \rightarrow \eta^2 E_{\text{pulse}}$ whereas it is scale-invariant to the gas pressure p with $p \to p/\eta^2$. This scaling means, e.g. if one tunes the energy of the pulse up by η the filamentation properties will stay the same if also the beam size is scaled by $\sqrt{\eta}$ and the pressure by $1/\eta$. Furthermore, filamentation's scale-invariant nature allows to rescale also the output parameters $P_{\rm crit}$ (the critical peak power) and $z_{\rm crit}$, the critical length after which an initially collimated beam would collapse due to self-focusing, with the scaling $P_{\rm crit} \to \eta^2 P_{\rm crit}$ and $z_{\rm crit} \to \eta^2 z_{\rm crit}$. Furthermore, the output pulse energy $E_{\rm out}$ can be rescaled with $E_{\rm out} \rightarrow \eta^2 E_{\rm out}$. The rescaling relations to these output parameters imply that, e.g. when the input pulse energy is increased by η , while keeping all other parameters constant, the filament will react to this higher input power by scaling up the length of the filament (proportional to $z_{\rm crit}$) and the output power by η . In that way the filament propagation dynamics remain the same for all pulse energies. The very fundamental principle of scale invariance for gas filaments is fascinating, underlining the universality of this complex nonlinear propagation phenomenon. It shows that filamentation can be realized on a small scale with high repetition laser sources with low pulse energies in the μJ as well as on high-power laser systems in the J range.

The introduction into the scale invariance of filaments completes the introduction into femtosecond filamentation, the major keystone of this thesis, being part of all presented experiments. In the following, the basics of nonlinear optics and laserinduced plasma are introduced. The nonlinear optical processes and laser-induced plasma presented in Sec 2.2 and Sec. 2.3 are fundamental for the understanding of laser filamentation and its complex pulse propagation dynamics and effects described in Sec. 2.4.

2.2 Basics of nonlinear optics

In linear optics, the interaction of a (vectorial) light field $E(\omega)$, dependent on the angular frequency ω , with matter can be described via the polarization density $P(\omega)$ of the medium:

$$\boldsymbol{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi^{(1)}(\omega) \boldsymbol{E}(\omega), \qquad (2.1)$$

with ε_0 the dielectric constant and $\chi^{(1)}(\omega)$ the first-order susceptibility. The polarization describes the resulting dipole moment that is created between the positive center of charge and the negative center of charge due to the displacement of the electrons from the equilibrium position by the incident light field. If the incident light field is relatively weak, the displacement of the electrons depends linearly on the field strength with the proportionality factor $\chi^{(1)}$. Throughout the thesis, only linearly polarized light is considered, since that is the polarization of the light sources used for the experiments described in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4. Hence, in the following only the scalar representations of $\mathbf{P}(\omega)$ and $\mathbf{E}(\omega)$, $P(\omega)$ and $E(\omega)$, are being used. The linear susceptibility is connected with the linear refractive index $n_0(\omega)$ via:

$$\chi^{(1)}(\omega) = n_0^2(\omega) - 1 \tag{2.2}$$

which shows that when the susceptibility is frequency-dependent, the material is dispersive. If the strength of the incident light field increases, the displacement of the electrons becomes very large and shows a nonlinear dependence on the field strength so that Eq. 2.1 is not valid anymore. The susceptibility $\chi(\omega)$ needs to be expanded in a pertubative approach by applying higher-order terms via a Taylor series around E = 0 which describe the nonlinear behaviour of the medium with respect to the field strength:

$$P(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \left[\chi^{(1)}(\omega) E(\omega) + \chi^{(2)}(\omega) E^2(\omega) + \chi^{(3)}(\omega) E^3(\omega) + \cdots \right]$$
(2.3)

with the terms $\chi^{(n>1)}(\omega)$ describing the nonlinear dependency of the medium with respect to an intense light field. Hence, Eq. 2.3 can also be expressed as $P(\omega_0) = P_{\rm L}(\omega) + P_{\rm NL}(\omega)$ with $P_{\rm L}(\omega)$ containing the linear polarization and $P_{\rm NL}(\omega)$ containing all nonlinear polarization contributions with $\chi^{(n>1)}(\omega)$. The lowest nonlinear susceptibility, the second order susceptibility $\chi^{(2)}(\omega)$, is related to nonlinear effects such as second harmonic generation (SHG), sum frequency generation (SFG) and difference frequency generation (DFG) or the electro-optic effect [Boy08]. In centrosymmetric media, such as the atomic noble gases, air, nitrogen (N_2) and carbon dioxide, even orders of the nonlinear susceptibilities $\chi^{(n>1)}(\omega)$ vanish and only the uneven orders remain [Boy08]. Hence, the lowest-order nonlinear susceptibility in centrosymmetric media is the third-order $\chi^{(3)}(\omega)$, that is related to many nonlinear effects such as self-phase modulation (SPM), third harmonic generation (THG) and self-focusing. The higher the order of a nonlinear effect, the higher needs to be the intensity of the light field to significantly drive it. Therefore, the third-order effects are the most relevant nonlinear effects in centrosymmetric media. SPM and self-focusing are connected via the so-called "Kerr effect", described in the following, and play a crucial role in femtosecond filamentation.

2.2.1 Kerr effect

Analog to the linear polarization of a medium, the Kerr effect describes the expansion of the refractive index $n_0(\omega)$ with an intensity-dependent nonlinear refractive contribution Δn_{Kerr} for intense incident light fields (omitting the frequency dependency):

$$n(\boldsymbol{r},t) = n_0 + \Delta n_{\text{Kerr}} = n_0 + n_2 I(\boldsymbol{r},t), \qquad (2.4)$$



Figure 2.4: Effects of the Kerr effect, induced by an intense laser pulse. (a) intensity profile of the optical pulse in space and time with a peak power around the critical peak P_{crit} for self-focusing. (b) Kerr-induced temporal refractive index profile in a moving time frame $T_{\text{p}} = t - z/v_{\text{g}}$ with the optical pulse, with the linear refractive index $n_0 \approx 1$ for a gaseous medium (horizontal dashed line). (c) Kerr-induced refractive index profile along the transversal beam axis. (d) Kerr-induced self-phase modulation (SPM) leading to a change of the instantaneous frequency around the central frequency ω_0 of the pulse, adding new frequencies to the optical pulse. Around the peak of the pulse the frequency change is approximately linear (red dashed line). (e) after a propagation distance Δz in the Kerr medium, the Kerr effect leads to an increase of the intensity and to self-steepening of the optical pulse where the trailing part catches up with the leading part creating an asymmetric pulse profile with a steep pulse edge.

with $I(\mathbf{r},t)$ denoting the intensity of the incident light field in space and time and n_2 being the nonlinear refractive index. This nonlinear factor depends on the third order susceptibility as:

$$n_2 = \frac{3\chi^{(3)}}{4n_0^2\varepsilon_0 c}.$$
(2.5)

In gases, the Kerr nonlinearity $\chi^{(3)}(\omega)$ is proportional to the pressure [Chi10] and inversely proportional to the temperature of the medium [Boy08], making the nonlinear refractive index a conveniently tunable variable. Since the intensity of the light field has a spatial and a temporal dependency, a direct consequence is that also the refractive index is dependent on the spatial and temporal properties of the beam. If one assumes a Gaussian distribution in space and time of the incident beam, which are valid approximations for an ultrashort laser pulse, the refractive index follows this distribution as well, which means that the refractive index is the highest in the center of the beam and decreases rapidly towards the edges. This index distribution acts like a focusing lens, since the phase velocity of the wavefronts in the center of the beam is smaller than at the edges. If the peak power of the beam equals or exceeds the critical peak power $P_{\rm crit}$ [Mar75]:

$$P_{\rm crit} = \frac{3.77\pi c^2}{2n_0 n_2 \omega_0^2},\tag{2.6}$$

with ω_0 representing the central angular frequency of the optical field, i.e. the angular carrier frequency, c being the speed of light in vacuum and 3.77 a factor which takes into account the Gaussian distribution of the beam [Cou07], the focusing of the beam due to the Kerr effect overcomes its natural diffraction and the beam self-focuses. Self-focusing decreases the beam diameter, which leads to a higher beam intensity, hence increasing again the refractive index. The increased refractive index causes an additional increase of the self-focusing. Thus, self-focusing is a self-enhancing effect, that theoretically would lead to a beam that focuses into a singularity in space after a length L_c given by this semi-empirical equation [Mar68; Mar75]:

$$L_c = \frac{0.367 z_{\rm R}}{\left(\sqrt{P_{\rm peak}/P_{\rm crit}} - 0.852\right)^2 - 0.0219},\tag{2.7}$$

where $z_{\rm R}$ is the Rayleigh range of the beam and $P_{\rm peak}$ is its peak power. $L_{\rm c}$ is often called "nonlinear focus" and for a convergent beam, $L_{\rm c}$ is situated before the geometrical focus f, leading to the effective focal length $L_{\rm c,f}$ [Cou07]:

$$\frac{1}{L_{\rm c,f}} = \frac{1}{L_{\rm c}} + \frac{1}{f}.$$
(2.8)

In reality, the ongoing self-focusing is stopped by other nonlinear effects such as the generation of plasma which defocuses the beam. The details about plasma generation are given in Sec. 2.3. Fig. 2.4 gives an overview of the Kerr-induced effects on an intense optical pulse, including the effects of self-phase modulation and self-steepening introduced in the following Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 respectively.

Self-phase modulation

The refractive index $n(\mathbf{r},t)$ is a time-dependent quantity due to the temporal variation of the beam intensity $I(\mathbf{r},t)$ and follows its variation quasi-instantaneously [Chi10]. This variation of the refractive index in time leads to a temporal modulation of the pulse phase, imprinting the additional time-dependent phase ϕ_{SPM} on the pulse along its propagation direction z [She71]:

$$\phi_{\rm SPM}(z,t) = \frac{n_2 I(\boldsymbol{r},t)\omega_0}{c} \Delta z, \qquad (2.9)$$

Eq. 2.9 shows that the phase increases with increasing propagation distance z. The temporal phase variation is directly connected to the generation of new frequencies in the pulse due to an alteration of the instantaneous frequency $\omega(t)$ via:

$$\omega(t) = \omega_0 + \Delta\omega(t), \qquad (2.10)$$

with:

$$\Delta\omega(t) = -\frac{\partial\phi_{\rm SPM}}{\partial t} = -\frac{n_2\omega_0 z}{c} \frac{\partial I(\boldsymbol{r},t)}{\partial t}.$$
(2.11)

The generation of new frequencies is proportional to the slope of the intensity $I(\mathbf{r},t)$. The steeper the slope, the broader the generated spectrum. Hence, this effect becomes more and more significant the shorter the pulse duration. Furthermore, due to the negative sign in Eq. 2.11, red frequencies are generated at the rising slope whereas blue frequencies are generated at the falling slope of the intensity. Since the nonlinear phase modulation of the pulse is caused by its own temporal intensity variation this effect is called "self-phase modulation". For a symmetric pulse shape, the broadening is symmetric with respect to the center frequency. SPM is the fundamental mechanism behind several techniques to broaden the spectrum of an ultrashort laser pulse, such as hollow-core fibers [Deb19], multi-plate media [Che16] or laser filamentation [Cou07]. These processes enable the generation of ultrashort laser pulses up to the single cycle regime from typical multi-cycle pulses, around 25 fs to 40 fs, from a laser amplifier in combination with pulse compression [Böh14].
2.2.2 Self-steepening

The initial broadening due to SPM is symmetric for symmetric pulse profiles such as a pulse with Gaussian shape. However, with ongoing propagation of an ultrashort laser pulse in a Kerr medium, the peak of the pulse is slowed down more and more with respect to its trailing edge, since it experiences a higher nonlinear refractive index. Therefore, the trailing edge catches up with the pulse peak leading to an asymmetric pulse shape with a very steep trailing edge compared to the leading edge. This asymmetry in the pulse shape converts into an asymmetric broadening. The generation of blue frequencies in the trailing edge of the pulse is enhanced as the slope is steepened and the generation of red frequencies in the leading edge is weakened since the slope becomes less steep. Consequently, the pulse spectrum shows a strong blue shift with ongoing propagation. Along with the broadening due to SPM, the blue-shift due to self-steepening leads to the typical filament spectra with a low-intense blue tail extending up to the ultraviolet, observed by several experiments [Akö01; Akö06; Cou07; Chi10; Ste12], including the one in Chapter 4.

Nonlinear effects such as the Kerr effect or self-steepening strongly influence the interaction of short laser pulses with the medium and are fundamental for the understanding of filamentation. Above the critical peak power, Kerr-induced self-focusing eventually leads to ionization of the medium generating laser-induced plasma, which is described in the following section.

2.3 Femtosecond laser-induced plasma

The term "plasma" describes a very broad range of mixtures between ionized and neutral particles with orders of magnitude different pressure ranges in very different environments such as stars [Ada63], interstellar dust [Dra79], atmospheric lightning [Sil19], gas discharge lamps [Lis04], or laser-induced plasma [Cap04; Ion15; Gia17] to name a few. It is not possible to describe all forms of plasma here. Therefore, in this thesis, the term plasma is only used in the sense of femtosecond laser-induced plasma from gases, if not stated otherwise. The mechanisms of ionization and recombination of this plasma, play a key role in the understanding of the experiments presented in this thesis. It will be shown in this section, that the process of femtosecond filamentation is highly influenced by the free electron density $\rho_{\rm e}$ in the medium, whereas the plasma lifetime is mainly determined by the recombination of the plasma. Throughout this thesis, plasma lifetime is defined as the time it takes for the plasma to decay from its maximum density to 1/e. In the following, a comprehensive introduction into the main aspects of the ionization, recombination and properties of laser-induced plasma is given.

2.3.1 Plasma parameters

The properties of femtosecond laser-induced plasma are mainly determined by two main parameters: the free electron density $N_{\rm e}$ and the distribution of the free electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$. Both are described in the following.

Free electron density

The free electron density $N_{\rm e}(\mathbf{r},t)$ describes the amount of free electrons per unit volume, usually expressed in [cm⁻³]. Since free electrons are unbound by definition, they follow the electric field of a laser pulse instantaneously [Kan03; Wah12]. The plasma frequency $\omega_{\rm p}$ represents the maximal frequency of an optical field, the free electrons can possibly follow, it is defined by [Boy09]:

$$\omega_{\rm p} = \sqrt{\frac{e_{\rm c}^2 N_{\rm e}}{m_{\rm e} \varepsilon_0}},\tag{2.12}$$

with $e_{\rm c}$ the elementary charge and $m_{\rm e}$ the electron mass. Plasma is transmittive for electromagnetic waves when their angular frequency is greater than the plasma frequency or, in an alternative description, if the free electron density is smaller than the critical free electron density $N_{\rm crit}$ given by [Cou07]:

$$N_{\rm crit} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 m_{\rm e} \omega_0^2}{e_{\rm c}^2}.$$
(2.13)

Since ε_0 , m_e and e_c are natural constants, one can also rewrite Eq. 2.13 as:

$$N_{\rm crit} = 1.1 \times 10^{21} \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{1\,\mu\rm{m}}\right)^{-2} [\rm{cm}^{-3}], \qquad (2.14)$$

with $\lambda_0 = \frac{2\pi c}{\omega_0}$ being the central wavelength of an optical pulse (in µm). Above the critical free electron density, the plasma becomes opaque for electromagnetic waves with the frequency $\omega_0 < \omega_p$ and these waves are reflected from the plasma.

Since free electrons are always generated from initially neutral particles, the free electron density that is induced by an optical field is linked to the neutral particle density or simply "number density" $N_{\rm nt}$ for which holds that $N_{\rm nt} = \frac{N_{\rm A}}{M} \rho_{\rm m}$ with $N_{\rm A}$ being the Avogadro constant, M the molar mass, and $\rho_{\rm m}$ the mass density. In gases, at a pressure of 1 bar, the number density is about three orders of magnitude smaller than the number density in solids [Chi10]. The generated free electrons alter the refractive index of a medium. The refractive index of plasma, assuming $\omega_{\rm p} \ll \omega_0$, is [Pfe06]:

$$n_{\rm p}(\boldsymbol{r},t) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{\omega_0^2}} \approx 1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{2\omega_0^2} = 1 - \frac{e_{\rm c}^2 N_{\rm e}(\boldsymbol{r},t)}{2m_{\rm e}\varepsilon_0\omega_0^2} = 1 - \frac{N_{\rm e}(\boldsymbol{r},t)}{2N_{\rm crit}}.$$
 (2.15)

Hence, the refractive index of plasma is smaller than 1 and for the change of the refractive index of the medium due to plasma it holds that [LHu91; Bra95; Pfe06]:

$$\Delta n_{\rm p} = -\frac{N_{\rm e}(\boldsymbol{r},t)}{2N_{\rm crit}},\tag{2.16}$$

which has the effect that the plasma acts like a defocusing lens to an incident light field because the free electron density distribution in space follows the spatial intensity distribution of the light field. Therefore, the plasma refractive index contribution acts inversely to the nonlinear refractive index contribution due to the Kerr effect, thus prohibiting the beam collapse due to ongoing self-focusing. As it will be shown in Sec. 2.1, the balance of self-focusing due to the Kerr effect and defocusing due to plasma generation is the basis of filamentation dynamics. The free electron density, and hence also $n_{\rm p}$, only build up during the interaction of an optical pulse with a medium. Plasma recombination, decreasing the free electron density, takes place over much longer periods of time than the fs-regime as it is shown in Chapter 3. Similar to SPM, in which the build up of the pulse intensity generates new frequencies around the central frequency of the pulse, the temporal build up of the plasma also leads to the generation of new frequencies, due to the additional nonlinear phase shift $\Delta \phi_{\rm p}$ [Kan03]:

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm p}(t,z) = -\frac{e_{\rm c}^2 N_{\rm e}(t)}{2m_{\rm e}\varepsilon_0\omega_0 c} \Delta z = \frac{N_{\rm e}(t)\omega_0}{2N_{\rm crit}c} \Delta z.$$
(2.17)

Deriving this phase shift with respect to time gives the plasma-induced frequency shift $\Delta \omega_{\rm p}$ [Kan03]:

$$\Delta\omega_{\rm p} = \frac{\partial\Delta\phi_{\rm p}(t,z)}{\partial t} = \frac{\omega_0\Delta z}{2N_{\rm crit}c}\frac{\partial N_{\rm e}(t)}{\partial t}$$
(2.18)

A significant difference to SPM is given by the fact that plasma-induced broadening is asymmetric, since the plasma density monotonously increases during the interaction of the pulse with the medium. As the broadening is proportional to the positive slope of temporal change of the free electron density, it blue-shifts the spectrum, adding up to the blue-shift due to self-steeping.

Free electron temperature distribution

The free electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$ is an important parameter to describe the collision dynamics in a laser-induced plasma. As such, it mainly describes the recombination, since the ionization happens on the fs-timescale during the pulse-matter interaction [Chi10] whereas plasma dynamics happen on longer timescales [Boy09] from picoseconds [Jar14; Rev18] to nanoseconds [Cou07; Chi10; Ale16]. It is very important to distinguish between the free electron temperature distribution and other temperature distributions, such as the ion temperature distribution. As electrons are much lighter than their parent ions, in good approximation, their response to an external electric field is instantaneous, as explained in Sec 2.3.1. Furthermore, elastic electron-electron collisions, in which free electrons can exchange energy, are very efficient in the typical conditions of a laser-induced plasma [Gia17]. In consequence, the free electron energy distribution has a strong propensity for reaching thermal equilibrium, i.e. a Maxwellian temperature distribution, rapidly [Cap00]. During the ionization, the electrons are heated up much more than the ions since they reach a far greater kinetic energy $E_{\rm kin}$. In a typical filament plasma the electrons have a temperature $T_{\rm e}$ of a few eV for a driving laser with a central wavelength of $\lambda_c = 800 \,\mathrm{nm}$ [Kar15], whereas the ions are at room temperature [Ale16]. The average electron energy $E_{\rm av}$, the average over the energy distribution of all free electrons, is connected to the free

electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$ via [Gia17]:

$$E_{\rm av} = \frac{3}{2} k_{\rm B} T_{\rm e} \tag{2.19}$$

with $k_{\rm B}$ the Boltzmann constant set to 1 and the free electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$ in eV. The total energy of the free electrons $E_{\rm tot}$ is defined as [Gia17]:

$$E_{\rm tot} = N_{\rm e} E_{\rm av} \tag{2.20}$$

The total energy of the free electrons is an important parameter to describe the recombination of laser-induced plasma and needs to be distinguished from the average electron energy.

The concept of free electron temperature is interconnected with the concept of free electron temperature distribution, due to the multi-particle nature of plasma. This temperature distribution strongly influences the plasma dynamics [Cap00] and recombination [Gia17]. Since the free electron temperature is directly linked to the kinetic energy via Eq. 2.19, plasma dynamics are typically described by means of the (free) electron energy distribution function (EEDF). For a laser-induced plasma, one usually assumes an EEDF with Maxwellian form shortly after the ionization event [Fli10]:

$$W(v) = 4\pi \left(\frac{m_{\rm e}}{2\pi k_{\rm B} T_{\rm e}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} v^2 \exp\left(-\frac{m_{\rm e} v^2}{2k_{\rm B} T_{\rm e}}\right)$$
(2.21)

with W(v) being the probability to find a free electron with the velocity v. For this distribution holds by definition that $\int_0^\infty W(v) dv = 1$. As mentioned earlier, in elastic electron-electron collisions the free electrons can exchange energy and in that way redistribute the EEDF [Gia17]. These collisions are very efficient for a laser-induced plasma [Gia17]. For an ionization degree greater than 10^{-4} , a condition that is fulfilled in a filament plasma (ionization degree of about 10^{-3} [Sch99; Tzo99]), the electron collisions are the dominant process in the plasma [Cri13]. By the electron-electron collisions, the EEDF always rearranges quickly into an Maxwellian shape after any event that affects the distribution.

2.3.2 Ionization

Ionization of a medium by ultrashort laser pulses can take place via the two main processes: multiphoton ionization and tunnel ionization. The dominant process is mainly determined by the intensity of the pulse compared to the atomic field strength of the medium $E_{\rm at} = e_{\rm c}/(4\pi\varepsilon_0 a_0^2) \approx 5 \times 10^9 \,\mathrm{V/cm}$ [Boy08], with the Bohr radius $a_0 = \varepsilon_0 h/(\pi m_{\rm e} e_{\rm c}^2) \approx 50 \,\mathrm{pm}$ and h being the Planck constant. This atomic field strength is directly connected to the required intensity $I_{\rm at}$ for an optical pulse to reach it [Boy08]:

$$I_{\rm at} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_0 c |E_{\rm at}|^2 \approx 10^{16} \,\mathrm{W/cm^2}.$$
 (2.22)

If the intensity is in the range of $I_{\rm at}$, the perturbative approach for the material response to the optical field, shown in Eq. 2.3, cannot be applied anymore and the response needs to treated fully quantum-mechanically [Kur13]. If the intensity of the pulse is in the range of 10^{13} W/cm²- 10^{14} W/cm², the laser-induced ionization is dominated by MPI for a driving laser with a central wavelength of $\lambda_c = 800$ nm [Mul10]. Above $\approx 10^{14}$ W/cm², TI becomes the dominant ionization process [Amm86] and the ionization takes place in the "strong-field regime". An approach to determine the dominant ionization process is the dimensionless Keldysh parameter γ [Kel65]:

$$\gamma = \sqrt{\frac{I_{\rm p}}{2U_{\rm p}}},\tag{2.23}$$

with $I_{\rm p}$ being the ionization potential of the medium and $U_{\rm p}$ the so-called "ponderomotive potential" or "ponderomotive energy" defined by:

$$U_{\rm p} = \frac{e_{\rm c}^2 E^2(\mathbf{r}, t)}{4m_{\rm e}\omega^2} = \frac{e_{\rm c}^2}{4m_{\rm e}\omega_0 \left(\pi c\right)^3} I\lambda^2.$$
(2.24)

The ponderomotive potential is the mean kinetic energy of the free electrons oscillating in the electrical field of the pulse [Cou07]. Eq. 2.24 shows that the mean kinetic energy is proportional to the intensity of the light field and to the square of the laser wavelength. Hence, using a driving laser with a longer central wavelength, such as when going from the near-infrared radiation (NIR) range at $0.75 \,\mu\text{m} - 1.4 \,\mu\text{m}$ to the mid-infrared radiation (MIR) at $3\,\mu\text{m} - 8\,\mu\text{m}$, significantly increases the ponderomotive potential by more than one order of magnitude. In the case of a weak driving field, the ponderomotive potential is much smaller than the ionization potential, so that $\gamma \gg 1$. This case describes the range where MPI is the dominant ionization process. In MPI, multiple photons of the energy $h\nu < I_{\rm p}$, with $\nu = \omega/(2\pi)$ being the frequency of the driving field, are absorbed by the medium at the same time, if the sum of their energies exceeds the ionization potential. If more photons are absorbed at the same time than are needed to overcome the ionization potential, the process is called above-threshold ionization (ATI). The MPI rate scales with [Cou07]:

$$W_{\rm MPI} = \sigma_{\rm K} I^{\rm K}, \tag{2.25}$$

with K being the number of photons needed to ionize the medium and $\sigma_{\rm K}$ denoting the cross section for absorbing K photons. For $\gamma \ll 1$, the strong-field regime applies and tunnel ionization is the dominant ionization process. In a semi-classical picture, the driving field is assumed to bend the atomic potential during ionization. The potential barrier of a bound electron is therefore reduced, leading to a high probability for the electron to be released into the continuum via the tunnel effect. The tunnel ionization rate $W_{\rm tunnel}$ can be calculated via the Ammosov-Delone-Krainov (ADK) model [Amm86; Cor93] which is an approximation of the Peremolov-Popov-Terent'ev (PPT) model [Per66]. The probability for ionization scales nonlinearly with the instantaneous field strength of the driving field with the maximum probability for ionization being at the maximum of the electric field [Ste11a]. The free electron density $N_{\rm e}$ is connected to the ionization rates $W_{\rm MPI}$ and $W_{\rm tunnel}$ via rate equations, with the assumption that its temporal derivative $\partial N_{\rm e}/\partial t$ can be expressed as $\partial N_{\rm e}/\partial t = W(I)(N_{\rm nt} - N_{\rm e})$ with $N_{\rm nt}$ being the number density of the neutral particles [Kre16]. For the free electron density then follows:

$$N_{\rm e}(t) = N_{\rm nt}(0) - N_{\rm nt}(t) = N_{\rm nt}(0) \left(1 - \exp\left(-\int_{-\infty}^{t} W(t')dt'\right)\right).$$
(2.26)

Ionization rate models that are able to describe the ionization dynamics for $\gamma \ll 1$ up to $\gamma \gg 1$ are the Keldysh theory itself, the PPT model and the Yudin and Ivanov (YI) model [Kre16].

The ionization describes the generation of plasma and, in that way, the build-up of a certain free electron density. For any statement about plasma dynamics after ionization it is important to know, how the free electron density decreases over time. The decrease of the free electron density over time is driven by the process of recombination which is introduced in the following section.

2.3.3 Recombination

The recombination of the free electrons with the ionic cores happens after the interaction of an ultrashort optical pulse with the medium. Hence, the description of the process does not involve any external field and the dynamics originate from the plasma itself. In the case of laser-induced plasma, there are three main mechanisms: radiative, three-body-electron-ion and dissociative recombination. However, the dissociative recombination channel only exists for molecular gases and is considered to be too slow to explain the recombination of femtosecond laser-induced plasma [Jar14]. In the radiative (electron-ion) recombination it holds that $e^- + A^+ \rightarrow A + h\nu$ [Fri11], where e^- is a free electron, A^+ is the ionic core and A the recombined neutral atom or molecule. Therefore, in the radiative recombination an ionic core recombines with a free electron, releasing the kinetic energy plus the binding energy of the electron as a photon. However, its cross section is rather small [Fri11] so that this recombination channel can be neglected for fs laser-induced plasma. Directly after the laser-induced ionization, the plasma is dominated by three-body electron-ion recombination [Gia10; Gia17]. Furthermore, this recombination channel is considered to be the dominant one for a plasma temperature of $T_{\rm e} > 1 \, {\rm eV}$ [Fri11], a condition that is fulfilled in laser-induced plasmas with electron temperatures of typically a few eV [Cap00; Kar15]. Three-body electron-ion recombination describes the process $e^- + e^- + A^+ \rightarrow A^* + e^-$, where A^* is an excited atom or molecule after the recombination. It is a step-wise process, in which, initially, an ion captures a free electron in a three-body interaction involving another free electron. Then, the excited atom or molecule releases its excitation energy by further free electron impacts. The last step of de-excitation usually involves a radiative decay [Fri11]. This recombination channel is also possible with the slight variation of another ion, atom or molecule substituting the non-colliding second electron in the process. However, this

variation has a very small cross-section and can therefore be neglected [Fri11]. Along with the direct recombining processes, there are also non-recombining processes that contribute to the overall plasma dynamics by energy transfer between the interaction partners. The two most important processes are elastic electron-electron collisions and inelastic electron-ion or electron-atom collisions. In the first process, free electrons can transfer kinetic energy to another free electron with the sum of the energy of both electrons remaining the same, i.e. $e^- + e^- \rightarrow e^- + e^-$. In the inelastic collisions a free electron interacts with a heavy particle A, i.e. $A + e^- \leftrightarrow A^* + e^-$. The two-sided arrow indicates that the process can happen in both directions: from left to right, the heavy particle A gains energy by the collision with the free electron, while from right to left the electron gains energy by the impact with an excited heavy particle A^* . The elastic electron-electron collision process is crucial for the overall recombination dynamics because it has a very high cross section in laserinduced plasma [Gia17]. Furthermore, its cross section is temperature-dependent and increases for a decreasing electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$ [Fri11]. For femtosecond laser-induced plasma, with the assumption that three-body electron-ion collisions dominate, the rate equation for the free electron density $N_{\rm e}$ is given by [Cap00]:

$$\frac{\partial N_{\rm e}}{\partial t} = -c_{\rm 3body} N_{\rm e}^3. \tag{2.27}$$

The rate factor c_{3body} is defined as [Fri11]:

$$c_{3\text{body}} = 10^{-14} \frac{\sigma_0}{I_p} \left(\frac{I_p}{T_e}\right)^{4.5}$$
 (2.28)

with σ_0 being the geometrical atomic cross section and free electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$ in eV and $c_{3\rm body}$ having the unit [cm⁶/s]. Eq. 2.27 and Eq. 2.28 show, that the recombination heavily depends on the free electron density with a cubic dependency and on the inverse of the free electron temperature with a factor of 4.5. Hence, the recombination is faster, the higher the free electron density and the lower the free electron temperature. With the assumption of an initial Maxwellian shape for the EEDF, the recombination leads to a reduction of free electrons with a low kinetic energy because their recombination cross section is significantly higher than

the recombination cross section of free electrons from the high energy side of the distribution [Gia17]. In principal, this reduction would lead to a non-Maxwellian EEDF and a higher average free electron energy $E_{\rm av}$. Thus, free electron energy would increase, since $E_{\rm av} \propto T_{\rm e}$. However, due to the high efficiency of electronelectron collisions in laser-induced plasma, the deviation from the Maxwellian EEDF is quickly undone as the decrease in the total free electron $E_{\rm tot}$ takes place faster than the increase of the average free electron energy. The absolute cross section for any recombination process involving ions, atoms or molecules is material-dependent, which can lead to drastically different recombination times of the ionized media as it is shown in the experimental analysis of determination of temporal plasma evolution via TH enhancement presented in Sec. 3.3.

The section about laser-induced plasma is concluded with a brief overview on methods to determine the free electron density.

2.3.4 Experimental methods for the determination of the free electron density

Since the recombination dynamics of laser-induced plasma take place on a much longer time scale than the optical pulse, the plasma column maintains well after the passage of the pulse. Applications of laser-induced plasma such as plasma gratings or plasma-based lenses require precise knowledge of the spatial and temporal properties of the free electron density. Therefore, it is crucial to investigate the lifetime of laserinduced plasma and the origin of its decay. In this thesis, a novel method to determine the lifetime of fs laser-induced plasma, directly from third harmonic enhancement in a filament, is introduced. While this method cannot determine the absolute free electron density, several methods for the quantitative determination of the free electron density are also able to determine its temporal evolution. Nevertheless, the third harmonic enhancement method has the strong advantage that temporal plasma evolution is directly imprinted in the temporal trend of the enhancement, whereas the other methods can only reconstruct the plasma density and its temporal trend indirectly with certain assumptions. The existing methods comprise interferometric measurements of plasma-induced phase shifts [Rey18], the analysis of Thomson scattering emission [Dzi10] or the measurement of plasma-induced beam diffraction [Dur12; Jar14] and are briefly described in the following.

Interferometric measurements of plasma-induced phase shifts

In the interferometric method, a pump-probe scheme is used to determine the free electron density [Rey18]. A strong pump ignites the plasma channel and a weak probe is sent through that plasma channel with tunable temporal overlap. After the probe passed the plasma channel, it enters a wavefront interferometer. The plasma causes a phase-shift of the probe that can be determined by the interferogram measured with the interferogram relay imaged on a charge-coupled device (CCD). By scanning the delay of the probe versus the pump, the phase shift can be determined temporally and spatially resolved along the radial profile of the beam. From an Abel transformation [Ma08], applied to the spatio-temporally resolved phase shift data, while correcting for the angle between the pump and the probe beam [Kre93], the change in refractive index caused by the plasma can be determined. This change is directly connected to the absolute free electron density, i.e. the temporal and spatial distribution of the free electron density inside the pump can be determined quantitatively from the measured phase information. In this method, one measures the density from the creation for a maximal time window of a few ns [Rey18].

Thomson scattering

The detection of Thomson scattering (TS) emission by laser-induced plasma can be used to investigate the temporal evolution of the free electron density for larger delays of several hundred of ns up to μ s. In this method, one typically uses two laser pulses with a pulse duration of a few ns with an adjustable temporal delay to each other. Whereas the first beam generates the plasma, the weaker second beam, below the breakdown threshold of the investigated material, is used to create the TS emission. The TS signal is recorded by a spectrometer for variable delays between the two and fitted with the spectral density function $S(\mathbf{k},\Delta\omega)$ with $\Delta\omega = \omega - \omega_{\rm L}$, $\omega_{\rm L}$ being the angular laser frequency and \mathbf{k} the wave vector [Dzi06]. From the fit, the free electron density can be determined quantitatively. In that way, by scanning the delay between the two pulses and recording the TS signal for every delay, one can determine the temporal trend of the absolute free electron density of the plasma generated by the first beam. However, according to Dzierżęga *et al.* [Dzi10], the method is limited delays > 150 ns, because otherwise the TS signal becomes very broad in the spectral dimension and cannot be distinguished from the background continuous plasma fluorescence signal anymore.

Measurement of plasma-induced beam diffraction

Motivated by studies on the formation of "plasma gratings," Durand *et al.* [Dur12] and Jarnac *et al.* [Jar14] determined the temporal density evolution of laser-induced plasma in several atomic and molecular gases formed by two spatially and temporally overlapping femtosecond filaments. In their approach, the free electron density is determined by measuring the plasma-induced diffraction of a weak probe beam propagating through the intersection point of two filaments in an orthogonal orientation. From the diffraction signal, one derives a fringe pattern, which originates from the laser-induced plasma that changes the spatial distribution of the refractive index in the intersection point. The plasma-induced phase change of the probe pulse is retrieved from a fit of the experimentally determined diffraction pattern. As already mentioned in Sec. 2.3.4, this phase is connected to the free electron density which, in that way, can be estimated from the measured probe diffraction pattern.

The description of laser-induced this section completes the introduction all fundamentals required to understand filamentation models and pulse propagation effects that are described in the following.

2.4 Filamentation models and pulse propagation effects

In this section, a basic insight into common filamentation models that encompass descriptions of central pulse effects and dynamics is given. Furthermore, the Nonlinear Envelope Equation is introduced with which a large variety of nonlinear propagation dynamics of a femtosecond filament can be calculated. Subsequently, characteristic nonlinear filament pulse propagation effects are described.

2.4.1 Moving focus model

In the moving focus model [Lug68; She84; Bro97], a filament describes a series of nonlinear foci, related to different weakly coupled time slices of the temporal pulse with a peak power higher than the critical peak power $P_{\rm crit}$, that travel through the medium along with the temporal pulse, with the pulse peak having the shortest

nonlinear focal distance. In this model, the filament does not extend further than the geometrical focus. This model property is in contradiction with many observations from experiments with fs laser pulses [Cou07]. Furthermore, the moving focus model completely neglects the influence of plasma to the filament propagation and needs to be severely modified, if the influence of plasma shall be included into the analysis [Cou03].

2.4.2 Self-guiding model

The self-guiding model [Bra95] is an extension of the "self-trapping"-model [Chi64], in which the filament is described as an equilibrium between self-focusing and defocusing due to natural beam diffraction. However, an equilibrium of self-focusing and beam diffraction is considered unstable [Cou07] and will either loose the balance towards diffraction of the whole beam or catastrophic self-focusing [She84]. The self-guiding model extends the self-trapping model by introducing plasma defocusing, due to an envelope-intensity-dependent spatial distribution of the free electron density, in addition to defocusing by beam diffraction. The term "self-guiding" is derived from the idea that a filament beam creates its own guiding channel, balancing self-focusing, plasma defocusing and beam diffraction. Therefore, the beam remains focused for a long propagation distance without the need of an external guiding mechanism. The equilibrium condition can be expressed as [Cou07]:

$$n_2 I = \frac{N_{\rm e}(I)}{2N_{\rm crit}} + \frac{(1.22\lambda_0)^2}{8\pi n_0 w_0^2},\tag{2.29}$$

where the term on the left side of the equation describes the nonlinear focusing, the first term on the right side of the equation the plasma defocusing, the last term the defocusing by beam diffraction, with w_0 being the minimal beam radius at the focus. In this model, the filament is built by many focusing-defocusing cycles that form a dynamic balance and, overall, create a long self-guided light channel in the propagation medium. Due to the balance between the two intensity- and spatially-dependent effects, self-focusing due to the Kerr effect and the defocusing due to plasma generation, the beam reaches a so-called "clamping intensity". If one models the free electron density with MPI to $N_{\rm e}(I) = \sigma_{\rm K} I^{\rm K} (N_{\rm nt} - N_{\rm e}(I)) \tau_{\rm p}$, with $\tau_{\rm p}$ being the pulse duration, the clamping intensity can be defined as [Cou07]:

$$I_{\rm clamp} \approx \left(\frac{0.76n_2 N_{\rm crit}}{\sigma_{\rm K} N_{\rm nt} \tau_{\rm p}}\right)^{\frac{1}{K-1}}.$$
(2.30)

Eq. 2.30 gives a clamping intensity of ca. 39 TW/cm^2 for argon at atmospheric pressure with a pulse of $\tau_p = 30$ fs duration at a central wavelength of 800 nm [Kre16]. The clamping intensity from this model needs to be regarded as an estimate, since it neglects any nonlinear effects on the temporal shape of the pulse or spatial dynamics of the intensity. In this model, the filament is terminated when, due to energy loss by multiphoton absorption and MPI, there is not enough energy anymore to reach a balance between focusing and defocusing effects. However, it can extend further than the predicted termination point, with an energy imbalance of some degree: the core of the filament, where all nonlinear interaction takes place, is surrounded by the so-called "reservoir", an energy hull, that supplies the filament core with energy [Nib96], containing up to 50 % of the total energy [Liu05a].

2.4.3 Dynamic spatial replenishment model

The dynamic spatial replenishment model [Mle98] is an extension of the self-guiding and the moving focus models [Mle99] for high pulse intensities. It additionally takes into account spatio-temporal pulse dynamics during filament propagation. In this model, the ionization takes place on the leading part of the pulse after self-focusing. The generated plasma remains as a thin, ionized channel by which the trailing part of the pulse is defocused while the leading part is decreased due to multiphoton absorption. As a consequence, the beam can self-focus again, leading other focusingdefocusing cycles, as described in the self-guiding model, until the power of the pulse is not sufficient anymore for another cycle and the filamentation process stops.

2.4.4 Summary of the filamentation models

Overall it can be summarized, that the filamentation dynamics can become very complex due to the involved nonlinear effects. Therefore it is difficult to choose a single model that covers all existing phenomena. Moreover, the experimental access for the validation of the theoretical models remains a challenging task due to the high intensities of around 10^{13} - 10^{14} W/cm² reached in a filament - an intensity regime, in connection with the respective fluence, which is at or above the damage threshold of solid state optics [Gam02]. Hence, the presented models only cover aspects of the filamentation process. In fact, its dynamics are still an active research topic, experimentally as well as theoretically. As the filamentation process consists of spatial and temporal dynamics as well as couplings between the two, comprehensive models need to describe spatio-temporal dynamics. In the following, the Nonlinear Envelope Equation (NEE) [Bra97] is described briefly which is used for modeling the dynamic spatial replenishment model. With the NEE, a large variety of the spatial and temporal dynamics as well as spatio-temporal couplings of the filament pulse propagation of few-cycle laser pulses can be calculated numerically.

2.4.5 Nonlinear Envelope Equation

The NEE is a generalization of the Nonlinear Schrödinger Equation (NLSE), for short laser pulses in the fs-regime with a broad spectrum, without the NLSE's slowly varying envelope approximation (SVEA). The model for NEE presented here is based on a model having been developed by Skupin *et al.* and Brée *et al.* [Sku06; Bré09; Bré10]. The NEE is derived from the Maxwell equations. A complete derivation can be found in [Bré12]. This brief description is based on that work. The final NEE equation is given by:

$$\underbrace{\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} = \underbrace{\frac{i}{2k_0}T^{-1}\vec{\nabla}_{\perp}^{2}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}_{(a)} + \underbrace{iD\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}_{(b)} + \underbrace{i\frac{\omega_0}{c}n_2T\,|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}|^{2}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}_{(c)}}_{(c)}}_{(c)}}_{(c)}$$

$$\underbrace{-i\frac{k_0}{2N_{\text{crit}}}T^{-1}N_{\text{e}}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} - \frac{\sigma_{\text{col}}}{2}N_{\text{e}}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} - \frac{I_{\text{p}}W(I)\,(N_{\text{nt}}-N_{\text{e}})}{2I}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}}_{(d)}}_{(d)},$$
(2.31)

with \mathcal{E} the (vectorial) electric field of the pulse, the operator $T = 1 + (i\omega_0) \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ and the operator D with its Fourier transform given by $\tilde{D}(\omega) = k(\omega) - k_0 - (\omega - \omega_0) \frac{\partial k}{\partial \omega}\Big|_{\omega = \omega_0}$ and $\sigma_{\rm col}$ being the cross section for collisional ionization. The NEE, shown in Eq. 2.31, consists of many terms that can be subdivided into four main groups (a),(b),(c),(d) and are explained in the following. Group (a) is related to the diffraction of the

beam. Group (b) is related to the dispersion, with the operator D represented in the Fourier domain as \tilde{D} . Part (c) is related to the nonlinear polarization $\boldsymbol{P}_{\rm NL}$ and, hence, the influence of the Kerr effect. With the operator T, space-time focusing as well as self-steepening are taken into account, enabling the validity of the model in the few-cycle regime. The inverse operator T^{-1} , in group (a) and (d), is treated in the Fourier domain. The last group (d) is connected to the current density \boldsymbol{J} and hence to the influence of plasma by the free electron density $N_{\rm e}$. The first term in group (d) is related to the defocusing effect due to $N_{\rm e}$. The second term describes the generation of free electrons due to collisional ionization and the third term due to field ionization processes. The free electron density $N_{\rm e}$, in this numerical model, is calculated via the following rate equation:

$$\frac{\partial N_{\rm e}}{\partial t} = W(I) \left(N_{\rm nt} - N_{\rm e} \right) + \frac{\sigma_{\rm col}}{I_{\rm p}} I N_{\rm e}$$
(2.32)

In the NEE model the ionization rate W(I) is modelled via the PPT theory. Simulations with the NEE accurately show nonlinear filamentation propagation phenomena such as self-compression and pulse splitting. These phenomena are presented in the following.

2.4.6 Self-compression

It has been already shown theoretically [Hau04; Cou05; Cou06], as well as experimentally [Hau04; Cou06; Kre14], that an incident pulse can self-compress in a filament. Couairon *et al.* [Cou05; Cou06] predicted and Kretschmar *et al.* [Kre14] proofed experimentally, that nearly single-cycle pulses with less than 5 fs can be generated directly from a filament [Cou07]. Self-compression can be understood by taking into consideration the intra-pulse dynamics during filament propagation. As the front of the pulse is self-focused, it generates plasma when the intensity is high enough. The plasma defocuses the trailing part of the pulse. However, the front can continue to self-focus, leading to the effect of self-steepening, inducing a strong spectral broadening. During subsequent propagation, the trailing part of the pulse can self-focus again, leading to a formation of two peaks, i.e. a pulse splitting event. With ongoing propagation the front part of the two-peak structure decreases, while a short pulse in the back of the structure remains [Chi10]. The self-compression effect requires a careful balance between the Kerr effect, the ionization and the gas pressure in order to take place at certain positions along the length of the filament [Cou07]. With a good balance, and terminating the filament at the right position, compression factors of up to a factor of 10 have been shown experimentally [Kre14]. Furthermore, at some positions in the filament, the pulse has a broad spectrum but not a flat spectral phase so that the pulse is not in its Fourier limit. By then applying pulse compression techniques, like double-chirped mirrors (DCMs), the chirp can be compensated and pulse durations close to the single-cycle regime can be achieved [Hau04; Cou06]. Therefore, filamentation serves as an alternative to other pulse compression techniques, requiring not more than a gas cell for the filamentation medium and a lens to focus an intense beam into the cell for generating the filament inside. Self-compressed filament pulses are ideally suited to be used for extreme ultra violet (XUV) experiments as a driving laser source, first demonstrated in [Lan98] for high-order harmonic generation (HHG). In [Zaï07], the self-compression technique was applied to a two-stage filamentation setup with DCM chirp compensation generating sub-10 fs after the first stage and sub-5 fs after the second stage, enabling HHG after both stages. Simulations predict that self-compressed filament pulses can even be used for the generation of isolated attosecond pulses (IAPs) [Cha06; Cou08] and experiments showed already that the filament pulses can be used to generate continuous XUV spectra [Lee09; Ste09b; Ste11b]. Furthermore, it has already been shown that HHG can be generated directly from certain positions inside a filament [Voc12; Ste11a; Ste11b; Kre16]. In the following, pulse splitting is described in more detail.

2.4.7 Pulse splitting and intensity spikes

The formation of pulse splitting is closely connected to self-compression in filamentation, discussed in the previous Section 2.4.6. As already mentioned, the balance between Kerr-induced self-focusing and plasma-induced defocusing, along with beam diffraction, is dynamic. Hence, the clamping intensity can be exceeded during the filament propagation, leading to very high intensity spikes, as theoretically predicted by [Gaa09; Kre16] and experimentally found by [Ste11b], investigating HHG spectra directly from the filament. In the case of [Kre16], the intensity spikes are predicted to be created with very short driving pulses of 5 fs in the filament but the reason



Figure 2.5: Intensity spiking and pulse splitting in femtosecond filaments. (a) simulated intensity evolution of a measured femtosecond filament in argon atmosphere [Ste11b]. A, B and C indicate positions at which high harmonics where measured. A distinct intensity spike occurs at position B. Adapted from [Ste11b] under the CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 license. (b) reconstructed individual sub-pulses (red dots) generated by a pulse splitting event in a femtosecond filament in argon atmosphere originating from a single driving pulse [Ste12]. The sub-pulses show an individual dependency on the pulse chirp as displayed by their calculated pulse durations for certain dispersion settings (black lines), a clear indication of a nonlinear pulse splitting event. Adapted with permission from [Ste12] © The Optical Society.

for the formation of the spikes is not entirely clear. In case of [Gaa09; Ste11b], the intensity spikes are created by an interplay of intra-pulse dynamics. The plasma generation on the leading part of the pulse defocuses its trailing part, which is spatially separated from the main pulse, i.e. a pulse splitting event occurs. The trailing part can self-focus again onto the optical axis during further propagation [Stel1a]. In this refocusing event, the trailing part of the pulse merges again with the leading part which remained on-axis. This merge creates a very strong local change of the filament intensity that is not compensated by plasma defocusing or beam divergence, due to the short time frame of that dynamical event. Along with the intensity spike during that merge, very short sub-pulses in the range of one optical cycle are generated [Gaa09]. Another possibility to exceed the clamping intensity is to use a tight focusing for filament generation. In that way the clamping intensity could be exceeded by more than one order of magnitude [Pre10]. Fig. 2.5(a) shows an example for intensity spikes in a measured filament in argon atmosphere [Ste11b] and Fig. 2.5(b) for a pulse splitting event in another filament in argon atmosphere [Ste12].

The high intensities present in a filament also efficiently drive the generation of new frequencies such as THz- or XUV-radiation via the nonlinear susceptibilities of the filament medium. The lowest frequency of nonlinear order that is generated inside the filament is the TH which is used to probe the laser-induced temporal plasma evolution in [Jus19], the details of that experiment are presented in Section 3. Due to its importance for the understanding of those experimental results, the details of THG inside a filament are described in the following.

2.4.8 Third harmonic generation

Since the TH is the lowest nonlinear radiation inside the filament, it is also generated with the highest efficiency. The polarization of the medium for THG is defined as:

$$P^{(3)}(\omega) = \frac{\varepsilon_0}{4} \chi^{(3)}(3\omega : \omega, \omega, \omega) E(\omega) E(\omega) E(\omega)$$
(2.33)

For a high conversion efficiency of THG, the fundamental wave and the third harmonic wave need to be phase-matched. However, due to the Gouy phase shift at the geometrical focus [Boy80], most TH generated in the first half of the filament is reconverted into the fundamental in the second half [Akö02; Thé05; Liu11]. The Gouy phase is a fundamental effect of Gaussian beams. It describes a phase shift of a Gaussian beam that appears at its focus where the wavefronts of the beam change their sign. It is defined by [Fen01]:

$$\phi_{\text{Gouy}}(z) = \arctan\left(\frac{z}{z_{\text{R}}}\right)$$
 (2.34)

with $z_{\rm R} = (\pi w_0^2) / \lambda$ being the Rayleigh length of the beam. Eq. 2.34 shows that most of the Gouy phase shift takes place around the focus of the beam but the largest Gouy phase difference exists between $z \ll -z_{\rm R}$ and $z \gg z_{\rm R}$ with $\Delta \phi_{\rm Gouy} = \pi$. Any radiation generated before the focus would have a π -phase shift with respect to radiation generated after the focus, so that they cancel each other. A filament does have a modified Gouy phase shift that differs from the standard shift defined for a Gaussian beam in having a less steep slope than the corresponding beam in vacuum with linear focusing conditions [Bai12]. Nonetheless, the general statement of cancellation remains valid. With increasing intensity, other nonlinear effects reincrease the TH efficiency [Akö01; Akö02]. Hence, a net TH can remain at the end of the filament. The mechanism for efficient THG in a filament is still an open research topic [Liu19]. One suggested explanation is that the Kerr effect and the plasma-reduced refractive index lead to improved phase matching up to even phase locking between the fundamental and the third harmonic wave [Liu19]. Due to the underlying spatial conditions for phase matching, the optimal phase is reached on a cone around the core of the filament, that contains 90% of the total TH energy, whereas the on-axis TH only inhibits 10% of the total energy [Thé05]. The very low efficiency of THG on axis renders this TH radiation impractical for a lot of applications. However, several methods to severely enhance the on-axis TH in a filament via perturbing the filament propagation by an obstacle exist and are presented in the following.

Principle of TH enhancement

TH enhancement describes the increase of net TH energy on axis at the end of a filament by means of a perturbation in comparison to an undisturbed filament. The source of the perturbation can, in principle, be any object, transparent or not, with a size comparable to the filament core (around 100 µm in diameter for an air filament at ambient pressure [Cou07]), that introduces a disturbance in the filament spatial profile. If the object is bigger than the filament core, it needs to be transparent for the TH emission. Very different objects inserted into the filament have already shown to significantly enhance the TH. Among these are: water droplets [Xi09], metallic wires [Zha10], thin metal plates followed by a pressure gradient [Sch11b], glass wedges [Yao12], laser-induced plasma [Sun09; Sun10; Liu11; Gry17] or the interaction of two filaments [Liu11; Yao12]. Enhancements up to two orders of magnitude in the case of plasma-induced enhancement and up to three orders of magnitude by a sharp pressure gradient [Sch11b] have been achieved. In the plasma-induced enhancement, the THG process is shown to reach an efficiency of up to 0.1% [Liu19] and the temporal trend of the TH is directly connected to and follows the temporal free electron density evolution [Sun09; Sun10]. A thorough experimental study and analysis for an explanation of TH enhancement in filaments was performed in [Liu11; Liu19]. By measuring the generated TH energy of an air filament propagating through self-drilled holes in thin metal foil, a TH enhancement dependent on the foil position in the filament was observed [Liu19]. There is a maximum of TH yield, when the filament is terminated in its middle and a symmetric decrease of TH yield towards a termination at the beginning or end. This observation led to the conclusion that the TH enhancement is caused by the partial termination of further filament development, which arrests the large cancellation of THG by introducing a symmetry break [Xi09; Zha10]. As mentioned in Sec. 2.4.8, due to the Gouy phase shift in the filament focus, the TH generated in the first and second half have opposite phase. Hence, the TH yield builds up during the first half and then decreases after the focus as TH energy as the TH before and after the focus cancel each other so that the TH energy is reconverted to the fundamental, from that point. Thus, the obstacle in the beam path suspends the back conversion of the TH energy to the fundamental and enhances the TH yield severely [Liu11]. This explanation is supported by observations made in [Liu11]: a thin metal foil with a pre-drilled hole of 100 µm diameter was placed in the filament beam at different positions behind the focus. When the beam was additionally crossed by a plasma spot from a strong pump pulse around the focus position, it showed a significantly weaker decrease in TH yield compared to the undisturbed filament. However, it was found out that the TH conversion process and enhancement are even more complex, making the statement about the reconversion to the fundamental in the center of the filament only true for some parameter configurations [Liu19]. The TH conversion and enhancement are strongly influenced by the focusing conditions of the beam forming the filament, the pulse energy and also the gas pressure. Further, when no reconversion to the fundamental took place, the TH cannot be enhanced at all. Nonetheless, if a TH enhancement for the given experimental parameters is possible and the enhancement is plasma-induced, the principle that the temporal evolution of the TH enhancement follows the temporal evolution of the plasma remains correct.

The interesting aspect about using plasma for TH enhancement is its transparency for both the fundamental and third harmonic radiation and the tunability of the plasma density and thus the TH enhancement. Furthermore, the plasma density, as it is shown later experimentally, is a time-dependent quantity. By knowing precisely the decay of the plasma, the TH signal strength can be controlled in time, if the plasma generation is temporally tuned with respect to the filament pulse. Additionally, plasma has no damage threshold since it is already composed of an ionized medium. As such, it is ideal to scale the TH enhancement process to very high intensities or pulse energies, interesting for any application requiring a high-intense and ultrashort ultra violet (UV) laser pulse such as micromachining [Bék03].

The next important aspect of this thesis that is presented, is the pulse characterization of optical laser pulses in the fs range and of filament pulses in particular. The pulse characterization of a filament is a challenging task due to the high intensities reached in the core, as well as the drastic changes in the pulse properties along the filament length. Hence, there is a striking need for a complete spatio-temporal characterization of a filament along its length, which is the key motivation behind the experiment presented in Chapter 4. For this experiment, it is important to understand common spatio-temporal and temporal pulse characterization techniques, as well as possible spatio-temporal couplings of ultrashort laser pulses, which are presented in the following.

2.5 Spatio-temporal characterization of ultrashort laser pulses

The spatial and temporal properties of an optical pulse can be coupled to each other, i.e. the electric field of the pulse cannot be described anymore as a product of its spatial and temporal properties. In this case it holds that [Akt10]:

$$E(x,y,t) \neq E_x(x)E_y(y)E_t(t) \tag{2.35}$$

with x and y being the transverse spatial coordinates of the pulse and $E_x(x)$, $E_y(y)$ representing the electric field along these coordinates as well as $E_t(t)$ describing the temporal properties of the pulse. Eq. 2.35 specifies the presence of one or more spatio-temporal couplings (STCs) in an optical pulse. During nonlinear pulse propagation, the temporal and spatial properties of an optical pulse can even couple dynamically which is referred to as spatio-temporal dynamics. Femtosecond filaments in gaseous media inhibit strong spatio-temporal dynamics, as introduced in the previous Section 2.1. For a complete understanding of their dynamics, a spatio-temporal

pulse characterization method is needed. In general, every pulse characterization technique has advantages and disadvantages and it always needs to be evaluated, which method suits best the experiment that is carried out. In this section, the general aspects of STCs in ultrashort laser pulses are described in detail and different techniques to characterize an ultrashort laser pulse spatio-temporally are explained. This description includes the technique that is chosen for the experiment described in Chapter 4: spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry. In the following, STCs are introduced.

2.5.1 Spatio-temporal couplings

Eq. 2.35 shows that if an optical pulse inhibits a spatio-temporal coupling, the pulse needs to be described or characterized in the spatio-temporal domain to obtain a complete picture of its properties. A solely temporal or spectral pulse characterization is blind for STCs as it cannot resolve the coupling of the domains. However, STCs widely occur in both linear and nonlinear pule propagation, e.g. already when an ultrashort laser pulse propagates through a prism. In that case, the output beam experiences angular dispersion, i.e. the different colors of the pulse spectrum travel in different directions, and pulse front tilt, i.e. the wavefront of the pulse is tilted with respect to the propagation direction by the prism. These two effects result in spatial chirp over the beam profile after propagation. Even the propagation of an ultrashort pulse through a circular shaped aperture can already cause a STC [Akt10]. The concept of STCs was introduced in [Bor89a; Bor89b; Bor92]. An comprehensive overview on STCs can be found in [Jol20] and [Akt10], while here only their main features are reported. In general, the impact of STCs increases the shorter, due to dispersion, and the more intense, due to nonlinear propagation effects, a laser pulse is. There are four equivalent domains in which the spatio-temporal properties of an ultrashort laser pulse can be described, namely the (x,t)-, the (x,ω) -, the (k_x, t) -, and the (k_x, ω) -domain. An STC is by definition present in at least two domains, hence it also needs to be described in two out of the four coordinates t, ω , x and k_x (note that only using x and k_x is a simplification, the other Cartesian coordinates y and z as well as the reciprocal coordinates k_y and k_z apply as well). In first order, all four domains have one complex-valued coupling term, can be used

interchangeably and are connected via Fourier transforms. The real part of the respective coupling term is related to intensity effects, whereas the imaginary part of the coupling term is related to phase effects [Rho17]. Since there are four domains with one complex-valued coupling term for each, in total there are eight couplings or first-order STCs, four intensity and four phase couplings, with only two of the couplings being independent from each other. Although all domains are equivalent descriptions of a STC, it can be useful to choose a certain domain for the description of a coupling because its impact on the pulse can be much clearer in a particular domain than in another one. Tab. 2.1 shows an overview of all first-order STCs acting on the intensity and phase of an ultrashort laser pulse.

Table 2.1: Overview of the first-order spatio-temporal couplings acting on the intensity and phase of the pulse.

Domain	Intensity coupling	Phase coupling
(x, t)	Pulse front tilt	Wavefront rotation
(x,ω)	Spatial chirp	Wavefront tilt dispersion
(k_x, t)	Time versus angle	Angular temporal chirp
(k_x, ω)	Angular dispersion	Angular spectral chirp

Any intensity coupling generates a contribution to the phase coupling of the connected Fourier domain. Pulse characterization techniques can usually measure very well pulse intensities so that intensity-sensitive couplings can be detected well. Phase-sensitive couplings are usually harder to measure directly. However, due to the connections between the different domains, phase couplings can be expressed in terms of intensity couplings, providing an indirect way for their detection. Since only two out of the eight possible couplings are independent, it is possible to express any STC by a combination of two other STCs. An important consequence for the experimental characterization of STCs is that only two different STCs need to be measured so that all other couplings can be reconstructed, if the beam and pulse parameters are determined additionally [Akt10]. The STC principles, introduced for first-order couplings, can also be extended to higher orders, once the complete spatio-temporal electric field in one of the four domains is known, by extending

the beam and pulse parameters to high-order terms. To analyze these higher-order couplings, the spatio-temporal electric field known in one domain simply needs to be transferred to the other three respective domains numerically. First-order couplings can also be present along with high-order couplings, which can render the STC of an ultrashort pulse very complex. As it is laid out earlier in Sec. 2.4.3 about the model of dynamic spatial replenishment and in Sec. 2.4.7 about the pulse splitting in femtosecond laser filaments, filaments in fact show strong and even dynamic STC due to the nonlinear effects taking place inside, underlining the need for a spatio-temporal characterization method.

In conclusion, it can be said that STCs are omnipresent in the propagation of ultrashort laser pulses, their impact becoming the stronger, the shorter and more intense the pulse. For femtosecond filamentation in gases the consequence is that its characterization crucially needs to analyze the complete spatio-temporal electric field in order to give a comprehensive statement about its pulse evolution and propagation dynamics. In the following, a brief introduction into existing common spatio-temporal pulse characterization methods is given, without the claim of completion.

2.5.2 Spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry

The spatio-temporal pulse characterization method "spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry", is a self-referenced version of Fourier transform spectroscopy (FTS) developed simultaneously and independently by [Mir14] and [Gal14], later called TERMITES [Par16]. This characterization method is chosen for the experiment to determine the spatio-temporal dynamics along the length of the filament, presented in Chapter 4. It is part of one out of two large classes of methods for spatio-temporal pulse characterization called "spatially-resolved spectral measurement techniques" [Jol20]. The principle setup is illustrated in Fig. 2.6. A collimated incident beam is sent onto a Mach-Zehnder type interferometer. One arm serves as a reference and the other as a signal. The signal arm contains the pulse to be measured while the pulse in the reference arm needs to be known temporally by means of an additional temporal pulse characterization method. In the reference arm, the delay τ between the two arms can be tuned by means of a movable retroreflector and the pulse is subsequently focused by an off-axis paraboloid (OAP) mirror with a very short focal length in order to generate a tight focus. In the focus, an iris can be inserted that acts as low-pass filter for the spatial frequencies of the beam. After the tight focus, the beam diverges strongly, which creates homogeneous spherical wavefronts shortly after. The unmanipulated signal beam recombines with the diverging reference beam at the second beam splitter, generating a spatial interference pattern which is recorded by a CCD camera. The pixel size of the CCD determines the sampling of the spatial frequencies of the beam of interest. A measurement is performed by scanning the delay between the reference and signal pulse while recording the spatially resolved interference pattern for every delay step τ with the CCD camera. After a complete scan, every pixel of the CCD contains an interferogram of the spatially homogeneous reference arm and the spatially varying signal pulse at that point in space. If one assumes an unknown complex electric field $\tilde{E}(\omega) = |\tilde{E}(\omega)| \exp(i\phi(\omega))$ in the spectral domain with the respective field $E(t) = |E(t)| \exp(i\phi(t))$ in the temporal domain and a known complex reference electric field $E_{ref}(t)$, the interferogram $I(\tau)$ as function of delay per CCD pixel is given by [Mir14]:

$$I(\tau) = \int |E(t) + E_{\rm ref}(t-\tau)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}t, \qquad (2.36)$$

which is equal to:

$$I(\tau) = \int |E(t)|^2 dt + \int |E_{\text{ref}}(t)|^2 dt + \int E(t) E_{\text{ref}}^*(t) dt + \int E^*(t) E_{\text{ref}}(t) dt, \quad (2.37)$$

where * denotes the complex conjugated electric field. The wanted information for the pulse reconstruction is contained in the mixed-field terms of Eq. 2.37. By applying a Fourier transform, the mixed- and equal-field terms can be easily separated from each other:

$$\mathcal{FT}\{I(\tau)\} = \mathcal{FT}\left\{\int |E(t)|^2 dt + \int |E_{ref}(t)|^2 dt\right\} + \tilde{E}(\omega)\tilde{E}_{ref}^*(\omega) + \tilde{E}^*(-\omega)\tilde{E}_{ref}(-\omega).$$
(2.38)

The term $\tilde{E}(\omega)\tilde{E}^*_{\text{ref}}(\omega)$ of Eq. 2.38, containing the pulse information of interest, can be rewritten into the form:

$$A_{\rm cross}(\omega) = \left| \tilde{E}(\omega) \right| \left| \tilde{E}_{\rm ref}(\omega) \right| \exp\left(i \left[\phi(\omega) - \phi_{\rm ref}(\omega) \right] \right).$$
(2.39)

Eq. 2.39 shows that the cross-correlation signal between the signal beam and the reference beam can be expressed as a product of their pulse amplitudes along with their phase difference. Note that for simplification Eq. 2.39 omits the additional spherical curvature of the reference pulse due to tight focusing with the OAP. If the spectral phase of the reference pulse is known by means of an additional temporal pulse characterization technique and the reference pulse' spectrum covers the spectral width of the signal pulse, the complete electric field of the signal pulse can be reconstructed spatially-resolved. Even if the reference beam is not known, the cross-correlation term still shows the relative spatial distribution of the signal pulse with respect to the unknown reference. The reconstruction of the signal beam requires



Figure 2.6: Principle setup of the spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry method [Mir14]. The beam is split into two arms by a beam splitter. The reference beam is sent onto a movable retroflector and tightly focused by an off-axis paraboloid mirror. The unaffected signal beam interferes with the spatially expanded and homogeneous reference after a second beam splitter and the interference pattern is recorded on a CCD. Reprinted with permission from [Mir14] © The Optical Society.

the reference beam, i.e. the strongly diverging beam from the focus of the OAP with spherical wavefronts, to be homogeneous across the whole area of the CCD and free from any STCs. The higher the spatial homogeneity of the reference beam, the better the reconstruction of the signal beam. In the setup itself, a higher homogeneity of the reference beam could be achieved by a tighter focusing with the OAP. However, the limit is given by the combination of the minimal focal spot size of the OAP with the maximal pulse energy of reference pulse that does not lead to ionization in the focus. Laser-induced plasma would lead to beam distortions. In practice, the homogeneity of the reference is limited by the maximal available power for creating the reference beam – as it is strongly diverging it rapidly decreases in signal intensity from the focus of the OAP – while maintaining a necessary minimal signal beam strength for generating an interference pattern with enough fringe contrast for a successful pulse reconstruction. The signal beam's size on the CCD plays an important role in the recording of the spatially-resolved interference pattern. Since the reference beam is heavily divergent, whereas the signal beam is collimated, the fringe spacing across the spatial interference pattern is not constant. Thus, there are technical requirements on the CCD for a sufficient recording of the interference pattern given by the required amount of pixels N_{pixel} over the beam diameter is [Jol20]:

$$N_{\rm pixel} = \frac{p_{\rm pixel} D_{\rm beam}^2 \beta}{2\lambda_0 |f|},\tag{2.40}$$

with p_{pixel} being the amount of pixels required at the edge of the beam to resolve the interference pattern, the collimated beam diameter D_{beam} , β the fraction of the incident beam used to create the reference and f the focal length of the mirror to focus the reference beam. Since N_{pixel} is the amount of pixels required along one spatial axis, the total amount of required pixel is N_{pixel}^2 . The demands on the CCD for a sufficient beam sampling can lead to very big data sizes in the range of hundreds of megabytes up to gigabytes for the complete scan. However, in the subsequent data processing the data set can be shrunk massively. The spatially-resolved signal pulse in the spectral domain $\tilde{E}'(x,y,\omega)$, including the spherical curvature of the reference pulse, can be obtained via the relationship:

$$\tilde{E}'(x, y, \omega) = \frac{A_{\text{cross}}(x, y, \omega)}{\tilde{E}_{\text{ref}}(\omega)} e^{i\phi_{\text{ref}}(\omega)}, \qquad (2.41)$$

which can be rewritten to:

$$\tilde{E}'(x, y, \omega) = \frac{|A_{\text{cross}}(x, y, \omega)| e^{i\phi(x, y, \omega)}}{\sqrt{|A(x_{\text{c}}, y_{\text{c}}, \omega)|} e^{i\phi(x_{\text{c}}, y_{\text{c}}, \omega)}} e^{i\phi_{\text{ref}}(\omega)}, \qquad (2.42)$$

with (x_c, y_c) representing the coordinates of the beam center. The pulse of interest at the plane of the detector, $\tilde{E}(x,y,\omega)$, is retrieved by removing the spherical curvature of the reference pulse numerically, i.e. :

$$\tilde{E}(x,y,\omega) = \tilde{E}'(x,y,\omega) \exp\left(-i\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + L^2}K(\omega)\right), \qquad (2.43)$$

where L is the distance from the focus of the OAP to the CCD and $K(\omega)$ is the wavenumber. The respective signal pulse in the time domain is obtained via Fourier transforming $\tilde{E}(x,y,\omega)$ with respect to ω . Since the method requires taking images over many laser pulses, beam movements, fluctuations of the spectrum or the wavefront during that acquisition time are limiting the method, whereas beam intensity fluctuations can be accounted for, e.g. by integrating the signal of the CCD over time. Another limitation is given by fluctuations of the delay stepping. The self-referenced FTS method is intrinsic multishot-based, due to limited acquisition speed of the CCD. Therefore, the method cannot resolve single shot fluctuations of the spatio-temporal beam pattern.

The other large class of methods for spatio-temporal pulse characterization can be summarized as "frequency-resolved spatial measurement techniques" [Jol20]. One common member of this class of methods, representing an alternative to SRFTS for complete spatio-temporal pulse characterization, is given by the method "INSIGHT", introduced next.

2.5.3 INSIGHT

As part of the class of frequency resolved spatial measurement techniques, INSIGHT – developed by [Bor18] – retrieves the spatial profile by obtaining a frequency-resolved spatial pattern of the beam. A scheme of the method is shown in Fig. 2.7.



Figure 2.7: Principle scheme of the spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry method "INSIGHT". (a) A camera at the output of an interferometer records the inference pattern generated by the beam copies. Simultaneously, the non-interfered beam is recorded with a camera placed behind one of the end mirrors. From the delay scan one obtains a spatially resolved interference pattern per delay step (b). By Fourier transform with respect to time, the spatially resolved spectral amplitude profiles are obtained (c). Selecting the positive spectral frequencies only, the spectral amplitudes for every delay step are acquired (d). Shifting the whole interferometer, the whole recording process is repeated for every movement step δz of the interferometer around the focus position z_0 (e). With a retrieval algorithm, the spectral phase is extracted from the pulse amplitude (f). Real part of the final spatially-temporally resolved electric field (g). Reprinted with permission from [Bor18] \mathbb{C} The Optical Society.

The beam of interest is split into two copies by a beam splitter in a Michelson or Mach-Zehnder type interferometer. Whereas in TERMITES the collimated beam is analyzed, in INSIGHT the beam focus and z-positions around the focus are analyzed by a camera sensor at the output port of the interferometer. One end mirror is tunable so that the delay between the two arms, i.e. the delay between the pulse copies, can be tuned. FTS is performed by measuring the spatial interference pattern between the two pulse copies for every delay step, resulting in an interferogram per pixel of the camera sensor. Via Fourier transforming the interferogram with respect to time, the pulse spectrum per pixel, thus spatially resolved over the pulse profile, is obtained. By only selecting the positive frequencies in the spectrum, the spatially-resolved spectral amplitude profile of the beam is retrieved. The spectral phase distribution with respect to an unknown reference phase, necessary for a complete characterization, is acquired by moving the whole interferometric setup along the beam direction zby steps of δz , around the focus position z_0 , and repeating the acquisition of the spatial spatially-resolved spectral amplitude for each step. If the spectral phase at one arbitrary spatial position of the beam is additionally measured by means of another method, this phase serves as the reference and the full spatio-spectral profile of the beam can be retrieved. The INSIGHT method has the advantage of having a very compact setup while, due to the in-focus recording of the spatio-temporal beam profile, only a very small camera sensor is required. Furthermore, since laser-matter experiments are usually performed at the focus position, with INSIGHT one measures the spatio-temporal beam profile at the most interesting position for experiments. The disadvantage of this method is given by the required focusing of the incident beam by a lens or, alternatively, by a focusing mirror. The focusing lens needs to be aligned very accurately with respect to the incident beam because any tilt or decentration from the optical axis of the lens would add additional beam distortions on the pulse of interest that could not be distinguished from the inherent beam distortions one wants to detect with this method. Similarly, a focusing mirror will always have a slight tilt to the optical axis and therefore cause additional astigmatism on the pulse of interest that can only be completely removed numerically, if the exact tilt and curvature of the mirror are known. Therefore, SRFTS is preferred for the complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length

presented in this work because filament pulses can inhibit complex STCs that shall not be covered by any additional distortion caused by the characterization setup itself.

In summary, both presented spatio-temporal pulse characterization techniques are able to fully characterize an ultrashort laser pulse spatio-temporally, i.e. they are complete characterization methods. They require additional knowledge about the amplitude and phase (SRFTS) or only the phase of a reference pulse (INSIGHT). Hence, both require an additional measurement by a solely temporal pulse characterization technique. In the following, a brief introduction into temporal pulse characterization techniques is given, introducing FROG and d-scan as these have been the techniques used in the experiments of this thesis.

2.5.4 Temporal pulse characterization techniques

The first widely established pulse characterization technique has been the autocorrelator [Mai66; Gio67; Sha77]. Autocorrelation is a simple and well understood pulse characterization technique and therefore still regularly used in ultrafast laser optics to characterize optical laser pulses. However, it is not a complete method, i.e. it does not retrieve the pulse's phase and amplitude profile and requires assumptions, such as the assumed pulse shape or the symmetry of the pulse profile, so that a pulse duration can be retrieved.

Since the development of the autocorrelation technique, many more advanced techniques such as FROG [Kan93b; Kan93a; Tre97; O'S01; Bat10], SPIDER [Iac98; Gal99; Mai05; Rad07; Mah15], MIIPS [Loz04; Xu06; Coe08], or self-referenced spectral interferometry (SRSI) [Oks10], chirp scan [Lor13] and d-scan [Mir12a; Mir12b; Syt21] have been developed. Two of the most commonly used techniques, FROG and d-scan, used for the temporal characterization of the optical pulses in the experiments described in this thesis, are presented in the following.

Frequency-resolved optical gating

The "frequency-resolved optical gating (FROG)" technique [Kan93b; Kan93a; Tre97; O'S01; Bat10] developed from the autocorrelation technique. Whereas in the autocorrelation technique the SH (or nonlinear) signal intensity of two pulse copies is

measured as a function of delay, in a SH FROG it is their SH (or nonlinear) spectrum as a function of delay [Tre93; Kan93a; DeL94]. By a pulse retrieval algorithm different algorithms for this task exist - a simulated FROG trace can be calculated and optimized, until it matches the measured one. If additionally the fundamental spectrum of the pulse is determined, the pulse can be reconstructed completely in phase and amplitude. A SH FROG trace has a direction-of-time ambiguity in the reconstructed pulse [Tre00]. From this ambiguity follows, that a pre- and a post-pulse cannot be distinguished from each other, neither can asymmetric pulse shapes be resolved. A SH FROG is applied as temporal pulse characterization method in the experiment on the determination of the plasma lifetime via TH enhancement, presented in Chapter 3. There are many different FROG versions such as the TH FROG [Tsa96], the self-diffraction (SD) FROG [Kan93a; Cle95], polarization-gate (PG) FROG [Kan93b; Tre93; DeL94] or the transient-grating (TG) FROG [Swe97] that do not possess temporal ambiguity. However, all FROG techniques rely on the interaction of at least two pulses which need to be aligned. Beam overlap can be a non-trivial task and also lead to errors in the pulse retrieval, especially if very short laser pulses of sub-10 fs, being prone to STCs, need to be retrieved. Hence, optimally, a pulse characterization technique should not need beam overlap and only require a single beam for the characterization. The d-scan technique [Mir12a; Mir12b] fulfills this requirement and has become, also due to its ease of use, a widely used pulse characterization technique. It is used for the additional temporal pulse characterization in the spatio-temporal analysis of a femtosecond filament along its length presented in Chapter 4 and is presented in the following.

2.5.5 Dispersion scan

Dispersion scan is a single-beam pulse characterization technique for ultrashort laser pulses in the femtosecond regime developed by Miranda *et al.* [Mir12a; Mir12b]. Several versions of the d-scan technique such as TH d-scan [Sil13; Hof14], crossedpolarized wave (XPW) d-scan [Taj16], SD d-scan [Can17], or single-shot d-scan [Fab15; Lou17; Sil17] already exist. The scheme for a basic SH d-scan setup, used in this thesis, can be see in Fig. 2.8.



Figure 2.8: SH dispersion scan setup. The incident beam is sent onto a glass wedge pair (W) that can be moved transversal to the beam propagation direction. The beam then propagates through a double chirped mirror (DCM) pair and is subsequently focused onto a nonlinear crystal (here a barium borate (BBO) crystal) with a concave silver mirror (CSM, f = 37.5 mm) to generate the SH. The SH is sent into a fiber-based optical spectrometer. Adapted with permission from [Neo22] © The Optical Society.

The incident beam is sent onto a glass wedge pair mounted on a motorized translation stage which moves the wedges transversely with respect to the beam direction. By inserting the wedges into the beam path, additional dispersion is introduced. If the incident pulse is defined as $\tilde{E}_{in}(\omega) = |\tilde{E}_{in}(\omega)| \exp(i\phi(\omega))$, the pulse is positively chirped by the wedges by an additional phase term:

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm disp}(\omega, z) = \frac{\omega n(\omega)}{c} z = k(\omega) z, \qquad (2.44)$$

with the amount of dispersion depending on the inserted wedge material thickness z. After having passed the glass wedges, the beam is negatively chirped by multiple reflections on the DCMs. Every reflection introduces a fixed amount of negative dispersion to the beam. The total amount of negative dispersion depends on the amount of reflections on the DCMs. Due to manufacturing and performance reasons, DCMs are designed in a way that every reflection introduces strong oscillations in the second derivative of the spectral phase, the group delay dispersion (GDD). However, since the other mirror of the DCM pair introduces oscillations of opposite phase with respect to the first one, nearly all oscillations are effectively suppressed, if equal numbers of reflections on both mirrors are used. Since by the DCMs only integer amounts of dispersion can be introduced, the continuously tunable amount of wedge thickness is chosen so that the overall dispersion of the pulse is balanced around the zero point. A d-scan trace is recorded by tuning the dispersion from negative to positive (or vice versa) by inserting equal amounts of glass thickness while recording the SH spectrum for every insertion step. An example of a d-scan trace from the spatio-temporal characterization experiment of the filament is illustrated in Fig. 2.9. The trace possesses complex features which indicates that the pulse is not Fourier limited, i.e. the pulse does not have a flat spectral phase. This example shows that rough information about the pulse characteristics can be obtained already from the d-scan trace itself: the shorter a pulse, the narrower is its width on the dispersion axis of the trace and the broader is its spectral width. A pulse that is negatively or positively chirped in the second order derivative of the spectral phase, the GDD, is offset from the relative zero position of glass insertion along the dispersion axis. The group delay (GD) does not affect the d-scan trace. A pulse with third-order dispersion (TOD), generates a trace that is tilted with respect to wavelength axis. A positively chirped pulse is tilted upwards and a negatively chirped pulse is tilted downwards. GDD and TOD can also exist together and cause a shift and a tilt. Additionally, to the dispersion scan, the fundamental spectrum of the pulse is recorded. In order to retrieve the pulse phase from the d-scan trace, a retrieval algorithm run, starting with a guessed phase, is conducted. From the retrieval a simulated d-scan trace is calculated. Via a minimization parameter μ :

$$\mu = \frac{\sum_{i,j} S_{\text{meas}}(\omega_i, z_j) S_{\text{sim}}(\omega_i, z_j)}{\sum_{i,j} S_{\text{sim}}(\omega_i, z_j)^2},$$
(2.45)

the simulated d-scan trace $S_{\rm sim}$ is compared to the measured one $S_{\rm meas}$. In several iterations, the retrieval tries to minimize μ . When a minimal difference is found, the pulse phase is retrieved and the laser pulse is completely characterized. D-scan does not require any assumptions on the pulse and is not possessing the temporal ambiguity of the SH FROG. Therefore, it is a complete characterization method, able



Figure 2.9: SH d-scan traces of the filament pulse at position d = 150 mm of the experiment in Chapter 4, belonging to a sub-10 fs pulse. (a) measured trace, (b) retrieved trace from the d-scan algorithm. The y-axis denotes the relative wedge insertion in mm and the x-axis the wavelength in nm.

to characterize all pulse features, i.e. also asymmetric pulse shapes. The common d-scan setups are inherently multi-shot pulse characterization setups, since the acquisition time of a SH spectrum takes longer than the usual repetition rate of the laser used in the experiment. However, as mentioned above, single-shot d-scan setup already exist. For the experiment presented in this thesis, the most common d-scan setup, the SH d-scan, was chosen since it is a well understood setup and has high enough detection efficiency and spectral detection width necessary for the experiment.
CHAPTER 3

Determination of the temporal plasma evolution via TH enhancement

In this chapter, the experiment about the temporal plasma evolution via TH enhancement in gaseous media is presented and its results discussed. It begins with an introduction into the experimental setup as well as its procedure and principle. It is followed by a presentation of the plasma lifetime measurements and a discussion of the results. In the last part, observations about the onset of TH enhancement are presented and discussed.

3.1 Experimental setup, procedure and principle

In this section, the experimental setup and procedure are presented, including a typical measurement trace and the data processing to retrieve the experimental data.

3.1.1 Experimental setup

Laser system

The laser system for this experiment is a customized commercial titanium-sapphire amplifier system (Dragon, KMLabs Inc.), based on the CPA technique. A titaniumsapphire oscillator emits 10 fs pulses with a central wavelength of 790 nm and a pulse energy of 1.8 nJ. In a grating-based pulse stretcher, the pulse is stretched to about 200 ps and then enters a Pockels cell surrounded by two polarizers, one before and one after the cell, with orthogonal orientation to each other. The Pockels cell is triggered to the oscillator output and rotates the polarization of the incident beam by $\pi/2$. Only when the polarization of the incident beam is changed by the cell, it passes a second polarizer and enters the ensuing multi-pass amplification stage. In that way the repetition rate is reduced to 1 kHz. The titanium-sapphire-based amplification stage is pumped by a ns pump laser with a central wavelength of 527 nm and a pulse energy of 40 mJ (Ascend 60, Spectra-Physics). In this stage, the infrared pulse can be amplified up to 2 mJ, but the amplifier is usually only operated at 1 mJ, corresponding to an amplification factor of 10^6 . The amplifier stage is followed by a grating compressor in which the pulse is compressed to 35 fs. With an adjustable attenuator, the power of the amplifier system can be varied between about 2% and 100%. After the attenuator, the beam is sent to an imaging setup, cleaning the beam profile by imaging a position within the amplifier with an optimized beam profile. The final output beam has a M^2 -value of $M^2 = 1.6$ in one axis and $M^2 = 1.8$ in the other axis with a diameter $(1/e^2)$ of 6.4 mm.

Setup

The experimental setup for the temporal plasma evolution study via TH enhancement is shown in Fig. 3.1. From the attenuator, the beam is split into two arms, the "pump arm" and the "signal arm", by a beam splitter plate. With the $\lambda/2$ -waveplate in front of the beam splitter plate, the power distribution between the two arms can be adjusted. In the pump arm, the beam is sent to a retroreflector positioned on a one-axis translation stage (Newport, M-UTM150CC.1) to adjust the temporal delay between the arms. The translation stage has a total scan range of 150 mm and is computer-controlled via a motion controller and driver (Newport, ESP300). Initially, for temporal scans, a range of 6.64 cm, corresponding to 443 ps was available. Later, for long temporal scans of the noble gases argon and helium, the setup was modified so that the translation stage can be shifted in steps of 127 mm, enabling a total temporal scan window of $5076 \,\mathrm{ps}$ (see Sec. 3.2.3). The minimal step size for the experiment corresponds to 4 fs. The actual step size for any scan is chosen with respect to the total temporal window of the scan, in order to keep the total scan time at around 15 min up to 30 min. After the retroreflector, the beam passes a $\lambda/2$ waveplate and a calcite polarizer. The waveplate is mounted on a computer-controlled rotational motion controller (8MR151-30, Standa). By rotating the waveplate with respect to the polarizer, the power in the arm can be adjusted. The calcite polarizer



Figure 3.1: Scheme of the experimental setup. The cross in the image center represents the chamber which can be filled with gas. The beams cross at an angle of 90° and interact in the overlap volume. The generated UV-light (in purple-blue) is separated from the fundamental light, refocused and sent to a spectrometer. HR: high-reflective mirror for 780 nm, BS: beam splitter, Pol: polarizer, CSM: concave silver mirror, UVM: dichroic mirror, high-reflective for 260 nm and high-transmissive for 780 nm. Reprinted with permission from [Jus19] \bigcirc The Optical Society.

chirps the pulse to about 80 fs and is set to transmit p-polarized light in its normal configuration. After the polarizer, the beam is focused with a lens of f = 50 mm into a chamber, filled with the gas of interest, generating a mm long plasma string, e.g. about 3 mm in air atmosphere at ambient pressure. For measurements, the usual power in this arm is 0.5 W. In the signal arm, the beam is sent to a focusing mirror with f = 300 mm creating a filament with a length of approximately 4 cm in air. The filament crosses the plasma string at an angle of 90°, minimizing the overlap volume and thus the plasma absorption of the fundamental and TH radiation from the filament. The plasma severely enhances TH from the filament by the process described in Sec. 2.4.8. The chamber is equipped with 2 mm fused silica windows on the entrance side of the filament and the plasma string and a 2 mm MgF₂ window on the filament exit side to optimize the TH transmission out of

the chamber. The generated TH propagates collinearly with the fundamental to the dichroic mirrors. These mirrors have a high reflectivity for the TH at around 260 nm and a high transmission for the fundamental at around 780 nm. With every consequent reflection on a dichroic mirror, the contrast between the TH and the fundamental is increased so that both signals can be measured simultaneously with the spectrometer (HR4000CG-UV-NIR, Ocean Optics), despite the fundamental being far more intense at the chamber output. Since the generated TH is divergent, it is refocused by a lens (f = 300 mm) and enters the spectrometer via free-space propagation to avoid a signal decrease by the propagation through a fiber, which generally has a low transmission in the UV. For measurements, the usual power in the signal arm is 0.3 W.

3.1.2 Experimental procedure

For initial alignment, the chamber is evacuated and subsequently filled with about 1.1 bar of argon. The pump and signal beams are aligned so that they overlap spatially in the center of the chamber. Filling the chamber with argon severely helps to find the temporal overlap, since its plasma has a lifetime of more than 1 ns, as it is shown later in this chapter. Note that the plasma lifetime can be defined arbitrarily. Here, plasma lifetime is defined as the time it takes for the plasma density to decrease from the maximum density to 1/e of that density. A plasma lifetime in the ns range implies a temporal overlap of at least 30 cm which extremely simplifies to find the spatio-temporal overlap. Once the zero delay position of the translation stage is found – the position for which both arms have the same optical path length – one switches to the gas of interest. For all gases, except air which is investigated at ambient pressure, a pressure of about 1.1 bar is used in order to guarantee that the chamber is kept free from outside contamination. Then, the spatial and temporal overlap is fine-optimized with the focusing mirror in the signal arm because the best alignment for the new gas can slightly deviate from the best alignment for argon. When the best alignment is set, the TH is aligned into the spectrometer. Via a computer script, the step size and length of the scan as well as the scan speed is set. The script controls the translation stage and the readout of the spectrometer, automatically. For every step of the translation stage, the spectrometer records a spectrum. When it is saved, the procedure repeats until the end of the scan.

3.1.3 Experimental principle

Filaments that are intercepted by laser-induced plasma show a significant increase in THG, i.e. the TH is strongly enhanced by the plasma, compared to an undisturbed filament, as mentioned earlier in Sec 2.4.8. Fig. 3.2 shows the difference between the measured TH signal of the undisturbed air filament at ambient pressure compared to the TH signal from the same filament intercepted by plasma from the pump arm.



Figure 3.2: TH signal from a femtosecond filament in air at ambient pressure as a function of the wavelength. Presented in red is the TH signal from the unperturbed filament and shown in blue is the signal from the filament intercepted by plasma. The TH emission from the unperturbed filament is magnified by a factor of 15 for better visualization. The enhancement factor is estimated to be around 375. Reprinted with permission from [Jus19] © The Optical Society.

This comparison clearly shows that the TH signal is strongly enhanced when the filament is intercepted by laser-induced plasma. For any investigated gas, an enhancement factor of about 300 was observed. This factor is in accordance with other experiments about plasma-induced TH enhancement in filaments which usually report absolute enhancement factors in the range of two orders of magnitude [Sun09; Sun10; Liu11; Gry17]. As described in Sec. 2.4.8, the TH enhancement follows the temporal plasma evolution. Hence, when the TH signal from the filament is measured as a function of delay, the temporal behaviour of the plasma density in the pump arm is studied simultaneously. However, it has to be noted, that no statements about the absolute plasma density but only about the temporal trend of the relative plasma density can be given. To the best of the author's knowledge, it is a quite unique property of this method, that the temporal evolution of the plasma density is directly imprinted in the measurement signal. Fig. 3.3 shows an exemplary temporal trace of the spectrally resolved TH from a femtosecond filament in air, and in that way also of the relative plasma density, as a function of the delay between the pump generating the plasma string and the filament beam in the probe arm.



Figure 3.3: Spectrally resolved TH signal of an air filament at ambient pressure as a function of delay between the pump and the filament pulse. Adapted with permission from [Jus19] © The Optical Society.

Here, positive delay is defined as the pump pulse arriving earlier than the filament pulse and negative delay vice versa. Fig. 3.3 exemplarily shows that the TH spectrum is not affected by the plasma interception. This statement remains correct for all other investigated gases, too. Since the TH spectrum is not affected by the plasma from the pump, the measurement data representation can be simplified by integrating the TH signal over the spectral domain. Fig. 3.4 shows the same experimental data than in Fig. 3.3, integrated over the spectral domain. The obtained temporal TH traces for air resemble the ones observed in [Sun09; Yao12; Jar14], showing a good agreement of this method with established ones. The TH signal reaches its maximum shortly after zero delay. From there, it decays rapidly in a nearly exponential manner



Figure 3.4: Spectrally integrated TH signal of an air filament at ambient pressure as a function of delay between the pump and the filament pulse. The line in red represents a regression fit to the experimental data. The trace is normalized with respect to the maximum TH signal. Adapted with permission from [Jus19] © The Optical Society.

and reaches 1/e, so its plasma lifetime, after around 14 ps. In order to have an estimate on the uncertainty of the measured TH signals, the measurement for air was repeated ten times and the plasma lifetime showed a standard deviation of about 8.6% from the average value. Therefore, the method gives reliable information about the plasma lifetime of the investigated gases. For simplification, the traces of all the other investigated gases, shown in the following Section 3.2, are displayed in the spectrally integrated representation as well.

3.2 Experimental results

In this section, an investigation of the influence of several experimental parameters on the plasma decay is presented, followed by an analysis of the plasma lifetime in the invested atomic and molecular gases helium (He), argon (Ar), xenon (Xe), carbon dioxide (CO₂), (molecular) nitrogen (N₂) and air.

3.2.1 Parameter study

The performed parameter study comprises the laser pulse energy, beam polarization, pulse duration, and gas pressure and begins with the parameter pulse energy. Note that the studies in air atmosphere are shown for all parameters. The figures of the decay studies in the other gases are only presented here, when a significant change in the plasma decay with respect to the parameter can be observed. Otherwise, the respective figure is moved to Chapter A in the appendix.

Pulse energy

For the pulse energy study, the power of the pump arm was tuned by means of rotating the $\lambda/2$ -waveplate with respect to the polarizer. The power of the signal arm was kept constant. The scans performed in the molecular gases were carried out with a temporal stepping of 0.25 ps and the ones in the atomic gases with a temporal stepping of 1 ps. The study comprises the gases air, nitrogen, and carbon dioxide as well as the rare gases argon and xenon. In Fig. 3.5, the pulse energy study for air is shown.



Figure 3.5: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse energies in air measured at 1 bar.

The variation of the pump pulse energy is not affecting the temporal TH evolution signal in air. All traces are nearly identical. The same behaviour can be observed in the pump pulse energy study of carbon dioxide, shown in Fig. A.1. In case of nitrogen, shown in Fig. A.2, an insignificant variation of the temporal evolution is visible for a pump pulse energy of $174 \,\mu$ J, after the signal dropped lower than 1/e.

The deviation is in the uncertainty range of the experimental method. For the pump pulse energy study in argon, shown in Fig. 3.6, a stronger variation of the temporal TH evolution for the lowest studied pulse energy of 92 µJ compared to the temporal evolution for the higher pump pulse energies of 129 µJ and 146 µJ can be observed.



Figure 3.6: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse energies in argon measured at 1.1 bar.

The signal for $92 \,\mu\text{J}$ is rising slower towards the maximum than the other two, but then stays at the maximum for the whole scan range of 441 ps. Due to this observation, the other temporal scans of the argon plasma were performed at 146 μJ , for which no deviation in the temporal trends is observed. In case of xenon – pump pulse energy study in Fig. A.3 – the trend is comparable to the molecular gases, i.e. no significant deviation with respect to the pump pulse energy can be observed.

Overall it can be summarized that tuning the pump pulse energy does not lead to a different temporal TH evolution. Although, the investigations in nitrogen and argon show some insignificant deviations for some pump pulse energies, tuning of the pump pulse energy in the presented range is not significantly affecting the TH evolution in the two gases. Hence, it is possible to compare measurements for different gases, obtained at different pump pulse energies. Varying the pump pulse energy in the investigated range only affects the absolute magnitude of TH enhancement caused by different absolute plasma densities. However, it does not affect the temporal trend of the plasma.

Polarization

For the investigation of the polarization dependency, the orientation of the polarizer in the pump arm was changed from p-polarization to s-polarization so that the two arms of the setup possess orthogonal polarization. Besides the different orientation of the polarizer, the measurements were conducted in the same way than previously explained in Sec. 3.1.2. The results for the new orientation are compared to plasma lifetime measurements conducted in the normal orientation of the polarizer. This investigation was performed for laser-induced plasma in air, carbon dioxide and nitrogen as shown in Fig. 3.7, Fig. A.4 and Fig. A.5.



Figure 3.7: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump beam polarization states with respect to the probe beam in air measured at 1 bar.

For neither of the three gases any dependency of the plasma lifetime on the polarization of the pump is found. It is expected that the independence of the temporal plasma evolution on the pump polarization for the investigated gases air, carbon dioxide and nitrogen also applies to the non-investigated gases of this study such as the atomic gases.

Pulse duration

The pulse duration in the pump arm was set to 80 fs, the usual pulse duration for all the measurements with this setup, and 35 fs, by removing the calcite polarizer. Since, without the polarizer the pulse energy cannot be varied, a scan with the polarizer was performed solely at maximum pump pulse energy. The measurement comprised all investigated gases, i.e. the molecular gases air, carbon dioxide and nitrogen as well as the atomic gases helium, argon and xenon. The measurement in air atmosphere can be seen in Fig 3.8.



Figure 3.8: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse durations in air measured at 1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.

The temporal trends for the different pump pulse durations are nearly identical in air. In carbon dioxide, Fig. 3.9, a slight variation of the temporal evolution can be observed for the different pump pulse durations. The plasma generated from the longer pump pulse decays slower than the plasma of the shorter pulse. In case of nitrogen, illustrated in Fig. A.6, the traces for both pump pulse durations are nearly identical until the TH signals drop to lower than 1/e. From there, the plasma of the shorter pulse seems to decay slightly slower than the long pulse. Nonetheless, the difference between the traces is not large and could be explained by measurement uncertainties. In summary, there is no clear evidence for a dependency of the temporal plasma evolution on the pump pulse duration in the molecular gases.



Figure 3.9: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse durations in carbon dioxide measured at 1.1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.

The measurement in the atomic gas helium is shown in Fig. 3.10.



Figure 3.10: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse durations in helium measured at 1.1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.

The TH signal of the 35 fs long pump pulse rises slower than the TH signal of the 80 fs long one and reaches its maximum at the end of the scan range, whereas the signal for the long pulse rises quicker but reaches its maximum at a delay of around

225 ps and slowly decays from there on. Note, that the decay likely is a measurement artefact because later investigations in helium atmosphere with longer scan ranges showed no decay in that scan range. The measurement in argon is illustrated in Fig. 3.11.



Figure 3.11: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal as a function of the pump pulse duration in argon measured at 1.1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.

Its plasma shows a similar trend to the helium plasma. The trace of the long pulse rises faster but also decays earlier compared to the trace of the short pulse. Whereas the trace of the long pulse reaches its maximum at around 160 ps, the trace of the short pulse reaches its maximum after around 250 ps. The measurement for xenon can be seen in Fig. A.7. The trend for xenon does not match the trend of helium and argon. The TH traces for both pump pulse durations are identical within the noise level of the measurement. In summary, as for the measurements in the molecular gases, there is no clear evidence that the plasma evolution in the atomic gases depends on the pump pulse duration. This finding is in accordance with the expectation, as the pulse durations are very similar and in terms of intensity, 8.3 PW/cm^2 and 3.6 PW/cm^2 is estimated in the focus for the argon plasma for a pulse duration of 35 fs and 80 fs, respectively, with a pulse energy of $160 \,\mu\text{J}$, disregarding plasma defocusing. Thus, the ionization dynamics for both pulse durations take place in the strong field

regime of ultrashort laser pulses. A severely different plasma dynamic would be expected for ionizing pulses in the ns range, where the ionization is dominated by particle collision events.

Hence, it can be summarized for all investigated gases that it cannot be said with confidence whether there is a dependency of the temporal plasma evolution on the pump pulse duration. Since for all other measurements, reported in the following, the pump pulse duration was fixed to 80 fs, the lifetime measurement results can be compared nonetheless.

Gas pressure

The gas pressure in air was varied between 0.5 bar and 1.0 bar in steps of 0.1 bar. For every pressure, the TH enhancement was measured as a function of delay. The measurement is visible in Fig. 3.12.



Figure 3.12: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different gas pressures of 0.1 bar from 0.5 bar to 1.0 bar in air. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.

The traces for the different pressure levels show no significant difference in their temporal behaviour. Thus, it is concluded that the gas pressure is not significantly affecting the plasma lifetime of air in the investigated pressure range. For the measurements of lower pressure, i.e. from 0.5 bar until 0.7 bar, the TH traces do not start at zero enhancement for negative delays, as expected. In fact, at delays greater than 80 ps, the TH signals of these three measurements drop lower than for negative delays. It is assumed that this behaviour is not real and is a measurement artefact caused by the low TH signal at these pressure levels, enhancing inherent measurement noise. Overall it can be summarized, that the gas pressure has no significant effect on the temporal plasma evolution in the investigated pressure range. It is assumed, that this behaviour is valid for all investigated gases, making the measurements between gases obtained at different pressure levels comparable to each other.

In the following, the experimental results for plasma lifetime measurements of the atomic and molecular gases will be presented, starting with the results for the case of the molecular gases.

3.2.2 Plasma lifetime of the molecular gases

The investigation of the plasma lifetime in molecular gases comprises air, nitrogen and carbon dioxide. Whereas nitrogen and carbon dioxide are purely molecular gases, air is a gas mixture, mostly containing the molecular gases nitrogen, with about 78% and oxygen with about 21% [Bri96]. From its gas mix ratio, one would assume that the air plasma is dominated by the nitrogen contribution. However, it was shown that at intensities close to the clamping intensity of an air filament at around $50 \,\mathrm{TW/cm^2}$ [Kas00], oxygen constitutes $80 \,\%$ of the air plasma, thus being its major plasma constituent [Fay01], as it is more easily ionized than nitrogen. Therefore, the plasma lifetime in air atmosphere should in fact deviate from the plasma lifetime in molecular nitrogen and be similar to the lifetime in molecular oxygen. In Fig. 3.13 the temporal plasma evolution in the molecular gases is shown. The plasma lifetime measurements in all three gases were performed with a temporal step size of $0.25 \,\mathrm{ps}$ at a pressure level of 1.1 bar (carbon dioxide, nitrogen) and ambient pressure (air). Note that the gases did not have the same pressure level and also the pulse energy in pump and signal arm, stated in Tab. 3.1, was not the same for the measurements in the different gases. Nonetheless, as the parameter study in Sec. 3.2.1 verified no significant influence of the parameters pressure and pulse energy for the parameter window that was chosen for the experiments, the measurements can be compared. In all gases a sharp increase shortly after zero delay occurs followed by an exponential-



Figure 3.13: Temporal TH evolution signal of air at 1 bar and N₂ and CO₂ at 1.1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals. The x-axis shows denotes the gas type, the y-axis the delay in ps and the z-axis the normalized signal strength. Inset: two-dimensional representation of the plots. Reprinted with permission from [Jus19] \bigcirc The Optical Society.

Gas	Pump pulse energy [µJ]	Signal pulse energy [µJ]		
Air	315	573		
CO_2	317	522		
N_2	174	330		

Table 3.1: Pulse energy in the pump and signal arm for plasma lifetime measurements in the molecular gases.

like rapid decay after reaching the maximum shortly after zero-delay. However, the decay time constants are different for the three gas media. The fastest decay is shown in N_2 , with a lifetime of about 8.25 ps, followed by CO_2 with about 9.75 ps and air with 14 ps. As expected, the lifetime of air plasma differs significantly from the plasma lifetime in nitrogen atmosphere. Overall, in all molecular gases a quite rapid decay of their laser-induced plasma on a ps-time scale is observed, with air plasma having the longest lifetime with about 14 ps. In the following, the temporal plasma evolution of the atomic gases is shown.

3.2.3 Plasma lifetime of the atomic gases

The investigation of the atomic gases comprises the rare gases helium, argon and xenon. The temporal plasma evolution of the atomic gases is shown in Fig. 3.14. All three gases were measured with a temporal step size of 1 ps.



Figure 3.14: Temporal TH evolution signals of helium and argon at 1.1 bar as well as xenon at 0.5 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals. The x-axis shows denotes the gas type, the y-axis the delay in ps and the z-axis the normalized signal strength. Reprinted with permission from [Jus19] © The Optical Society.

The measurements in the rare gases were performed at 1.1 bar (helium, argon) and 0.5 bar (xenon). Furthermore, the pulse energy in the pump and signal arm, stated in Tab. 3.2, varies for the three gases. The individual pulse energy settings were chosen for signal stability reasons.

Gas	Pump pulse energy [µJ]	Signal pulse energy [µJ]		
Helium	316	580		
Argon	146	256		
Xenon	150	232		

Table 3.2: Pulse energy in the pump and signal arm for plasma lifetime measurements in the atomic gases.

The temporal plasma evolution in the atomic gases clearly differs from the one in the molecular gases. An explanation for this finding is given in Sec 3.3. Whereas the plasma in the molecular gases decays in the ps-range, directly after having reached the maximum, the plasma in the atomic gases reaches a plateau after the maximum signal and does not decay for more than 100 ps. As a consequence, the measurements in the atomic gases are carried out in a longer temporal window of 441 ps compared to around 140 ps in the case of the molecular gases. However, this scan range is not large enough to cover completely their plasma decay. Whereas the xenon plasma reaches 1/e at the end of the scan range, with an estimated plasma lifetime of 443 ps, the argon and helium plasma do not decay fast enough to estimate their lifetimes. To determine the plasma lifetime in these gases, the setup has been modified to the long scan configuration mentioned in Sec. 3.1.1, with a total scan range of 5076 ps. In order to keep the total scan time in an acceptable range, the temporal step size was increased to 2 ps. The long scans in helium and argon plasma are displayed in Fig. 3.15. The respective pulse energies are stated in Tab. 3.3.



Figure 3.15: Long scans of the temporal TH evolution signals of helium and argon at 1.1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals. The x-axis shows denotes the gas type, the y-axis the delay in ps and the z-axis the normalized signal strength. Reprinted with permission from [Jus19] \bigcirc The Optical Society.

Argon & Helium

casa							
	Gas	Pump pulse energy [µJ]	Signal pulse energy [µJ]				

283

576

Table 3.3: Pulse energy in the pump and signal arm for the extended plasma lifetime measurements in argon and helium.

In the long scan of argon plasma, a clear decay is visible and the lifetime is
determined to 4543 ps. Therefore, argon plasma has a lifetime that is about 10 times
longer than xenon plasma, which has a 32 times longer plasma lifetime than air
plasma; the molecular gas plasma with the longest lifetime. It is quite remarkable,
that helium still does not show any decay at all. The helium plasma lifetime must
be much longer than a few ns. Unfortunately, due to technical reasons it was not
possible, to cover such a long scan range experimentally.

The long scans in helium and argon, especially the one in helium, show some significant oscillations in the trace. These oscillations are not assumed to be real features of the temporal plasma evolution in the two gases. Similar oscillations could be reproduced, when the individual partial scans of the long scans in the two gases were repeated at certain positions. It was observed that the translation stage shows a non-constant movement in the vertical direction during a scan. The stage slightly moves up and down from one end of the stage to the other, which changes the overlap between the pump and the probe beam. This effect takes place for all scans since it is a property of the translation stage but it is more prominently displayed when the TH enhancement is low. In that case, the difference between a better and a worse overlap of pump and probe is magnified, compared to scans that are measured with a strong TH enhancement. Furthermore, power fluctuations also slightly affect the overall TH signal, leading to observable fluctuations in the case of low TH enhancement.

In summary, in the atomic gases the respective plasmas have a significantly longer lifetime than in the molecular gases with decay times in the ns range and helium plasma having the longest lifetime that even exceeds the maximal scan range. In the following, the observed differences in the plasma lifetimes between the atomic and the molecular gases as well as the differences in the lifetimes in between gases of the two groups is explained.

3.3 Analysis and discussion of the measured plasma lifetimes

The plasma lifetime of a gas can be affected by the ionization and the recombination process, introduced in Sec. 2.3.2 and in Sec. 2.3.3, respectively. The ionization process inherently involves laser-matter interaction. Hence, the generated plasma profile heavily depends on the gas and laser pulse properties. For instance, the generated plasma density increases with the pulse energy and intensity, with the actual scaling being highly nonlinear [Thé06] (see also Sec. 2.3.2). Furthermore, the ionization process depends on the pulse profile and duration, as introduced in Sec. 2.3.2. For very long pulses in the ns range, the ionization takes place over the whole pulse duration. Due to this long interaction time, collisional ionization dominates over the radiative ionization in the form of MPI or TI [Gia14]. In the case of a fs pulse, however, the interaction time is limited to an intra-pulse time window around the peak of the pulse. Because of this short interaction time and the low gas density, collisional ionization events are strongly suppressed and MPI or TI dominate [Yam11]. The ionization process also controls the initial free electron density and temperature $T_{\rm e}$. For this experiment, however, the parameter study in Sec. 3.2.1 implies that the ionization event is not the driving process behind the severely different plasma lifetimes observed in the investigated gases. The tuning of the pulse energy showed no significant influence on the temporal plasma evolution of the plasma in air, nitrogen and carbon dioxide. The only effect of an increase in the pulse energy is a higher signal intensity of the TH, thus, a higher absolute plasma density. In consequence, also the different initial plasma densities cannot explain the individual lifetimes inbetween the gases. The parameter pulse duration cannot be the reason either, since it was kept the same for all measurements. Thus, the different plasma lifetimes must originate from differences in the dynamics during plasma recombination which, in the case of fs laser pulses, is free from any laser-matter interaction. As already laid out in Sec. 2.3.3, the plasma processes during recombination are strongly dependent on the free electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$. For the experimental conditions with a free electron temperature $> 1 \, \text{eV}$, recombination is mainly driven by the three-body electron-ion recombination channel. However, it assumed that the main processes responsible for the observed recombination dynamics are the non-recombining elastic electronelectron collisions and the (non-recombining) inelastic collisions of free electrons with ions, atoms or molecules, as explained in Sec. 2.3.3. Differences in the recombining three-body collisions cannot explain the measurement results. To give an example: the geometrical atomic cross section for argon is three times higher than the one of molecular nitrogen [Fri11]. Hence, if recombining three-body collisions were the main process behind the recombination times, the argon plasma would show a faster decay than the nitrogen plasma. The large variety in the recombination times between the plasma of the atomic rare gases and the molecular gases originates from differences in the cross sections of non-recombining inelastic collisions of free electrons with atoms, molecules or ions. These cross sections are influenced by the density of the energy level structure. For atomic gases it is significantly lower than for molecular gases, since molecules also possess rotational and vibrational levels. These states have a small energy difference between adjacent ones. In consequence, the chance for an inelastic collision is less likely in an atomic than a molecular gas. In fact, the cross section of a free electron with a kinetic energy of 20 eV transferring energy to a certain amount of states of molecular nitrogen via inelastic collisions is higher [Mal09] than the total inelastic cross section of argon or xenon with an equal-energetic free electron [Hee79]. The cross section of nitrogen accounts to $89.9 \times 10^{-18} \,\mathrm{cm}^2$ [Mal09], whereas the cross section for argon is $50.8 \times 10^{-18} \text{ cm}^2$ [Hee79] and the one for xenon is $84 \times 10^{-18} \,\mathrm{cm}^2$ [Hee79]. The kinetic energy of a free electron in the laser-induced plasma at experimental conditions is expected to be lower than 20 eV, lying in the range of only a few eV [Cap00; Kar15] (see Sec. 2.3.3). Unfortunately, 20 eV is the lowest kinetic energy of a free electron for which comparable information on the cross sections of nitrogen, argon and xenon exists. Nonetheless, it can be expected that the trend remains the same also for lower kinetic energies because the cross sections of the atomic gases have a monotonously decreasing trend from a kinetic energy of 100 eV to a kinetic energy of 20 eV [Hee79]. In contrast, the cross section of molecular nitrogen shows a monotonously increasing trend in the same energy range [Mal09]. A similar behaviour is expected for the other atomic and molecular gases. When more inelastic non-recombining collisions take place, more low-energetic free electrons are generated. Since these free electrons recombine efficiently, the electron energy distribution function receives a dip on the low energy side. It is a

property of the EEDF to quickly reshape into a Maxwellian distribution by elastic free electron-electron collisions transferring energy from the high energy side of the EEDF to low energy side, leading to an overall decrease of the average free electron temperature $T_{\rm e}$. The lower free electron temperature leads to a strong increase of the recombination rate due to the nonlinear temperature dependence of the three-body recombination rate coefficient (see Eq. 2.28 in Sec. 2.3.3). A faster shift of the EEDF (Sec. 2.3.1) in the molecular gases leads to a higher recombination rate in the atomic gases. Due to the nonlinear dependence of the recombination rate coefficient, a small difference in the redistribution time can already lead to a strong difference in the recombination time. This explanation also leads to an understanding of the different recombination times in-between the plasma of the rare gases. From helium to xenon, the energy level structure becomes denser, leading to a higher chance for non-recombining inelastic collisions to take place. This relationship is in accordance with the monotonously increasing cross section from neon to xenon for inelastic electron collisions for electrons with an energy of 30 eV. Thus, xenon plasma possesses the fastest plasma decay of all investigated gases and helium plasma the slowest.

In summary, the experimental findings about the plasma lifetimes in the different gases can be well understood by the recombination processes. The molecular gas plasmas have a significantly higher recombination rate than the atomic gas plasmas. The recombination rate is mainly influenced by the density of the energy level structure of the different gases for similar laser parameters and gas pressure levels. The denser energy structure of the molecular gases with respect to the atomic gases leads to a higher cross section for inelastic non-recombining collisions of free electrons with atoms, ions, or molecules. Due to these collisions, the EEDF is redistributed to a lower free electron temperature which in consequence leads to a higher recombination rate as explained in Sec. 2.3.3. The higher cross section for non-recombining inelastic collisions in the molecular gases with respect to the atomic gases leads to a faster redistribution of their plasma's EEDF and in that way to a higher recombination rate that severely lowers the plasma lifetime. This explanation can also be applied to understand the differences in the plasma lifetimes observed in the atomic gases: the less dense the energy level structure is, which is the case from xenon towards helium, the longer is the plasma lifetime in the respective gas atmosphere.

In the following, a more detailed analysis on the temporal TH evolution during the onset of TH enhancement in the atomic and molecular gases is presented. A surprisingly complex behaviour, which is invisible for delay steps ≥ 0.25 ps, is found.

3.4 Investigation of the TH enhancement around zero delay

In addition to the measurements about the plasma lifetime in atomic and molecular gas atmospheres on the ps and ns time-scale, the TH enhancement around zero delay was studied to have a more detailed picture on the sudden change between no enhancement at negative delays and the strong maximum shortly after zero delay. It was expected, that the TH signal will increase to the maximum shortly after zero delay and then decrease again, as it can be observed in Fig. 3.13 for the molecular gases, or increase towards the maximum and remain there for several hundreds of ps until the signal decreases again, as it can be observed in Fig. 3.14 for the atomic gases. Fig. 3.16 shows the temporal TH measurement around zero delay for air. It was recorded with a delay stepping of 4 fs and scanned until around a maximum delay of 2.4 ps with a pulse energy of $300 \,\mu$ J for the pump and a pulse energy of $550 \,\mu$ J for the probe.



Figure 3.16: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for air with a stepping of 4 fs and a pulse energy of $300 \,\mu$ J for the pump and a pulse energy of $550 \,\mu$ J for the probe.

Interestingly, the signal does not follow the expected trend. First, the TH signal rises from zero delay towards the maximum in about 0.25 ps. However, instead of decreasing monotonously after the maximum, the signal first decreases and reaches a local minimum after around 125 fs from the maximum but then increases again and reaches another maximum, in fact the global maximum of the trace, 1.125 ps later, i.e. at an absolute delay of 1.5 ps. Whereas the first increase from no TH enhancement towards the first local maximum is very rapid, the increase from the local minimum towards the global maximum takes about 4.5 times longer. Since the overall temporal window from the onset of TH signal until the global maximum takes only 1.5 ps, the unexpected trend of the signal is not visible in the longer scans presented earlier, as the whole scan around zero delay only comprises four to five data points in the long scans. The scan around zero delay, with the same stepping and laser parameters than for air, was repeated for the molecular gases nitrogen, carbon dioxide and the atomic gases helium and argon. The measurements are summarized in Fig. 3.17 and the corresponding characteristic features are stated in Tab. 3.4.



Figure 3.17: Normalized temporal TH evolution signals for air, nitrogen, carbon dioxide, helium and argon around zero-delay scanned with a stepping of 4 fs and a pulse energy of $300 \,\mu\text{J}$ for the pump and a pulse energy of $550 \,\mu\text{J}$ for the probe. Adapted from [Jus20].

The overall trend of the temporal TH evolution in air, i.e. a peak followed by a minimum and a subsequent reincrease of the signal, can be observed for all gases but there are also specific differences. In accordance with the measurement in air, the TH traces in the molecular gases show a second peak. For the TH traces in air and nitrogen atmosphere, the second peak is also the global maximum. The TH

Gas	Peak [fs]	Int. peak [%]	Min. [fs]	Int. min. [%]	Peak2 [fs]	Int. peak2 [%]
Air	240	94	430	79	1480	97
N_2	200	92	400	74	1160	90
CO_2	280	100	480	75	960	86
He	280	89	480	77	/	/
Ar	200	78	400	69	/	/

Table 3.4: Properties of characteristic features of the TH traces shown in Fig. 3.17.

traces in helium and argon do not show a second maximum. There, the TH signal is monotonously increasing from the minimum until the end of the scan range. The most striking difference between the TH traces in atomic gas atmosphere with respect to the TH traces in molecular gas atmosphere is that relative signal strength of the first peak and minimum is significantly lower in comparison to the overall trace. In contrast to helium, the TH signal of argon has a distinct minimum and TH signal is asymptotically increasing towards the maximum signal with a $f(t) = 1 - \exp(-t)$ function-like behaviour, whereas helium shows a linear increase.

Overall, all investigated gases show a local minimum after having reached the maximum of the trace. This similar trend indicates that it is caused by an effect that exists in the plasma-induced TH enhancement in all gas atmospheres.

In a further investigation performed in air atmosphere, the power dependency of the this short-time scale effect was investigated. Therefore, the pulse energy in the pump arm was tuned to $160 \,\mu\text{J}$, $240 \,\mu\text{J}$ and $320 \,\mu\text{J}$ and the TH signal recorded with a temporal stepping of 4 fs. The measurement is shown in Fig. 3.18 and the corresponding characteristic features are summarized in Tab. 3.5.

E _{pulse} [μJ]	Peak [fs]	Int. peak [%]	Min. [fs]	Int. min. [%]	Peak2 [fs]	Int. peak2 [%]
160	240	100	410	57	1600	67
240	240	100	410	81	1700	96
320	240	100	410	81	1700	96

Table 3.5: Properties of characteristic features of short-time pulse energy scan of air shown in Fig. 3.18.



Figure 3.18: Normalized temporal TH evolution signals of air for different pump pulse energies with a stepping of 4 fs and a probe pulse energy of $550 \,\mu$ J.

The scans for a pump pulse energy of $240 \,\mu$ J and $320 \,\mu$ J are nearly identical but the scan for a pump pulse energy of $160 \,\mu$ J is distinctively different. Its minimum and second maximum are significantly lower than for the other two pulse energies and the contrast between the two is smaller, i.e. the second maximum is relatively shallow. Fig. 3.19 shows the same traces than in Fig. 3.18 in a zoomed-in version around the onset of the TH enhancement.



Figure 3.19: Normalized temporal TH evolution signals of air for different pump pulse energies with a stepping of 4 fs and a probe pulse energy of 550 μ J around zero delay.

It is observed that the onset of TH enhancement scales inversely with the pump pulse energy. The TH of the highest pump pulse energy of $320 \,\mu$ J increases the earliest, followed by the trace for a pump pulse energy of $240 \,\mu$ J and the trace for the pump pulse energy of $160 \,\mu$ J. The traces show a roughly linear spacing in their onset point, being 20 fs ($320 \,\mu$ J and $240 \,\mu$ J) and 16 fs apart from each other ($240 \,\mu$ J and $160 \,\mu$ J), respectively. Note that the delay stepping of the measurement is 4 fs, so the two spacings differ only by one delay step, a difference which can be explained by measurement noise. In a further measurement it was investigated, whether the characteristic features of the TH temporal evolution as a function of the pump pulse energy, observable in air, can also be observed in other gases. Hence, the pump pulse energy study was carried out in argon with the same temporal stepping and laser parameters as in air. The measurement can be observed in Fig. 3.20.



Figure 3.20: Normalized temporal TH evolution signals of argon for different pump pulse energies with a stepping of 4 fs and a probe pulse energy of 550 μ J.

The pulse energy scan for argon shows some similarities and some differences to the one in air. As in the case of air, all traces show a distinct first maximum from which the signal decreases again towards a local minimum. However, from the local minimum the signal is not increasing again towards a second local or global maximum, as it is the case in air, but the signal just monotonously increases with a decreasing slope until the end of the scan range, in accordance to the temporal measurements for argon and helium presented in Fig. 3.17. In all traces, with the exception of the one with the lowest pulse energy of $155 \,\mu$ J, the global maximum is reached at the end of the scan range. In the scan with a pulse energy of $155 \,\mu$ J, the first maximum is also the global maximum of the trace, being 2 times higher than the minimum. The ratio for the other traces is much smaller, with the traces for $233 \,\mu$ J, $248 \,\mu$ J and $310 \,\mu$ J having the smallest ratio of about 1.12. A similar trend takes place in air, where the traces corresponding to a pump pulse energy of $240 \,\mu$ J and $320 \,\mu$ J have a nearly identical max-min ratio of 1.25, whereas the trace for a pump pulse energy of $160 \,\mu$ J has a ratio of 2.27. The zoomed-in plot of Fig. 3.20, showing the onset of the TH signal in argon atmosphere, is presented in Fig 3.21.



Figure 3.21: Normalized temporal TH evolution signals of argon for different pump pulse energies with a stepping of 4 fs and a probe pulse energy of 550 μ J around zero delay.

As in the case of the TH traces in air, the onset of the TH trace depends on the pump pulse energy, with the traces for higher pump pulse energies starting earlier than the traces for lower pump pulse energies. However, in the case of argon the trend is not as clear as it is for air, since the spacing of the traces for the different pump pulse energies is not equidistant. Nonetheless, the trace for highest pump pulse energy of $310 \,\mu$ J clearly starts the earliest.

In summary, the experimental results on the TH enhancement around zero delay show some similarities for the atomic and molecular gases: the TH signal rises towards a maximum in the beginning until it decreases towards a local minimum and rises again towards a local or global maximum. In the case of the molecular gases, the second maximum is comparable in height with the respect to the first maximum, in the case of the atomic gases, the maximal signal is reached at the end of the scan range after a monotonous increase from the local minimum. In the pulse energy scans performed in air and argon atmosphere a similar behaviour can be observed: the trace for the lowest pulse energy clearly differs to the similar traces of the other pulse energies, with a significantly stronger first maximum with respect to the overall TH evolution. Comparing the TH onset in air and argon atmosphere, a different behaviour in the two gases can be observed. In the case of air, the traces of the different power levels are equidistantly spaced, with the trace with the highest pump pulse energy starting the earliest and the trace with the lowest pump pulse energy starting the latest. This trend is not that obvious in argon: the trace for the highest pump pulse energy clearly starts the earliest but then the traces are not clearly separated or equidistantly spaced from each other. Nonetheless, the traces maintain the order observed in air atmosphere with the highest pump pulse energy starting the earliest and the lowest pump pulse energy starting the latest.

3.5 Analysis and discussion of the TH enhancement around zero delay

3.5.1 Temporal TH evolution around zero delay

The temporal TH traces around zero delay in all investigated gases show an unexpected evolution with a first peak, followed by a local minimum with a re-increasing signal afterwards. Whereas the TH evolution for delays significantly greater than about 0.5 ps can clearly be attributed to plasma-induced TH enhancement (see Sec. 2.4.8 and [Sun09; Sun10; Yao12]), the explanation for the signal evolution until $\tau = 0.5$ ps is not so simple. This difficulty lies in the fact that pulse-related effects such as the Kerr effect and other intensity-dependent effects still contribute, as it is explained by Suntsov *et al.* for a very similar experimental configuration [Sun09]. This group and another, [Yao12], also observed the sharp increase in the TH signal after zero delay and, in the case of Suntsov *et al.*, the pump-energy-dependent shift in the TH onset. A likely explanation for the experimental findings around zero

delay goes back to a pump-probe experiment conducted in fused silica with a near collinear geometry between a strong pump and weak probe [Jür19]. In this experiment, a double-peaked structure is observed shortly after zero delay for the measured transmission loss of the probe, due to plasma generation by the pump, propagating through the fused silica sample. Zero delay is defined by the maximum distortion of the probe's pulse spectrum caused by crossed-polarized wave generation between the pump and probe. The first maximum in the transmission loss, around 100 fs after the zero delay, is attributed to a nonlinear pump-probe interaction, described as a two-beam coupling (TBC) process in [Smo00; Bur05; Wah13], leading to a depletion of the probe [Jür19]. TBC describes two-beam interaction caused by the Kerr nonlinearity for a spatial and temporal overlap of the two interacting beams. When a strong pump arrives before the probe, the coupling can even take place without temporal overlap, if the pump-driven Kerr nonlinearity has a non-instantaneous response [Bur05]. In that case, the Kerr nonlinearity has a relaxation time and the probe interacts with the Kerr-induced transient material modification by the pump. The delayed Kerr response leads to a phase shift of the probe that can either, depending on its sign, lead to energy gain or energy loss [Smo00]. The double-peaked structure with the first maximum followed by the local minimum observed in the experiments here for all the investigated gases (see Fig. 3.17) could be caused by such a TBC, induced by a delayed Kerr response due the strong pump interacting with the gas. The nonlinear dependency of the first-maximum-to minimum-ratio as a function of the pulse energy speaks in favour of an intensity-dependent effect such as the Kerr nonlinearity. However, the interaction shortly after zero delay might even be more complicated with plasma dynamics contributing to the TH evolution: directly after the pump has formed the plasma, it is very dense and compact. In that moment the plasma induces a strong modification to the filament (signal) pulse shortly after zero delay leading to a strong enhancement that leads to the first peak. With ongoing time, the laser-induced plasma expands [Gia17]. During the expansion phase, it becomes less dense so that the free electron density decreases, leading to a reduction in the modification of the filament pulse. In consequence, the TH signal decreases and reaches the local minimum. With ongoing expansion, the plasma starts to match better spatially with the bigger filament beam compared to the initially compact

pump beam. Hence, the signal increases again leading to the second maximum (in case of the molecular gases) or the monotonously increasing signal in the scan range (in the case of the atomic gases). Since the plasma continues to expand, the spatial match of the plasma with the signal beam becomes worse again, leading to a reduction in TH intensity, as observed in the molecular gases. The different temporal trend in the TH evolution of the atomic gases compared to the molecular gases can be explained by different material-dependent time constants for the plasma expansion caused by disparate initial free electrons temperatures and densities after the plasma creation. Since the plasma expansion is temperature-dependent [Gia17], the initial free electron temperature plays an important role in the subsequent plasma dynamics. Further, the second maximum in the TH traces of the molecular gases is reached much slower than the minimum after the first peak. This characteristic feature of the TH traces could be attributed to a nonlinear decrease in the plasma expansion speed caused by a nonlinear reduction of the free electron temperature due to collision processes [Gia17]. Note that plasma recombination should only play a minor role until around $\tau = 2 \,\mathrm{ps}$, thus being insufficient to explain the dynamics directly after zero delay. However, recombination could already contribute significantly to the decrease of the TH signal after the second maximum in the molecular gases. For the atomic gases, recombination is completely negligible for the scan range. The TBCand the plasma-related explanation for the TH around zero delay are not mutually exclusive and can also take place simultaneously.

3.5.2 Pulse-energy-dependent shift of TH onset

While both explanations in Sec. 3.5.1 can be applied to the overall short-time TH evolution in the scan range, the shift in the TH onset depending on the pump pulse energy needs to be treated separately, as it only comprises the short temporal window from zero delay to maximally $\tau = 100$ fs, which makes plasma expansion unlikely as an explanation. In principal, it is expected that the TH enhancement starts when the pump and probe pulse begin to overlap spatially [Sun10]. However, the geometrical configuration of the setup remains the same, when only the pump pulse power is tuned. Hence, geometrical effects cannot explain the shift in the TH onset. The shift could also be explained by TBC, since a higher pump pulse energy would

lead to a stronger Kerr effect, effectively causing an earlier enhancement of the TH. In that case, the spacing between the onsets of TH for the different pump pulse energies should be linearly dependent on the pump energy, since the Kerr effect is linearly dependent on the intensity (see Eq. 2.4 in Sec. 2.2.1). For the measurement of air (Fig. 3.19) that is the case. For the situation in argon (Fig. 3.21) it is not so evident. Note that the temporal stepping of the TH onset amounts to only 4 fs. Hence, small fluctuations in the pump pulse energy strongly influence the observed pump-dependent shifts of the TH onset. A power-stabilized pump pulse is needed for further studies of this effect.

In summary, the unexpected behaviour of the TH temporal evolution shortly after zero delay in all investigated gases can have different reasons, these being a non-instantaneous Kerr response and spatial plasma effects. Also a simultaneous contribution of the Kerr response and the plasma effects together is possible. Further investigation on the influence of the different effects assisted by 3D simulations of the pulse propagation including Kerr nonlinearity and plasma expansion models is needed so that a cleaner explanation of the TH evolution and the pump-energy-dependent shift of the TH onset can be given.

CHAPTER 4

Spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length

In this chapter, the experiment aiming at the complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament at several positions along its length is presented. According to Couairon et al. [Cou07], a filament characterization can be called "complete", if the measurement combines intensity maps of the real space intensity $I(\mathbf{r},t)$ as well as of the reciprocal space intensity $I(\mathbf{k},\omega)$ as a function of the propagation direction z. More strictly, a complete filament characterization must determine the three-dimensional representation of the electric field's amplitude and phase. To the best of the author's knowledge, the method presented here is the first complete characterization method of a femtosecond filament. So far, experimental studies have focused on characterizing the filament pulse in the temporal or spectral domain, usually in combination with spatial sampling [Tzo01a; Cou02; Sku06; Sti06; Sch09; Sch11a; Kre14; Pus19. If spatio-temporal investigations were performed, they were either limited in the analyzed filament length [Kos97] or mainly studied the pulse energy along the propagation length [Bro97; Fon99a]. In bulk media, e.g. quartz glass [Kum03], and liquids, e.g. water [Mat04], spatio-temporal filament characterization measurements along the length of the respective medium have been carried out but without determining the electric field of the pulse. Existing complete spatio-temporal characterization methods like the ones introduced in Sec. 2.5.2 - 2.5.3, have not been applied to filament pulses, yet.

This chapter begins with a presentation of the experimental setup used for filament characterization, followed by a description of the experimental procedure and principle, and concludes with a discussion of the experimental results.

4.1 Experimental setup, procedure, principle, and conditions

This experiment was conducted at the Atomic Physics Department at Lund University in Sweden with LASERLAB-EUROPE funding (654148, EU H2020) and is reported in [Neo22]. Performing the experiment in Lund provided a beam-pointing stabilized laser system as well as the possibility to quantitatively fine-tune the dispersion of the fundamental driving pulse, enabling a high reproducibility of the experimental conditions such as the maximized spectral broadening. Further, the required combination of a spatio-temporal characterization (spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry) and temporal characterization (dispersion scan) setup for the complete filament characterization was already installed. These two characterization techniques were combined with a filament termination technique brought by Leibniz University Hannover, consisting of a custom vacuum component with a mounted and exchangeable thin metal plate that is installed into the filament generation chamber. With the filament drilling a pinhole through this plate, it serves as a differential pumping stage [Sch11a]. In the following, the experimental setup is described.

4.1.1 Laser system and experimental setup

The experimental setup for the spatio-temporal characterization of the femtosecond filament is shown in Fig. 4.1. The employed laser system is a Ti:Sapphire-based amplifier with a central wavelength of 800 nm and a repetition rate of 1 kHz, generating an average power of up to 5 W. To optimize beam pointing, the transversal beam position is monitored by two beam cameras, positioned at the near field and the far field of the beam, counteracting slow transversal beam drifts by sending their information into a feedback loop of a two-mirror stabilization setup. An acousto-optical programmable filter (Dazzler, Fastlite Inc.) is used to adjust the spectral phase of the laser pulses up to the third order of dispersion, generating nearly Fourier transform limited pulses with a duration of 21 fs at the filament setup. The Dazzler is used to negatively pre-chirp the pulses from the laser amplifier for optimal white-light generation conditions in the filament. Due to its precise control – GDD and TOD can be adjusted individually – the filament generation conditions are repeatable to a high degree. The amplified and chirp-manipulated laser beam



Figure 4.1: Experimental setup for the filament generation chamber and termination stage. The laser beam is focused into an argon-filled gas tube. Inside the gas tube, a filament is generated, which drills a hole through a thin aluminium plate. Subsequently, the filament is terminated by pumping the generation gas. The beam from the filament stage can either be sent to a temporal characterization setup (dispersion scan) or a spatio-temporal characterization setup (spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry). Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] © The Optical Society.

passes an adjustable aperture for fine-tuning of the pulse energy and beam size and is then focused into a 1.2 m long gas tube, filled with argon, by a f = 1 m lens. This lens is mounted on a translation stage with a travel range of 15 cm along the beam direction (M-UTM150CC.1, Newport Inc.). The aperture and the lens enable precise control over the input energy, the (geometrical) focal spot size and the initial formation point of the filament. Inside the gas tube, a filament with a length of approximately 20 cm is generated, estimated by the visible plasma fluorescence. The filament is terminated by a 0.5 mm thick aluminium plate, positioned shortly after the geometrical focus of the beam. The filament beam drills a hole through the plate with a diameter of $\approx 200 \,\mu\text{m}$. As this hole size roughly corresponds to the dimensions of the filament core (see Sec. 2.1.1), the measurements are limited to studies of the central spatial region and exclude the reservoir and conical emission. Subsequent pumping of the tube section after the plate reduces the pressure to about 10^{-1} mbar. At this pressure level, nonlinear beam propagation is sufficiently suppressed, stopping the filamentation process. Thus, further pulse propagation after the sharp pressure gradient is linear. By moving the lens, the filament is shifted with respect to the gas tube and, in that way, can be terminated at different positions along its length

with µm precision. In this experiment, the filamenting pulse is characterized at 9 relative positions, i.e. d = 0 mm, d = 15 mm, d = 35 mm, d = 55 mm, d = 75 mm, d = 95 mm, d = 115 mm, d = 135 mm, and d = 150 mm. d = 0 mm represents the earliest filament position, where it is the shortest, while d = 75 mm lies in the middle of the characterized filament length, and $d = 150 \,\mathrm{mm}$ describes the longest filament, i.e. the last scanned position. The gas flow inside the tube is constantly regulated to ensure a stable pressure during data acquisition. An insertable cross-hair after the filamentation tube is used as an alignment reference for the two characterizations setups. By centering the generated diffraction pattern of the cross hair on the alignment irises of the characterization setups, it is ensured that both are sampling the filament beam in the same way. Behind the crosshair, neutral density (ND) filters can be placed into the beam path. After the filters, the beam can be sent either to the d-scan setup for temporal pulse characterization (see Sec. 2.5.5) or to the SRFTS setup (see Sec. 2.5.2) for spatio-temporal pulse characterization. About 1.5 m before the SRFTS setup, a focusing mirror with f = 1 m is placed to collimate the divergent beam from the gas tube. In the path of the d-scan setup, no refocusing mirror is installed so that the divergence expands the beam for characterizing only a small central area of the transverse beam profile. The d-scan and the SRFTS setup are presented in Fig. 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Pulse characterizations setups. (a) Spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry setup for spatio-temporal pulse characterization. BS: beam splitter. (b) Dispersion scan setup for temporal pulse characterization. FS: fused silica, DCM: double-chirped mirrors, S: spectrometer. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] © The Optical Society.
For a spatio-temporal characterization of the filament beam, the SRFTS setup is used. The working principle is explained in Sec. 2.5.2 and shown in Fig. 2.6 and Fig. 4.2(a). A Mach-Zehnder-type interferometer consists of a reference and a signal arm. Here, the slightly focused incident beam is split into the respective arms by a 90:10 beam splitter. The reference beam passes a movable retroreflector mounted on a piezo stage with sub-optical-cycle precision (Piezo Systems Jena) which is used to adjust the delay between signal and reference. Subsequent to the retroreflector, the beam is tighly focused with an OAP mirror with a focal length of f = 2.5 cm. From the focal spot, the beam heavily diverges with spherical wave fronts. The reference beam recombines with the signal beam at the second 50:50 beam splitter, generating a spatial interference pattern that is recorded with a CCD camera with a chip size of $12 \text{ mm} \times 8 \text{ mm}$ and pixel size of $3.6 \mu \text{m}$ (GS3-U3-91S6M-C, FLIR Inc.). The signal beam propagates through a neutral optical density (ND) 0.4 filter (not shown), reducing the beam power by about 60%, adapting the intensity of the signal with respect to the reference beam at the CCD. The attenuation is necessary because, although the reference beam contains 90% of the initial pulse energy, without the ND filter it would have a much lower signal strength than the signal beam, due to its strong divergence. Even with the signal beam's attenuation by the ND filter, the reference is still weaker at the camera chip. The large beam size of the reference leads to a homogeneous beam distribution on the sensor, as only a very small spatial portion of it is measured with the beam camera. Due to this large expansion, the central pixel of the measured signal at the CCD corresponds to a field autocorrelation trace of the reference pulse. The signals of the other pixels inhibit the phase difference of the signal pulse with respect to the reference pulse at that position of the transverse beam profile. The CCD is positioned at a distance from the second beam splitter at which the signal beam roughly covers one third of its total size. As described in Sec. 2.5.2, the beam size at the sensor is a trade-off between spatial resolution on the one hand and coverage of the spatial frequency bandwidth on the other hand, as well as avoiding significant beam diffraction. The beam size of choice is optimal for the given experimental conditions. For a measurement with the SRFTS setup, the retroflector in the reference arm is scanned and a spatial interference pattern on the CCD is recorded for every delay step.

The other beam path after the gas tube leads to the d-scan setup for a temporal characterization of the center of the filament beam, providing the characterization of the reference of the SRFTS setup. The principle of d-scan is described in Sec. 2.5.5 and the scheme is shown in Fig. 2.8 and Fig. 4.2(b): the SH spectrum of a pulse is measured as a function of its dispersion tuned around the zero point, i.e. close to its Fourier transform limit. In the d-scan setup of the experiment, this requirement is achieved by compressing the pulse in a DCM compressor (PC70, Ultrafast Innovations GmbH). Since the DCM compressor can only introduce integer steps of negative dispersion depending on the amount of reflections on the mirrors – in the experiment the total amount of negative dispersion accounts to $\approx -320 \, \text{fs}^2$ at $800 \, \text{nm}$ – the pulse is fine-tuned with positive dispersion by inserting a pair of 8° motorized fused silica wedges into the beam. The amount of positive dispersion depends on the inserted glass thickness. The SH spectrum is generated by focusing the beam with a concave silver mirror with f = 37.5 cm into a beta barium borate (BBO) crystal and it is recorded with a fiber-based optical spectrometer. For every investigated filament position, two d-scan measurements are performed, one before the SRFTS scan and one after, by scanning the wedges and recording the SH spectrum for every wedge insertion step. Additionally, a fundamental spectrum is recorded for every d-scan measurement.

In the following, the experimental procedure for the spatio-temporal characterization of the femtosecond filament along its length is described.

4.1.2 Experimental procedure

With an alignment iris and camera before the filamentation stage the beam is aligned through the gas tube. An aluminium plate is installed into the gas tube and the residual air before and behind the plate is pumped out. The translation stage of the lens is moved to a position, for which the geometrical focus is approximately at the aluminium plate. The adjustable aperture is slightly closed, the cover above the setup removed, and the beam is sent into the setup. Without any cover, the size of the hole becomes slightly larger due to increased beam pointing fluctuations, avoiding partial beam blocking by random beam movements during data acquisition. The focused beam drills through the plate in a few seconds but the drilling is continued for another 30 min. It has been observed that after this waiting time the hole size does not increase anymore. Subsequently, the cover above the setup is put back and the chamber is filled with argon and regulated to stable conditions, while the compartment behind the plate is continuously pumped. The lens' translation stage is moved to the center. With argon inside, a filament in the gas tube is formed. The adjustable aperture is closed to an empirically found optimal opening diameter for the broadest white light and most stable filament conditions. With a bigger diameter, the filament is prone to break up into multiple filaments; with a smaller diameter the broadening is first reduced and at some point the filamentation regime abruptly ends. The chosen pressure level, the opening diameter and other experimental parameters for optimal generation conditions are described in detail in Sec. 4.1.4. The crosshair behind the gas tube is inserted and the beam is aligned to the characterization setups. After completion of the alignment, the crosshair is taken out. The lens' translation stage is moved to the measurement start position $d = 150 \,\mathrm{mm}$. At this position, the measured filament has the greatest length and the largest spectral broadening. The GDD and TOD are adjusted via the Dazzler for optimizing the broadening, also providing for the most stable filament conditions. The spectral broadening is verified with a measurement of the fundamental spectrum at the d-scan setup. Then, a scan along the filament can be performed. A d-scan trace is recorded with empirically determined scanning parameters for a good recording quality. For every d-scan measurement, an additional recording of the fundamental spectrum is taken. Subsequently, ND filters with a combined attenuation of 5 orders of magnitude are inserted behind the crosshair position to attenuate the intense filament beam for a spatio-temporal scan with the SRFTS setup. With empirically determined optimal scan settings, a scan is recorded in about 30 min. Optimal parameters for the delay stepping and the pixel binning are predetermined by the beam size on the CCD, the focal length of the refocusing mirror in the beam path of the interferometer, and the Fourier-limited pulse duration, i.e. the spectral bandwidth. Once a spatially-resolved interferogram is recorded, the ND filters behind the crosshair position are removed and another d-scan trace is recorded in order to check that the filament conditions did not change since the recording of the spatio-temporal scan. If the filament conditions did change, another spatially resolved interferogram is recorded. Once a proper set of

one spatio-temporal scan and two dispersion scans is recorded, the lens' translation stage is moved to the next filament position and the procedure is repeated until the end of the stage or the scan range of interest.

In the following, the experimental principle, showing and explaining typical measurement traces as well as the necessary data treatment after the recording of a measurement, are presented.

4.1.3 Experimental principle

The goal of the experiment is a complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length. Hence, the measurement needs to encompass the entire size of the filament core and the generated interference pattern between signal and reference beam at the SRFTS setup needs to be sampled well. Furthermore, the spatio-temporal as well as the temporal scan require a sufficient temporal resolution to resolve the filament pulse dynamics in the time domain. The measured filament pulses are sub-10 fs long and cover a maximal spectral width of 575 - 925 nm. The fundamental spectrum and laser pulse which generates the pulses, can be seen in Fig. 4.3(a) and (b), respectively. The fundamental pulse has a central wavelength of 816 nm.



Figure 4.3: (a) Fundamental laser spectrum used for the experiment, enabling the strongest spectral broadening in the filament and the corresponding Fourier-transform-limited temporal pulse profile (b).

A typical d-scan trace from the experiment is presented in Sec. 2.5.5 in Fig. 2.9. A typical spatial interference pattern of the SRFTS setup can be observed in Fig. 4.4(a) for the filament position d = 150 mm.



Figure 4.4: Binned CCD trace of the spatial interference pattern from the Fourier transform interferometer at zero delay (a) and lineout of the central pixel for d = 150 mm (b).

The binned CCD trace at central delay $\tau = 0$ fs possesses a high contrast interference pattern at the central position (x = 175, y = 175) with a decreasing contrast towards the horizontal edges at position (x = 150, y = 150) and (x = 250, y = 250). The non-interfered background signal is formed by the reference beam. Fig. 4.4(a)shows, that under real experimental conditions, the recorded reference signal is not completely homogeneous which reduces the contrast of the recorded interference pattern and lowers the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). The horizontal lineout from the binned CCD pixels at midpoint of the spatial interference trace, displayed in Fig. 4.4(b), illustrates the observed contrast of the temporal interference signal. It shows a maximum contrast of the interference signal around zero delay with adequate contrast levels ranging from around -10 fs to 10 fs. Outside this range, the contrast is reduced by a factor 4 to 5. Nonetheless, the temporal window width cannot be reduced as it determines the frequency resolution. The maximum resolved frequency is determined by temporal delay step size. Note that the actual oscillating signal is isolated from the measured interference pattern via fast Fourier transform (FFT). A total spatio-temporal scan comprises of an interferogram, such as the one in Fig. 4.4(b), for every pixel of the CCD sensor. For the measurement, a temporal scan window from $-128 \,\mathrm{fs}$ to $128 \,\mathrm{fs}$ is chosen. Since a spectrum in the spectral domain represents the Fourier transform of an interferogram in the time domain, a fundamental spectrum can be reconstructed from the interferogram. Theoretically, the fundamental spectrum of the central position of the spatial interference pattern needs to be equivalent to the fundamental spectrum measured with the d-scan setup, since both represent the reference beam, i.e. a reconstructed fundamental spectrum from the central pixel of the interference pattern can be used for cross-reference between the two methods. In practice, the limited SNR and resolution of the method let the spectrum from the SRFTS setup appear less broad than the one from d-scan, but their comparisons still provides a decent quality check. An example for a reconstructed fundamental spectrum for filament position d = 150 mm can be observed in Fig. 4.5. Note that the spectral phase in Fig. 4.5 is only available after the full spatio-temporal pulse reconstruction.



Figure 4.5: Reconstructed fundamental spectrum from the interferogram of the CCD pixel at midpoint of the interference pattern for d = 150 mm (blue) and the corresponding reconstructed spectral phase (red).

Data treatment

The original data from the SRFTS setup is contained in a three-dimensional interferogram $I(x, y, \tau)$, representing the interferogram of the reference and the signal beam, spatially resolved in the two spatial dimensions x and y, where τ is the delay in the convolution. The signal pulse $E(x, y, \omega)$ in the spectral domain is contained in the measured trace $A_{\text{cross}}(x, y, \omega)$ as described in Eq. 2.42 and Sec. 2.43 in Sec 4.1.1. Hence, first a Fourier transform of $I(x, y, \tau)$ with respect to the delay dimension is performed. By filtering the signal contribution around $+\omega_0$, $A_{\text{cross}}(x, y, \omega)$ is obtained. Subsequently, $\tilde{E}'(x, y, \omega)$, containing the curvature of the spherical wavefronts, can be calculated from $A_{\text{cross}}(x, y, \omega)$ by dividing $A_{\text{cross}}(x, y, \omega)$ by the reference field (see Eq. 2.42), assuming a homogeneous reference beam and inserting the spectral phase of the reference field, $\phi_{\rm ref}$, which is obtained by an additional measurement with the d-scan pulse characterization technique. The spectral phase of the reference is corrected with respect to the dispersion offset between the d-scan setup and the SRFTS setup by taking into account the dispersion landscape of all optical components between the two. This correction includes the DCM phase, the glass wedges and the propagation in air. In the next step, the spherical curvature of the reference field, originating from its expansion from the tight focus after the OAP, is removed from $\tilde{E}'(x,y,\omega)$ and the signal pulse in the spectral domain, $E(x,y,\omega)$, is obtained. The spherical curvature is removed by subtracting the phase of a numerically calculated spherical wave originating from a point source at the position of the OAP. In the final step of the initial data treatment, the signal field is transformed back into the temporal domain and interpolated to a new data grid that is large enough to cover the entire pulse information during the numerical backpropagation towards the termination point, but small enough to not take up unnecessary much memory space. The numerical backpropagation is presented in the following.

Numerical backpropagation

Gaining insight into the pulse properties at the termination point allows to perform an in-situ analysis of the filament dynamics by terminating the filament at different positions along its length. For the reconstruction of the filament pulse at this position of interest, $\tilde{E}(x, y, \omega; z_{\text{ter}})$, a numerical backpropagation of the signal field $\tilde{E}(x, y, \omega)$ from the SRFTS setup to the termination point of the filament needs to be performed. For this purpose, a Fourier optics plane wave propagator $K_z(\omega) = \sqrt{K_{\text{disp}}(\omega)^2 - k_x^2 - k_y^2}$ with the transverse wavenumbers k_x and k_y is applied to the field at the CCD, where the wavenumber $K_{\text{disp}}(\omega)$ takes into account the dispersion landscape between the two positions. With the propagator, the field $\tilde{E}(x, y, \omega)$ is propagated to a plane located at z via:

$$\tilde{E}(x, y, \omega; z) = \mathcal{FT}^{-1} \{ \tilde{E}(k_x, k_y, \omega) \exp(-iK_z) \},$$
(4.1)

where $\tilde{E}(k_x,k_y,\omega)$ represents the 2D Fourier transform of $\tilde{E}(x,y,\omega)$ with respect to the spatial domains x and y. For the spatial backpropgation of $E(x, y, \omega)$ from the SRFTS setup towards the termination point of the filament, the complete landscape of components affecting the spatial backprogation, i.e. the divergence of the beam, needs to be included. In this experiment, this involves the linear propagation through air towards the f = 1 m focusing mirror for beam collimation and the linear propagation in air and vacuum from the mirror towards the aluminium plate. Hence, the propagation towards the termination plate is performed in two steps: (i) from the SRFTS setup to the mirror and (ii) from the mirror to the termination point. The curvature of the mirror needs to be taken into account by applying the phase $\phi_{\text{mirror}}(x, y, \omega) = \exp(iK_{\text{disp}}(\omega)(x^2 + y^2)/2f)$ in real space and spectral domain, with f being the focal length of the mirror. With the complete electric field $E(x, y, \omega; z_{ter})$ at the termination point, the filament dynamics can be studied in situ and in detail by Fourier transforming the field to any domain of interest such as space vs. time (x, y, t), space vs. wavelength (x, y, λ) , and reciprocal space vs. wavelength (k_x, k_y, λ) , to name a few.

As introduced in Sec. 2.4, a filament inhibits very complex spatio-temporal pulse dynamics along its length. For instance, at certain positions in the filament, the leading edge of a pulse splits spatially and temporally from the main pulse due to plasma defocusing (Sec. 2.4.7). Dynamics such as the pulse splitting event, should be observable in the three-dimensional representation of the filament pulses at different propagations lengths. In the following, a brief insight into the supporting simulations for the filament dynamics of the experiment is given.

Simulations on the filament dynamics

The simulations encompass the nonlinear pulse propagation by inhibiting all important processes for describing filament dynamics, such as self-focusing and SPM due to the Kerr effect, as well as plasma generation by field-induced ionization. They support the spatio-temporal measurements and can be used also to reference the results by providing a simplified view on the relevant dynamics that can be compared to the actual observations. The nonlinear pulse propagation is simulated by a numerical integration of the unidirectional pulse propagation equation (UPPE) [Kol02] for the carrier-resolved electric field, as outlined in [Bro19]. The generation of free electrons due to ionization is described by the formulation derived by Perelomov *et al.* [Per66]. The linear and nonlinear refractive indices of argon, are derived from [Dal60] and [She90] respectively. Following the method described in [Cou08], the nonlinear refractive index of argon is calculated to $n_2 = 2 \times 10^{-19} \text{ cm}^2/\text{W}$ from the data in [She90]. A Fourier transform-limited pulse, corresponding to the experimentally measured pulse spectrum of the incident pulse sent into the gas tube (see Fig. 4.3) along with the experimentally measured beam size and pulse energy, was taken as the input pulse for the simulations.

Before the experimental results are presented in Sec. 4.2, a short overview about the experimental conditions for the presented measurement results is given in the following.

4.1.4 Experimental conditions

Three key motivations existed for the chosen experimental parameters of the filament: (i) the spectral broadening should be as large as possible, supporting the shortest possible laser pulses, which are strongly affected by nonlinear propagation dynamics, (ii) the earliest termination position of the filament should have enough spectral broadening due to nonlinear propagation dynamics so that a d-scan retrieval, requiring shorter pulses than the incident pulse sent into the gas tube, can be performed, (iii) the filament conditions should be as stable and reliable as possible. As already outlined in Sec. 4.1.2, the strongest broadening is usually also close to the most stable filament conditions. However, finding a match between strongest broadening, usually at the end of the filament, and a sufficient broadening at the beginning of the filament for d-scan pulse characterization is a trade-off. What "sufficient broadening" for the d-scan retrieval means, depends on the applied DCMs and the glass wedges for the dispersion manipulation in th d-scan setup with respect to the spectral bandwidth of the pulse of interest. The broadening and the stability of the generation conditions in general, e.g. avoiding break-up into multiple filaments, is controlled by the initial chirp of the fundamental pulse, the pulse energy, the beam size and the pulse

duration. For the experiment, the fundamental pulse was pre-chirped by -200 fs^2 to compensate for the positive dispersion of optical components before the gas tube. In this way, a nearly Fourier transform-limited pulse of 21 fs at the filament formation was achieved. Furthermore, the optimal generation conditions were found to be at a gas pressure of 1.2 bar and an iris opening of 4.2 mm, corresponding to a pulse energy of 0.7 mJ for the chosen focusing with a f = 1 m lens.

In the following, the experimental results from the d-scan and the SRFTS setup, spectrally (d-scan) and spatio-temporally (SRFTS) backpropagated to the termination plate, are presented for a length of 15 cm along the filament. Note, that a pure spectral backpropagation of the d-scan measurements towards the termination point is equivalent to an analysis of the pulse center, whereas the spatio-temporal backpropagation expands the pulse information to the whole spatial profile.

4.2 Experimental results

This section begins with the results of the spectral evolution of the filament followed by the temporal evolution of the spectrally backpropagated d-scan pulses at the termination point, i.e. the temporal evolution of the pulse center. Subsequently, an investigation of the filament dynamics in two- and three-dimensional representations at the termination point, is presented. The analysis of the filament dynamics is supported by a time-frequency analysis via short-time Fourier transform (STFT).

4.2.1 Spectral evolution and comparison with simulations

In Fig. 4.6(a), the interpolated evolution of the experimental spectrum as a function of the relative filament length d is illustrated. Fig. 4.6(b) shows the corresponding simulated spectral evolution. The experimental evolution of the filament spectra shows that the spectral width increases towards longer filament lengths. All spectra in the filament are broader than the fundamental spectrum, presented in Fig. 4.3, underlining strong broadening by SPM in the filament along with broadening by plasma generation. The broadening is stronger on the blue side than on the red side, with the spectrum of the final position d = 150 mm extending from 575 nm until 925 nm. Over the length of the filament, the spectral components on the blue side of the spectrum decrease in intensity but the blue edge extends further out. This expansion towards the blue also leads to an overall blue shift of the spectra as it is evident from Fig. 4.6. A spectral blue-shift during propagation is a typically effect



Figure 4.6: Spectral evolution of the beam center as a function of the relative filament length d in logarithmic representation: (a) experimental data interpolated from measurements at 9 different filament positions d, (b) spectral evolution of the simulated filament. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] © The Optical Society.

observed in filamentation and is caused by the asymmetrical broadening induced by the plasma generation at the leading part of the pulse because of the plasma gradient, as described in Eq. 2.18 in Sec. 2.3.1.

The simulation, with its spectral evolution shown in Fig. 4.6(b), well reproduces the observed trends in the spectral evolution of the experiment, underlining that the observed spectral evolution can be understood and reproduced by basic nonlinear filament propagation dynamics involving plasma-induced broadening.

In the following, the experimental results of the temporal evolution of the filament pulse center is presented and compared to the results of the simulations.

4.2.2 Temporal evolution and comparison with simulations

In Fig. 4.7(a), the interpolated temporal evolution of the filament pulse center in the experiment is presented as a function of the relative filament position d. Fig. 4.7(b) displays the corresponding evolution of the on-axis temporal pulses from the simulations. In the analysis of the experimental temporal evolution it has been observed, that the pulse center and the spatially averaged pulse, i.e. the resulting pulse from an integration of the three-dimensional profile over the transversal spatial dimensions x and y, possess a nearly identical behaviour. Therefore, for simplification, the temporal evolution is only shown for the pulse center, based on the spectrally backpropagated d-scan pulses.



Figure 4.7: Temporal pulse evolution as a function of the filament position d. (a) interpolated experimental evolution of the filament pulse center, (b) simulated on-axis temporal pulse evolution. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] \bigcirc The Optical Society.

Fig. 4.7(a) shows that the earliest filament position possesses a pulse duration close to the one of the fundamental pulse, indicating that the filament formation point was captured at the beginning of the characterization. The pulse consists of a main peak with a temporal duration of 19 fs and two satellite pulses, a pre-pulse 35 fs before and a post-pulse 25 fs after the main pulse. During filament propagation, the main pulse splits at around $d = 25 \,\mathrm{mm}$ and the split reaches a maximum in the middle of the length with a separation of 25 fs. The splitting remains until the end of the scan range with a final separation of around 20 fs. This behaviour is well reproduced in the simulations, which show very similar splitting dynamics with the same separation at the end of the filament. However, the simulations do not show any pre- or post-pulse features. They probably stem from optical components before the filament setup, such as mirror coatings, and appear to not be related to non-Gaussian spectrum of the incident pulse or to the filamentation dynamics. Further, the pre-pulse gives the impression that it is gaining power during filament propagation. However, this apparent power increase is a normalization side-effect, attributed to the collection efficiency of the pre-pulse varying for the different filament termination points with respect to the geometrical focus, caused by beam diffraction at the termination plate's pinhole. In contrast, the intensity decrease of the post-pulse is attributed to plasma defocusing caused by the plasma generation of the main pulse. Nonetheless, the pulse dynamics or contributions of the pre- and post-pulses cannot be determined exactly by sole observations in the spectral or temporal domain, so they might also inhibit self-driven nonlinear dynamics. The main pulse at the final filament position has a full width at half maximum (FWHM) of about 7 fs and is therefore significantly shorter than the main pulse at the beginning of the filament. This decrease in pulse duration during filament propagation clearly shows the effect of self-compression described in Sec. 2.4.6.

For a deeper understanding of the pulse evolution, a time-frequency analysis is performed on the fully spatio-temporally backpropagated electric field of the investigated pulses via STFT. In short-time Fourier transform, a sliding window function $G(t - \tau)$ is used to gate the electric field $\tilde{E}(t)$ of the pulse via:

$$E_{\rm TF}(\omega,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \tilde{E}(t')G(t-t')e^{-2\pi i\omega t'}dt', \qquad (4.2)$$

with $E_{\rm TF}$ representing the spectrogram, i.e. the time-frequency representation, of the electric field $\tilde{E}(t)$ via the gating with the window function. The actual shape of the window function is chosen to fit best the analysis of interest. Typical window functions are the Gaussian, the Kaiser, and the Tukey window. In addition to the actual window type, the function has the degree of freedom of a so-called "shape factor". Time-frequency analysis enables to analyze the spectral content of different temporal slices of a pulse. However, a time-frequency analysis inherently is a compromise between the resolution in the temporal and spectral domains. The better the resolution in one of the two domains, the worse it is in the other domain. Due to the connection of the two domains, this type of analysis is perfectly suited for an analysis of STCs, as temporal pulse components with a strongly different background in nonlinear dynamics will show discrepancies in their spectral content. Further, the main temporal component driving the nonlinear dynamics during filamentation can be traced [Akt08]. In Fig. 4.8(b), the spectrogram of the pulse center of the last filament position $d = 150 \,\mathrm{mm}$ is illustrated, with the spectral and temporal projections in Fig. 4.8(a) and Fig. 4.8(c), respectively.



Figure 4.8: Spectrogram of the filament pulse for d = 150 mm. Absolute square of the short-time Fourier transform of the field $E(x_c, y_c, t)$ at the center of the filament (b). Projections on the frequency- (a), and time axis (c). The frequency $\omega_0 = 2.31 \text{ rad/fs}$ corresponds to the central frequency of the input spectrum. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] © The Optical Society.

For the time-frequency analysis of this experiment, a 34 fs long Kaiser window with a shape factor of 10 is chosen, providing a good trade-off between the spectral and temporal resolution, visible in the respective projection plots in comparison to the backpropagated spectrum and temporal pulse. The spectrogram clearly shows that the pre-pulse at -35 fs has a non-broadened spectrum, supporting the assumption that it is not contributing significantly to the nonlinear pulse dynamics. In contrast, the time-frequency analysis does not have enough temporal resolution to resolve the splitting of the main pulse but can reveal that its spectral width is significantly increased compared to the pulse spectrum at the beginning of the filament visible in Fig. 4.6. In summary, the findings about the filament dynamics via time-frequency analysis illustrate the potential of this method for the analysis of filamentation dynamics.

In the following, the results of the spatio-temporal evolution of the laser pulse during the propagation in the filament are presented in different two-dimensional representations of the various pulse domains, expanding the insights about the dynamics from the sole spectral and temporal analysis.

4.2.3 Filament dynamics in two-dimensional representations

The previous presentation of the spectral and temporal evolution of the filament has demonstrated that complex nonlinear propagation dynamics are not well recognized by observing these two domains separately. Via time-frequency analysis, combining temporal and spectral analysis, it could be shown that the disparate temporal features of the filament pulse at the final position d = 150 mm were influenced differently strong by the previous nonlinear pulse propagation. The great advantage of the experimental method presented here is that, with the complete spatio-temporal characterization of the filament pulses, the analysis can be expanded to any relevant domain or combination of domains, greatly supporting the analysis of the filament pulse dynamics. Fig. 4.9 shows an overview of eight different relevant combinations of domains for the last filament position d = 150 mm. Note that x_c and y_c correspond to the coordinates of the beam center along the respective transverse spatial coordinates x and y.



Figure 4.9: Normalized pulse representations of the last filament position in different two-dimensional combinations. (a) Spatial profile along the spatial dimensions x and y. (b) Spatio-temporal profile with respect to the spatial dimension x for y_c . (c) Spatio-spectral profile with respect to the spatial dimension x for y_c . (d) Reciprocal-spectral profile with respect to the reciprocal dimension k_x for $k_y = 0$. (e) Reciprocal pulse profile along the reciprocal dimensions k_x and k_y . (f) Spatio-temporal profile with respect to the spatial dimension y for x_c . (g) Spatio-spectral profile with respect to the spatial dimension y for x_c . (h) Reciprocal-spectral profile with respect to the reciprocal dimension k_y for $k_x = 0$.

Depending on the analysis of interest, the required domains can be combined; the method gives access to all. In order to trace the dynamics of the filament along its length, the analysis needs to be repeated for different positions d. In the following, for simplicity, the analysis is reduced to the four filament positions d = 15 mm, d = 55 mm, d = 95 mm, and d = 135 mm and to the domains x - t, $x - \lambda$, and $k_x/k_0 - \lambda$. The respective plots for the orthogonal dimensions y and k_y show similar dynamics and can therefore be omitted. For all the three presented sets of domains, the four sub-plots are normalized to their global maximum.

In Fig. 4.10, the evolution of the x-t-domain, for y_c , is shown.



Figure 4.10: Temporal pulse evolution along the filament spatially resolved along the x direction, for y_c . Important elements are highlighted by colored ticks. A splitting of the main pulse (green and red ticks) can be distinguished from a pre-pulse (blue) and post-pulse (yellow). Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] © The Optical Society.

The most important elements known from the temporal evolution, the pre- and postpulse as well as the main pulse, are also accurately resolved in this two-dimensional representation. Whereas the main pulse clearly splits during propagation (its subpulses are marked in red and green), the post-pulse (marked blue and yellow, respectively) does not significantly change its temporal behaviour. The pre-pulse shows a small splitting event that, however, is not as clear and widely separated at the end of the filament than the one for the main pulse. This observation supports once more the assumption that the pre-pulse is not significantly contributing to the nonlinear pulse propagation. Hence, as described in Sec. 4.7: since the pre-pulse is not drilling on the metal plate, the pinhole of the termination plate has a significant influence on its transversal beam size, because in that way the beam size depends on the relative distance of the filament position to the geometrical focus. Nonetheless, the pinhole is not affecting the observed temporal properties since these rely on the undisturbed center of the pulse profile only, due to the d-scan characterization. As the main pulse self-focuses during propagation, its beam size is well sampled during propagation. The post-pulse is likely defocused by the plasma, explaining its intensity loss over the filament length.

In the following, the spatio-spectral evolution along the x- λ -domain for y_c is presented in Fig. 4.11.



Figure 4.11: Beam size evolution as a function of the wavelength along the length of the filament for y_c . The dashed white line indicates the center of mass of the normalized intensity distribution with a threshold of 10%. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] \mathbb{C} The Optical Society.

The spatio-spectral pulse evolution clearly shows a consistent increase of spectral evolution towards the blue side of the spectrum. In the beginning of the filament the spectral power is concentrated at around 800 nm but during further filament propagation it is redistributed towards the red side. The initial main peak roughly has a constant beam size during propagation, whereas the beam size of the red edge clearly increases. The blue edge, which is generated close and in front of the pulse peak in time and space, under the strong influence of self-focusing, preserves a small beam size over the length of the filament. The center of mass, indicated by the dashed white line with an intensity threshold of 10%, highlights a pulse feature at around 770 nm that slightly shifts towards the red and persists throughout the whole length of propagation, being clearly off-center with respect to the main pulse distribution. As the shift already exists at the beginning of the filament, it is probably an artefact from the fundamental pulse, potentially from the pulse compressor. Nonetheless, such an observation is a clear STC and its observation is only possible with a complete spatio-temporal characterization, showing the potential of the characterization method. In addition to the shifted pulse feature at around 770 nm, a slight spatial chirp can be observed towards the end of the filament.

In the following, the angular spread in k_x -direction, for $k_y = 0$, as a function of the wavelength is analyzed, illustrated in Fig. 4.12.



as a function of the wavelength for $k_y = 0$. The dashed white line indicates the center of mass of the normalized intensity distribution with a threshold of 10%. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] \bigcirc The Optical Society.

The angular spread is approximately similar for all wavelengths, showing a decreasing trend during filament propagation. In the beginning of the filament, the intensity is nearly equally distributed over the spectral dimension. During filament propagation, it is shifted towards the red edge of the distribution. Further, in accordance with the spatio-spectral evolution (see Fig. 4.11), the center of mass (dashed line) shows that there is a feature at 770 nm, which is significantly shifted with respect to the mean angular spread of the distribution, here indicating a variation in the propagation angle for this particular wavelength.

Overall the investigation of the filament dynamics in two-dimensional representations reveals that the nonlinear propagation may lead to complex effects on the pulse over the length of the filament. Fortunately, these dynamics can be resolved with the presented complete spatio-temporal characterization method, underlining the need of it for femtosecond filamentation analysis.

In the following, the filament analysis is extended to a three-dimensional representation, a novelty enabled by the presented characterization method.

4.2.4 Filament dynamics in three dimensions

A complete spatio-temporal characterization of a pulse is three-dimensional, with the field amplitude and phase of the pulse given in the two transversal spatial dimensions x and y as well as the temporal dimension t or, in reciprocal space, given in the two

reciprocal dimensions k_x and k_y along with the spectral dimension λ . Hence, also a complete three-dimensional pulse representation can be created from a measurement method such as the one presented in this thesis. To the best of the author's knowledge, this is the first representation of this kind for a femtosecond filament.

In the plots presented here, the intensity profile is normalized and presented in "shells" with a colour code. Every shell represents an intensity step of 25%, ranging from 25% to 75%. A shell of 25%, for instance, comprises all spatiotemporal parts of the pulse that have an intensity of at least 25% of the maximum. Hence the shells become smaller for a higher intensity level. The color-code of a shell consists of a saturation and transparency series of red. The more saturated and less transparent the red, the higher is the relative intensity, with the nontransparent and completely saturated red representing the intensity range from 75%to 100%. Fig. 4.13 shows the three-dimensional intensity representation of the pulse, i.e. $|E(x, y, t)|^2$, for the last filament position $d = 150 \,\mathrm{mm}$. The visible impact of nonlinear pulse propagation dynamics, such as the pulse splitting, is the strongest for that filament position, making it a good candidate for a demonstration of this plot type. Along with the three-dimensional representation of the pulse in reciprocal space (not shown), i.e. $|E(k_x, k_y, \lambda)|^2$, a complete view on the filament pulse at a certain termination position can be given with just two plots. Note that due to the numerical backpropagation, this spatio-temporal representation can be created for any beam position between the filament termination point and the characterization setup. In that way, also beam parameters such as the Strehl ratio [Mah83], a measure of the focus quality, can be obtained by this approach. The three-dimensional representation reproduces the observations made for this filament position in the temporal analysis shown in Fig. 4.7. Note that in Fig. 4.13, zero-delay is positioned at the center of the main pulse. The pre-pulse can be clearly observed, as well as the temporally separated component from the main pulse due to the splitting event. While, the intensity shells represent the fully three-dimensional view on the filament pulse, the planes of the plot show its projections into the respective domains (x,t), (y,t), x = (x,y), x = (xrepresentations.



Figure 4.13: Normalized three-dimensional representation of the longest filament, d = 150 mm, in real space. The intensity is shown in shells of 25 % steps, ranging from 25 % to 75 % of the maximum intensity. Reprinted with permission from [Neo22] \bigcirc The Optical Society.

Fig. 4.13 demonstrates, that the three-dimensional view on filament pulses serves as a powerful and convenient tool to analyze the major dynamics of a filamenting pulse. However, local fluctuations of the beam properties at different positions across the spatial beam profile might not easily be observed with this plot type. Therefore, the homogeneity of the pulse properties over transverse beam profile for the last filament position $d = 150 \,\mathrm{mm}$ is analyzed via the earlier-introduced time frequency analysis. In Fig. 4.14 the spectrograms of individual spots within the transverse spatial beam profile of this filament position are presented, with Fig. 4.14(d) being identical to Fig. 4.8, showing the spectrogram of the pulse center. The time-frequency analysis of the transverse beam profile unveils small differences in the spatio-temporal properties across the beam. While the top area of the profile is very similar to the center, having been described earlier in Sec. 4.2.2 and visualized in Fig. 4.8, the left, right, and bottom areas possess clearly different spectrograms. On the left, the pre-pulse and the main pulse have a similar weight in relative intensity, in fact the pre-pulse is even slightly more intense. The spectrogram of the bottom area shows an equal relative intensity of the main and the pre-pulse and, additionally, has more pulse energy retained in the temporal pulse background. However, the



Figure 4.14: Normalized spectrograms of individual spots within the transverse spatial beam profile for the last filament position d = 150 mm. The frequency $\omega_0 = 2.31 \text{ rad/fs}$ corresponds to the central frequency of the input spectrum.

strongest deviation from the center is present in the right area of the transverse beam profile. Not only is the pre-pulse clearly more intense than the main pulse, but also a post-pulse feature at around 25 fs with significant signal strength can be observed. Nonetheless, for all spectrograms of the different spatial positions, the main pulse has the broadest spectrum and is therefore the clear driver of nonlinear pulse propagation across the whole beam profile. The asymmetry in the spatio-temporal properties of the transverse beam profile of the last filament position is, in a weaker distinctness, already observed for the first filament position and is likely already present in the fundamental beam sent in to the filamentation stage. However, the nonlinear filament dynamics emphasize the asymmetry in the spatio-temporal properties, indicating the need for adequate beam cleaning before using filament beams for experiments that are sensitive to the beam profile. The often mentioned filamentation effect "self-cleaning" that leads to beam cleaning of a filamenting pulse, described in Sec. 2.1.2, is not obvious for the STCs that can be observed with this experimental method.

In the following a brief summary and discussion of all experimental results presented in this chapter is given, evaluating the performance of the presented complete spatiotemporal characterization method for femtosecond filaments.

4.3 Discussion and summary

The complete spatio-temporal pulse characterization technique introduced in this chapter provides a unique access into the dynamics of femtosecond filamentation. Via spectral and temporal analysis it is revealed, that the generated argon filament shows typical spectral broadening of the pulse spectrum over its length as well as self-compression of the main pulse. Further, the main pulse splits during nonlinear propagation, a property of the filament that, along with the spectral broadening, can be reproduced in simulations based on the experimental parameters. In addition to the splitting of the main pulse, a pre-pulse can be observed that persists over the whole length of the filament. With existing filament characterization schemes it could not have been clarified, whether, or to what degree, the pre-pulse contributes to the nonlinear pulse propagation dynamics. However, with this method, the analysis can be expanded to spatio-temporal properties of the pulse, enabling a deeper analysis of the filament dynamics. Via time-frequency analysis, it can be shown that the spectrum of the pre-pulse is unbroadened, i.e. the pre-pulse does not reach the intensity required for contributing significantly to the nonlinear propagation. With the expansion of the analysis to combinations of two-dimensional pulse representations, a STC at around 770 nm is observable in the spatio-spectral and reciprocal-spectral domain. A study of the transverse spatial beam profile of the last filament position, via time-frequency analysis, unveils asymmetries in its spatio-temporal properties, while the three-dimensional representation provides an excellent overview over the macroscopic pulse properties. It reproduces pulse features observed in the earlier temporal and spatio-temporal visualizations of that termination position. With the filament characterization method presented here, a complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length could be performed.

Overall it can be concluded, that this method is a universal tool for the characterization of femtosecond filaments and a good addition to earlier methods. Current drawbacks of the method are given by the pinhole size of the termination plate and the limitations on the characterizable pulse durations given by the d-scan method. Further, for a typical amplifier system with a repetition rate in the kHz range, the method inherently is multi-shot. The current pinhole size of the termination plate prohibits the analysis of the reservoir as well as of the conical emission and sometimes, depending on the distance of the investigated filament position with respect to the geometrical focus, partially blocks portions of the pulse which does not have a high enough intensity to self-focus. This partial beam blocking potentially leads to misreadings on the relative intensity of less-intense pulse features and limits the observable reciprocal beam space, also referred to as " k_{\perp} -space". The current configuration of the d-scan setup limits the characterization to filament pulses with a Fourier-transform-limited pulse duration of less than 10-15 fs. The analysis of longer pulses is theoretically possible, though, by adapting the chirp management by the wedges and the DCMs. However, despite the mentioned limitations of this method, it proves to be an optimal tool to investigate the effect of spatio-temporal pulse shaping on the femtosecond filament propagation dynamics. This method can lead to a very detailed understanding of filament dynamics with the possible goal to spatio-temporally shape the filament to ones own desire with regard to any application of interest.

CHAPTER 5

Conclusion and outlook

5.1 Conclusion

In this thesis, it was shown that femtosecond filamentation can be used to study the temporal evolution of laser-induced plasma via TH enhancement. Furthermore, a novel method for the complete spatio-temporal characterization of filaments along their length was introduced. Its potential in revealing complex spatio-temporal dynamics was demonstrated. Both experiments combined could show that a femtosecond filament is a truly versatile nonlinear propagation phenomenon, suitable both as a tool to investigate fundamental physics and for a broad range of applications. Its utilization requires comprehensive characterization of the filament pulse propagation dynamics by a complete spatio-temporal characterization method such as the one introduced in this thesis.

In Chapter 3 it was shown, that plasma-induced TH enhancement is a powerful method for the direct determination of the temporal evolution of laser-induced plasma. In an interferometric scheme, in which the beam in one arm is loosely focused to generate a femtosecond filament and the beam in the other arm (called pump beam) is tightly focused to generate a dense plasma spot, the TH enhancement was measured as a function of the delay between the two arms. The investigation encompassed measurements in the gas atmospheres of the atomic gases helium, argon, and xenon as well as in the atmospheres of the molecular gases carbon dioxide, nitrogen and air (as a mostly molecular gas mixture). A parameter study, comprising the pulse energy, the polarization of the light, the pulse duration, and the gas pressure was performed. For the investigated range of these parameters, they showed no significant influence

on the TH enhancement. Hence, measurements in the atmospheres of the different gases that were performed at slightly different pressures and pulse energies could be compared. Severe differences between the decay of the plasmas of the two gas types were found. Whereas the molecular gas plasmas decay directly after having reached the maximum plasma density in a similar time frame of about 10 ps to 1/e, the atomic gas plasmas decay not earlier than after $\approx 440 \,\mathrm{ps}$ (in the case of xenon). Further, the atomic gas plasmas show a large spread in their respective lifetimes with the lifetime of argon being around 4.5 ns and a lifetime of helium being greater than the maximal scan range of about 5 ns. The striking discrepancy between the decays of the plasmas of the two gas types and between the atomic gases is explained by differences in their energy state density affecting dynamics of the recombination process: the rate of the three-body electron-ion collisions, the dominating recombination process for femtosecond laser-induced plasma, is strongly nonlinearly dependent on the inverse of the free electron temperature. Hence, in plasmas in which the free electron temperature decreases faster than in others, also the recombination rate is severely larger, i.e. the plasma lifetime is shorter. The decrease in the free electron temperature is driven by non-recombining elastic collisions between free electrons and inelastic collisions between free electrons and heavy particles, i.e. neutral atoms and molecules as well as charged ions. Due to the existence of vibrational and rotational levels in molecular gases, the state density is severely higher than for atomic gases, leading to a higher cross section for nonrecombining inelastic electron-heavy particle collisions. The same principle applies to the atomic gases: xenon has a higher state density than argon, which again has a higher state density than helium. The inelastic electron-heavy particle collisional cross section is therefore higher from xenon to helium. In addition to the plasma evolution studies, the TH enhancement itself was investigated in a temporal window of around 2.5 ps from zero delay. An unexpected local minimum after the maximum of enhancement, that is not resolved in the plasma evolution scans with a larger temporal stepping, was found for all gases. The contrast between the first peak and the subsequent minimum shows a nonlinear dependency on the pulse energy. Furthermore, the onset of TH enhancement is pulse energy dependent: the higher the pulse energy of the beam that generates the plasma spot, the earlier in time is

5.1 Conclusion

the onset. In contrast to the decay in TH enhancement on larger timescales that can clearly be attributed to be caused by the laser-induced plasma, the fundamental mechanism for TH enhancement at short timescale, is not entirely clear. It is assumed that the observed dynamics are mainly caused by a two-beam coupling process in which the pump-driven Kerr nonlinearity shows a non-instantaneous response affecting the filament pulse. As the Kerr response is intensity-dependent, there is also a dependency of the TH enhancement dynamics on the pump pulse energy. However, also plasma expansion dynamics might affect the observed trends.

In Chapter 4, a novel method for a complete spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length is presented. A femtosecond filament in argon atmosphere with a length of 20 cm is terminated at 9 different positions over a distance of 15 cm along its length. The filamenting pulse is characterized via spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry in combination with dispersion scan. The measured spatio-temporally-resolved filament pulse profiles are numerically backpropagated to the termination point via a Fourier optics plane wave propagator. In this way, the method provides an in-situ four-dimensional analysis of the filament propagation dynamics. The access to this complete filament pulse information is used to analyze the filament in one-, two- and three-dimensional pulse representations. The one-dimensional analysis is performed in the temporal and spectral domain for the pulse center, as the spatially-averaged pulse shows the same trend. The results are compared to filament pulse simulations based on the unidirectional pulse propagation equation. An excellent agreement between the measured and the simulated spectra and a good agreement between the temporal evolution in the simulations and the measurement is found. The spectral evolution shows a clear broadening towards longer filaments, while the temporal evolution shows a pulse splitting of the main pulse that manifests as a clear double pulse with a separation of around 20 fs at the end of the filament scan range. In the measurement also a pre- and a post-pulse are observed. Via short-time Fourier transform analysis, applied to the filament pulse at the end of the scan range, enabling a spectral analysis of different time segments of a temporal distribution, it is verified that only the main pulse is significantly broadened. From that analysis it is concluded, that the main pulse dominates the nonlinear pulse propagation. Via two-dimensional pulse representations in the form

x-t (spatio-temporal), $x-\lambda$ (spatio-spectral) and $k_x/k_0-\lambda$ (reciprocal-spectral) at four equidistant filament lengths, a more in-depth analysis of the spatio-temporal properties of the filament pulse propagation is performed. The spatio-temporal pulse evolution shows, that the main pulse shortens during its propagation along the filament and becomes more intense. Furthermore, the pulse splitting of the main pulse and the temporal separation of the respective sub-pulses, already observed in the pure temporal pulse representation, is clearly reproduced. The spatio-spectral filament pulse analysis reveals an anomaly at around 770 nm that is off-center with respect to the center of mass of the spatio-spectral pulse distribution. The shift of the pulse feature increases towards the end of the filament. This pulse feature, assumed to be an artefact from the pulse compressor of the amplifier system, is a clear indication of a spatio-temporal coupling in the filament pulse properties. Its detection demonstrates that the presented method is capable of revealing complex filament propagation dynamics. In addition to the shifted spectral feature, a slight spatial chirp of the filament pulse can be observed towards the end of the filament. The analysis of the angular spread as a function of the wavelength over length of the filament reveals that the pulse feature at 770 nm has a slightly different propagation angle than the rest of the distribution, underlining that it originates from before the generation of the filament. The novel three-dimensional representation of a filament pulse in real space, in this case of the last filament position, provides a comprehensive overview of the pulse properties that were retrieved from the previous one- and two-dimensional filament pulse representations. A short-time Fourier transform analysis of the filament pulse properties along the transversal beam profile, at the end of the characterized filament length, exposes an asymmetry towards the bottom and the left and right edges of the distribution. There, the pre-pulse, despite the main pulse still having the broadest spectrum, becomes as intense as the main pulse. As in the case of the anomaly in the spatio-spectral pulse analysis, it is assumed that the asymmetry in the transversal beam profile also originates from the laser amplifier before the filament stage.

5.2 Outlook

The determination of the lifetime of femtosecond laser-induced plasma via TH enhancement proves to be a straightforward and simple approach for that investigation of fundamental physics. The major limitations of the current method are given by the maximal temporal window that can be scanned and the fact that only the relative trend of the temporal plasma evolution, i.e. of the free electron density, can be analyzed. No absolute free electron density can be attributed to any temporal delay in the measurement at the moment. By extending the method towards a determination of the absolute free electron density, for instance by combining it to existing methods that are capable of that (see Sec. 2.3.4), a quantitative analysis of the temporal plasma evolution can be performed. These methods even provide some transverse spatial resolution on the free electron density, potentially adding a completely new dimension to the laser-induced temporal plasma analysis. Another important plasma parameter is the free electron temperature, relevant especially for the plasma recombination dynamics. By establishing a time-resolved detection of the plasma fluorescence spectral distribution, the evolution of the free electron temperature can be studied simultaneously to the one of the free electron density: the plasma temperature leads to a Planck distribution of the fluorescence spectrum from which the former can be derived. Since the fluorescence spectrum will also contain characteristic line emissions of the ions and neutral atoms and molecules involved in the recombination process, the time-resolved spectral analysis will also show what constituents of the plasma are present at which moment during the plasma recombination. This information will deepen the understanding of the involved recombination processes. By extending the current method to measurements of the absolute free electron density and temperature, the plasma recombination dynamics can be analyzed comprehensively and new insights of the involved dynamics can be gained. Simply expanding the scan range of the current setup, will already answer the question of the lifetime of helium plasma and it can be compared to the ones of argon and xenon plasma. In the perspective of the analysis of the rare gases, it will also be interesting to determine the lifetime of neon and krypton plasmas. Additionally, it will be interesting to measure the lifetime of molecular oxygen plasma

and compare its lifetime to the one of air plasma. A very similar lifetime is expected. For the analysis of the fundamental mechanisms of plasma recombination, it will be interesting to extend the parameter analysis to a wider range of values. At some point, the observed independence of the plasma evolution on these parameters must end and it will be interesting to determine when that takes place for every studied parameter and with which relation to its tuning. Likewise, a clearer analysis of the involved pulse intensity is crucial, so that it can be added as an independent parameter to the existing parameter set and be distinguished from the pulse energy. In terms of the plasma lifetime determination method itself, it will be compelling to establish it not only in a gaseous environment but also in transparent dense media, e.g. in water. In that way, the amount of materials whose plasma can be studied could be greatly expanded. Besides the possibilities to expand the analysis of the plasma evolution, it is also intriguing to further investigate the TH enhancement itself. The conversion efficiency from the fundamental pulse energy to TH pulse energy could be quantified and ways to increase it be studied, since TH enhancement offers the possibility for the generation of ultrashort UV pulses with a relatively high pulse energy. Therefore, also the spatial properties of the enhanced TH beam should be investigated and possible parameter dependencies be studied.

The presented complete spatio-temporal characterization method of a filamenting pulse along the length of the filament proofs to be capable of determining complex nonlinear propagation dynamics. The method can easily be extended by scanning more filament positions than the 9 that were scanned in the presented experiment. By increasing the amount of scanned positions, the dynamics can be studied in more detail and, for instance with the three-dimensional pulse representation, a movie of the pulse filament evolution can be generated. Additionally, the parameters pulse energy and duration as well as gas pressure can be tuned more to investigate their influence on the filament dynamics. In this way, the validity of the scaling invariance of femtosecond filament proposed in [Hey16] can be examined. In addition to the investigation of these intrinsic filament parameters, the spatial and temporal profile of the fundamental pulse sent into the filament stage could be shaped, for instance into the increasingly interesting form of a cylindrical vector beam profile [Zha09; Nai16], and the influence on the filament dynamics be studied. In combination with a pulse shaper for amplitude and phase, the current method could be integrated into an optimization loop to tailor the filament pulse properties for any application of interest. Especially interesting would be the optimization of intensity spikes which could enable the generation of isolated attosecond pulses as proposed in [Cou08; Gaa09]. Alternatively, the filament pulse could be optimized for the generation of high order harmonics. Also simulations could be integrated into that optimization process in order to predict potentially interesting parameter sets for the generation of a filament that can be examined in the experiment. On the long run, this approach might enable the generation of tailored filaments proposed by simulations. Furthermore, the existing method can be applied to other gases than argon and it can easily be adapted to short- and large-scale filaments or two-colour filaments that have fascinating properties such as possibility to generate intense THz-radiation [Kou20]. Challenging but interesting would be to send a second fundamental pulse, or even multiple pulses, into the filamentation stage to generate, for instance, a plasma grating structure at the termination point and investigate the influence of filament interaction on the pulse dynamics. For further analysis of the impact of laser-induced plasma on the filament dynamics, e.g. in the aforementioned case of the plasma grating structure, an additional characterization method could be integrated into the current setup to determine the absolute free electron density along the length of the filament. This analysis would also support the simulations of filament dynamics, as the free electron density is an important parameter for any filament simulation. Furthermore, every application targeting at the electric properties of a filament, such as electric guiding of external discharges as in the case of the "laser lightning rod project" [Pro21], that aims at guiding atmospheric lightning, would benefit from the study of the free electron density. A fascinating modification of the setup, on the long run, would be to install a single-shot characterization scheme, which is currently not possible due to the necessary scanning and integration of multiple images in the spatially-resolved Fourier spectrometry setup, while a single-shot d-scan setup could be installed already. Moreover, due to its small size, the pinhole in the termination plate prohibits an analysis of the filament reservoir and the conical emission and it

blocks parts of the filament core that do not, or at least not significantly, self-focus during filament propagation and exceed the hole size. A re-design of the current termination idea, for instance with a thin glass plate instead of a metal plate could already bring improvements since the glass would be transparent also for the outer parts of the beam distribution with the reservoir and the conical emission. Another idea for improvement on the termination approach would be to install a beam steering setup for the filament stage. By a controlled movement of the beam, the hole in the termination plate could be enlarged slightly and the aforementioned problems with its current size be reduced, while still maintaining a sharp pressure gradient for the filament termination. In this way, also a larger k-space of the filament pulse in the core could be measured which would further improve the spatio-temporal analysis of the filament, allowing to resolve structures like the so-called X-waves in the nonlinear regime [Con03], attributed to observations made in femtosecond filaments in water [Maj11] and air [Fac08]. With a termination in form of a glass plate, the characterization method might also be adapted to filaments in water. Transparent solids would already offer a termination surface at their end facet for filamentation inside them and could already be integrated into the current setup.

In summary, it can be said that both experiments possess various opportunities to advance the understanding of fundamental physical processes in the strong field regime of nonlinear optics and push the field of femtosecond filaments into many new directions for further experiments and applications.

Bibliography

- [Ada63] ADAMS, J. B., M. A. RUDERMAN, and C.-H. WOO: 'Neutrino Pair Emission by a Stellar Plasma'. *Phys. Rev.* (1963), vol. 129(3): pp. 1383– 1390. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.129.1383 (cit. on p. 19).
- [Akö01] AKÖZBEK, N., M. SCALORA, C. M. BOWDEN, and S. L. CHIN: 'White-light continuum generation and filamentation during the propagation of ultra-short laser pulses in air'. *Opt. Commun.* (2001), vol. 191(3): pp. 353–362. DOI: 10.1016/S0030-4018(01)01113-0 (cit. on pp. 19, 38).
- [Akö02] AKÖZBEK, N., A. IWASAKI, A. BECKER, M. SCALORA, S. L. CHIN, and C. M. BOWDEN: 'Third-Harmonic Generation and Self-Channeling in Air Using High-Power Femtosecond Laser Pulses'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2002), vol. 89(14): p. 143901. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.89.143901 (cit. on pp. 4, 37, 38).
- [Akö06] AKÖZBEK, N., S. A. TRUSHIN, A. BALTUŠKA, W. FUSS, E. GOULIEL-MAKIS, K. KOSMA, F. KRAUSZ, S. PANJA, M. UIBERACKER, W. E. SCHMID, A. BECKER, M. SCALORA, and M. BLOEMER: 'Extending the supercontinuum spectrum down to 200 nm with few-cycle pulses'. New J. Phys. (2006), vol. 8(9): pp. 177–177. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/8/9/177 (cit. on p. 19).
- [Akt07] AKTURK, S., C. D'AMICO, M. FRANCO, A. COUAIRON, and A. MYSY-ROWICZ: 'Pulse shortening, spatial mode cleaning, and intense terahertz generation by filamentation in xenon'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2007), vol. 76(6): p. 063819. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.76.063819 (cit. on p. 12).

[Akt08]	AKTURK, S., A. COUAIRON, M. FRANCO, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Spec-
	trogram representation of pulse self compression by filamentation'. Opt.
	<i>Express</i> (2008), vol. 16(22): pp. 17626–17636. DOI: 10.1364/0E.16.
	017626 (cit. on p. 103).

- [Akt10] AKTURK, S., X. GU, P. BOWLAN, and R. TREBINO: 'Spatio-temporal couplings in ultrashort laser pulses'. J. Opt. (2010), vol. 12(9): p. 093001.
 DOI: 10.1088/2040-8978/12/9/093001 (cit. on pp. 40-42).
- [Ale16] ALEKSANDROV, N. L., S. B. BODROV, M. V. TSAREV, A. A. MURZANEV, YU. A. SERGEEV, YU. A. MALKOV, and A. N. STEPANOV: 'Decay of femtosecond laser-induced plasma filaments in air, nitrogen, and argon for atmospheric and subatmospheric pressures'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2016), vol. 94(1): p. 013204. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.94.013204 (cit. on p. 22).
- [Amm86] AMMOSOV, M. V.: 'Tunnel ionization of complex atoms and of atomic ions in an alternating electromagnetic field'. Sov. Phys. JETP (1986), vol. 64(6): pp. 1191–1194 (cit. on pp. 24, 25).
- [App21] APPI, E., C. C. PAPADOPOULOU, J. L. MAPA, C. JUSKO, P. MOSEL, A. SCHOENBERG, J. STOCK, T. FEIGL, S. ALIŠAUSKAS, T. LANG, C. M. HEYL, B. MANSCHWETUS, M. BRACHMANSKI, M. BRAUNE, H. LINDENBLATT, F. TROST, S. MEISTER, P. SCHOCH, A. TRABATTONI, F. CALEGARI, R. TREUSCH, R. MOSHAMMER, I. HARTL, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Synchronized beamline at FLASH2 based on highorder harmonic generation for two-color dynamics studies'. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* (2021), vol. 92(12): p. 123004. DOI: 10.1063/5.0063225 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Aug12] AUGUSTE, T., O. GOBERT, C. F. DUTIN, A. DUBROUIL, E. MÉVEL,
 S. PETIT, E. CONSTANT, and D. DESCAMPS: 'Application of optical-field-ionization-induced spectral broadening in helium gas to the post-compression of high-energy femtosecond laser pulses'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2012), vol. 29(6): pp. 1277–1286. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.29.001277 (cit. on p. 2).

- [Bai12] BAI, Y., L. SONG, R. XU, C. LI, P. LIU, Z. ZENG, Z. ZHANG, H. LU, R. LI, and Z. XU: 'Waveform-Controlled Terahertz Radiation from the Air Filament Produced by Few-Cycle Laser Pulses'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2012), vol. 108(25): p. 255004. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.255004 (cit. on p. 37).
- [Bal20] BALLA, P., A. B. WAHID, I. SYTCEVICH, C. GUO, A.-L. VIOTTI, L. SILLETTI, A. CARTELLA, S. ALISAUSKAS, H. TAVAKOL, U. GROSSE-WORTMANN, A. SCHÖNBERG, M. SEIDEL, A. TRABATTONI, B. MAN-SCHWETUS, T. LANG, F. CALEGARI, A. COUAIRON, A. L'HUILLIER, C. L. ARNOLD, I. HARTL, and C. M. HEYL: 'Postcompression of picosecond pulses into the few-cycle regime'. Opt. Lett. (2020), vol. 45(9): pp. 2572–2575. DOI: 10.1364/0L.388665 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Bat10] BATES, P. K., O. CHALUS, and J. BIEGERT: 'Ultrashort pulse characterization in the mid-infrared'. *Opt. Lett.* (2010), vol. 35(9): pp. 1377–1379. DOI: 10.1364/0L.35.001377 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Béj07] BÉJOT, P. et al.: '32 TW atmospheric white-light laser'. Appl. Phys. Lett. (2007), vol. 90(15): p. 151106. DOI: 10.1063/1.2722564 (cit. on pp. 3, 8).
- [Bék03] BÉKÉSI, J., J.-H. KLEIN-WIELE, and P. SIMON: 'Efficient submicron processing of metals with femtosecond UV pulses'. Appl. Phys. A (2003), vol. 76(3): pp. 355–357. DOI: 10.1007/s00339-002-1820-y (cit. on p. 40).
- [Ber03] BERGÉ, L., C. GOUÉDARD, J. SCHJØDT-ERIKSEN, and H. WARD: 'Filamentation patterns in Kerr media vs. beam shape robustness, nonlinear saturation and polarization states'. *Physica D* (2003), vol. 176(3): pp. 181– 211. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-2789(02)00740-6 (cit. on p. 13).
- [Ber04] BERGÉ, L., S. SKUPIN, F. LEDERER, G. MÉJEAN, J. YU, J. KASPARIAN,
 E. SALMON, J. P. WOLF, M. RODRIGUEZ, L. WÖSTE, R. BOURAYOU,
 and R. SAUERBREY: 'Multiple Filamentation of Terawatt Laser Pulses

in Air'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2004), vol. 92(22): p. 225002. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.92.225002 (cit. on pp. 12, 13).

- [Bes66] BESPALOV, V. I. and V. I. TALANOV: 'Filamentary structure of light beams in nonlinear liquids'. JETP Lett. (1966), vol. 3: p. 307 (cit. on p. 13).
- [Blo73] BLOEMBERGEN, N.: 'The influence of electron plasma formation on superbroadening in light filaments'. Opt. Commun. (1973), vol. 8(4): pp. 285–288. DOI: 10.1016/0030-4018(73)90196-X (cit. on p. 11).
- [Böh14] BÖHLE, F., M. KRETSCHMAR, A. JULLIEN, M. KOVACS, M. MI-RANDA, R. ROMERO, H. CRESPO, U. MORGNER, P. SIMON, R. LOPEZ-MARTENS, and T. NAGY: 'Compression of CEP-stable multi-mJ laser pulses down to 4 fs in long hollow fibers'. *Laser Phys. Lett.* (2014), vol. 11(9): p. 095401. DOI: 10.1088/1612-2011/11/9/095401 (cit. on pp. 3, 18).
- [Bor18] BOROT, A. and F. QUÉRÉ: 'Spatio-spectral metrology at focus of ultrashort lasers: a phase-retrieval approach'. *Opt. Express* (2018), vol. 26(20): pp. 26444–26461. DOI: 10.1364/0E.26.026444 (cit. on p. 48).
- [Bor89a] BOR, Z.: 'Distortion of femtosecond laser pulses in lenses'. Opt. Lett. (1989), vol. 14(2): pp. 119–121. DOI: 10.1364/OL.14.000119 (cit. on p. 41).
- [Bor89b] BOR, Z., Z. GOGOLAK, and G. SZABO: 'Femtosecond-resolution pulsefront distortion measurement by time-of-flight interferometry'. *Opt. Lett.* (1989), vol. 14(16): pp. 862–864. DOI: 10.1364/0L.14.000862 (cit. on p. 41).
- [Bor92] BOR, Z. and Z. L. HORVÁTH: 'Distortion of femtosecond pulses in lenses.
 Wave optical description'. Opt. Commun. (1992), vol. 94(4): pp. 249–258.
 DOI: 10.1016/0030-4018(92)90022-J (cit. on p. 41).
- [Boy08] BOYD, R. W.: Nonlinear Optics. Third Edition. Academic Press, Burlington, 2008 (cit. on pp. 15, 16, 24).
- [Boy09] BOYD, R. W., S. G. LUKISHOVA, and Y. R. SHEN: Self-focusing: Past and Present. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2009. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-34727-1 (cit. on pp. 20, 22).
- [Boy80] BOYD, R. W.: 'Intuitive explanation of the phase anomaly of focused light beams'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. (1980), vol. 70(7): pp. 877–880. DOI: 10.1364/JOSA.70.000877 (cit. on p. 37).
- [Bra00] BRABEC, T. and F. KRAUSZ: 'Intense few-cycle laser fields: Frontiers of nonlinear optics'. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* (2000), vol. 72(2): pp. 545–591. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.72.545 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Bra95] BRAUN, A., G. KORN, X. LIU, D. DU, J. SQUIER, and G. MOUROU:
 'Self-channeling of high-peak-power femtosecond laser pulses in air'. Opt. Lett. (1995), vol. 20(1): pp. 73–75. DOI: 10.1364/0L.20.000073 (cit. on pp. 2, 21, 31).
- [Bra97] BRABEC, T. and F. KRAUSZ: 'Nonlinear Optical Pulse Propagation in the Single-Cycle Regime'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (1997), vol. 78(17): pp. 3282– 3285. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.78.3282 (cit. on p. 33).
- [Bré09] BRÉE, C., A. DEMIRCAN, S. SKUPIN, L. BERGÉ, and G. STEINMEYER:
 'Self-pinching of pulsed laser beams during filamentary propagation'. *Opt. Express* (2009), vol. 17(19): pp. 16429–16435. DOI: 10.1364/0E.17.
 016429 (cit. on p. 33).
- [Bré10] BRÉE, C., J. BETHGE, L. SKUPIN S.and Bergé, A.. DEMIRCAN, and
 G. STEINMEYER: 'Cascaded self-compression of femtosecond pulses in filaments'. New J. Phys. (2010), vol. 12(9): p. 093046. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/12/9/093046 (cit. on p. 33).
- [Bré12] BRÉE, C.: 'Nonlinear optics in the filamentation regime'. PhD thesis. Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30930-4 (cit. on p. 33).
- [Bri96] BRIMBLECOMBE, P.: Air composition & chemistry. Second. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996 (cit. on p. 69).

[Bro19]	BROWN, J. M., A. COUAIRON, P. POLYNKIN, and M. B. GAARDE:
	'Analysis of the angular spectrum for ultrashort laser pulses'. J. Opt. Soc.
	Am. B (2019), vol. 36(2): A105–A111. doi: 10.1364/JOSAB.36.00A105
	(cit. on p. 99).
[Bro97]	BRODEUR, A., C. Y. CHIEN, F. A. ILKOV, S. L. CHIN, O. G. KOSAREVA, and V. P. KANDIDOV: 'Moving focus in the propagation of ultrashort laser pulses in air'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (1997), vol. 22(5): pp. 304–306. DOI: 10.1364/0L.22.000304 (cit. on pp. 10, 30, 87).
[Bur05]	BURGIN, J., C. GUILLON, and P. LANGOT: 'Femtosecond investigation of the non-instantaneous third-order nonlinear suceptibility in liquids and glasses'. <i>Appl. Phys. Lett.</i> (2005), vol. 87(21): p. 211916. DOI: 10.1063/

[Can17] CANHOTA, M., F. SILVA, R. WEIGAND, and H. M. CRESPO: 'Inline self-diffraction dispersion-scan of over octave-spanning pulses in the single-cycle regime'. *Opt. Lett.* (2017), vol. 42(15): pp. 3048–3051. DOI: 10.1364/0L.42.003048 (cit. on p. 51).

1.2136413 (cit. on p. 84).

- [Cap00] CAPITELLI, M., F. CAPITELLI, and A. ELETSKII: 'Non-equilibrium and equilibrium problems in laser-induced plasmas'. *Spectrochim. Acta B* (2000), vol. 55(6): pp. 559–574. DOI: 10.1016/S0584-8547(00)00168-3 (cit. on pp. 22, 23, 26, 27, 75).
- [Cap04] CAPITELLI, M., A. CASAVOLA, G. COLONNA, and A. DE GIACOMO:
 'Laser-induced plasma expansion: theoretical and experimental aspects'. Spectrochim. Acta B (2004), vol. 59(3): pp. 271–289. DOI: 10.1016/j. sab.2003.12.017 (cit. on p. 19).
- [Cha06] CHAKRABORTY, H. S., M. B. GAARDE, and A. COUAIRON: 'Single attosecond pulses from high harmonics driven by self-compressed filaments'. Opt. Lett. (2006), vol. 31(24): pp. 3662–3664. DOI: 10.1364/0L. 31.003662 (cit. on p. 35).

- [Che16] CHENG, Y.-C., C.-H. LU, Y.-Y. LIN, and A. H. KUNG: 'Supercontinuum generation in a multi-plate medium'. *Opt. Express* (2016), vol. 24(7): pp. 7224–7231. DOI: 10.1364/0E.24.007224 (cit. on pp. 3, 18).
- [Chi02] CHIN, S. L., A. TALEBPOUR, J. YANG, S. PETIT, V. P. KANDIDOV,
 O. G. KOSAREVA, and M. P. TAMAROV: 'Filamentation of femtosecond laser pulses in turbulent air'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2002), vol. 74(1): pp. 67–76.
 DOI: 10.1007/s003400100738 (cit. on p. 9).
- [Chi07] CHIN, S. L., F. THÉBERGE, and W. LIU: 'Filamentation nonlinear optics'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2007), vol. 86(3): pp. 477–483. DOI: 10.1007/s00340– 006-2455-z (cit. on p. 12).
- [Chi10] CHIN, S. L.: Femtosecond Laser Filamentation. Springer-Verlag New York, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-0688-5 (cit. on pp. 16, 18, 19, 21, 22, 35).
- [Chi64] CHIAO, R. Y., E. GARMIRE, and C. H. TOWNES: 'Self-Trapping of Optical Beams'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (1964), vol. 13(15): pp. 479–482. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.13.479 (cit. on p. 31).
- [Cle95] CLEMENT, T. S., A. J. TAYLOR, and D. J. KANE: 'Single-shot measurement of the amplitude and phase of ultrashort laser pulses in the violet'. *Opt. Lett.* (1995), vol. 20(1): pp. 70–72. DOI: 10.1364/0L.20.000070 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Coe08] COELLO, Y., V. V. LOZOVOY, T. C. GUNARATNE, B. XU, I. BORUKHO-VICH, C.-H. TSENG, T. WEINACHT, and M. DANTUS: 'Interference without an interferometer: a different approach to measuring, compressing, and shaping ultrashort laser pulses'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2008), vol. 25(6): A140–A150. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.25.00A140 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Con03] CONTI, C., S. TRILLO, P. DI TRAPANI, G. VALIULIS, A. PISKARSKAS,
 O. JEDRKIEWICZ, and J. TRULL: 'Nonlinear Electromagnetic X Waves'.
 Phys. Rev. Lett. (2003), vol. 90(17): p. 170406. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.
 90.170406 (cit. on pp. 11, 122).

	vol. 3(6): pp. 381–387. doi: 10.1038/nphys620 (cit. on p. 1).
[Cor93]	CORKUM, P. B.: 'Plasma perspective on strong field multiphoton ioniza- tion'. <i>Phys. Rev. Lett.</i> (1993), vol. 71(13): pp. 1994–1997. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.71.1994 (cit. on p. 25).
[Cou02]	COUAIRON, A., S. TZORTZAKIS, L. BERGÉ, M. FRANCO, B. PRADE, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Infrared femtosecond light filaments in air: simulations and experiments'. <i>J. Opt. Soc. Am. B</i> (2002), vol. 19(5): pp. 1117–1131. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.19.001117 (cit. on p. 87).
[Cou03]	COUAIRON, A.: 'Light bullets from femtosecond filamentation'. <i>Eur. Phys. J. D</i> (2003), vol. 27: pp. 159–167. DOI: 10.1140/epjd/e2003-00255-9 (cit. on p. 31).
[Cou05]	COUAIRON, A., M. FRANCO, A. MYSYROWICZ, J. BIEGERT, and U. KELLER: 'Pulse self-compression to the single-cycle limit by filamentation in a gas with a pressure gradient'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (2005), vol. 30(19): pp. 2657–2659. DOI: 10.1364/0L.30.002657 (cit. on p. 34).
[Cou06]	COUAIRON, A., J. BIEGERT, C. P. HAURI, W. KORNELIS, F. W. HELBING, U. KELLER, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Self-compression of ultra- short laser pulses down to one optical cycle by filamentation'. <i>J. Mod.</i> <i>Opt.</i> (2006), vol. 53(1-2): pp. 75–85. DOI: 10.1080/09500340500227760 (cit. on pp. 34, 35).
[Cou07]	COUAIRON, A. and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Femtosecond filamentation in transparent media'. <i>Phys. Rep.</i> (2007), vol. 441(2): pp. 47–189. DOI: 10.1016/j.physrep.2006.12.005 (cit. on pp. 2, 8–11, 17–20, 22, 24, 25, 31, 32, 34, 35, 38, 87).
[Cou08]	COUAIRON, A., H. S. CHAKRABORTY, and M. B. GAARDE: 'From single-cycle self-compressed filaments to isolated attosecond pulses in noble gases'. <i>Phys. Rev. A</i> (2008), vol. 77(5): p. 053814. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevA.77.053814 (cit. on pp. 35, 99, 121).

- [Cour03] COURVOISIER, F., V. BOUTOU, J. KASPARIAN, E. SALMON, G. MÉJEAN,
 J. YU, and J.-P. WOLF: 'Ultraintense light filaments transmitted through clouds'. Appl. Phys. Lett. (2003), vol. 83(2): pp. 213–215. DOI: 10.1063/
 1.1592615 (cit. on p. 12).
- [Cri13] CRISTOFORETTI, G., E. TOGNONI, and L. A. GIZZI: 'Thermodynamic equilibrium states in laser-induced plasmas: From the general case to laser-induced breakdown spectroscopy plasmas'. *Spectrochim. Acta B* (2013), vol. 90: pp. 1–22. DOI: 10.1016/j.sab.2013.09.004 (cit. on p. 23).
- [Dal60] DALGARNO, A and A. E. KINGSTON: 'The refractive indices and Verdet constants of the inert gases'. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences (1960), vol. 259(1298): pp. 424–431. DOI: 10.1098/rspa.1960.0237 (cit. on p. 99).
- [DAm07] D'AMICO, C., A. HOUARD, M. FRANCO, B. PRADE, A. MYSYROWICZ, A. COUAIRON, and V. T. TIKHONCHUK: 'Conical Forward THz Emission from Femtosecond-Laser-Beam Filamentation in Air'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2007), vol. 98(23): p. 235002. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.235002 (cit. on p. 3).
- [DAm08] D'AMICO, C., A. HOUARD, S. AKTURK, Y. LIU, J. LE BLOAS, M. FRANCO, B. PRADE, A. COUAIRON, V. T. TIKHONCHUK, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Forward THz radiation emission by femtosecond filamentation in gases: theory and experiment'. New J. Phys. (2008), vol. 10(1): p. 013015. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/10/1/013015 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Deb19] DEBORD, B., F. AMRANI, L. VINCETTI, F. GÉRÔME, and F. BENABID:
 'Hollow-Core Fiber Technology: The Rising of "Gas Photonics". *Fibers* (2019), vol. 7(2). DOI: 10.3390/fib7020016 (cit. on p. 18).
- [DeL94] DELONG, K. W., R. TREBINO, and D. J. KANE: 'Comparison of ultrashort-pulse frequency-resolved-optical-gating traces for three common beam geometries'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (1994), vol. 11(9): pp. 1595– 1608. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.11.001595 (cit. on p. 51).

- [Dor20] DORIA, D., M.O. CERNAIANU, P. GHENUCHE, D. STUTMAN, K.A. TANAKA, C. TICOS, and C.A. UR: 'Overview of ELI-NP status and laser commissioning experiments with 1 PW and 10 PW class-lasers'. J. Instrum. (2020), vol. 15(09): pp. C09053–C09053. DOI: 10.1088/1748–0221/15/09/c09053 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Dra79] DRAINE, B. T. and E. E. SALPETER: 'On the physics of dust grains in hot gas'. Astrophys. J. (1979), vol. 231: pp. 77–94. DOI: 10.1086/157165 (cit. on p. 19).
- [Dro04] DROMEY, B., S. KAR, M. ZEPF, and P. FOSTER: 'The plasma mirror— A subpicosecond optical switch for ultrahigh power lasers'. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* (2004), vol. 75(3): pp. 645–649. DOI: 10.1063/1.1646737 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Dub03] DUBIETIS, A., G. TAMOŠAUSKAS, I. DIOMIN, and A. VARANAVIČIUS:
 'Self-guided propagation of femtosecond light pulses in water'. *Opt. Lett.* (2003), vol. 28(14): pp. 1269–1271. DOI: 10.1364/OL.28.001269 (cit. on p. 9).
- [Dub04a] DUBIETIS, A., E. GAIŽAUSKAS, G. TAMOŠAUSKAS, and P. DI TRAPANI:
 'Light Filaments without Self-Channeling'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2004), vol. 92(25): p. 253903. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.253903 (cit. on p. 12).
- [Dub04b] DUBIETIS, A., E. KUČINSKAS, G. TAMOŠAUSKAS, E. GAIŽAUSKAS,
 M. A. PORRAS, and P. DI TRAPANI: 'Self-reconstruction of light filaments'. *Opt. Lett.* (2004), vol. 29(24): pp. 2893–2895. DOI: 10.1364/0L.
 29.002893 (cit. on p. 12).
- [Dub92] DUBIETIS, A., G. JONUŠAUSKAS, and A. PISKARSKAS: 'Powerful femtosecond pulse generation by chirped and stretched pulse parametric amplification in BBO crystal'. Opt. Commun. (1992), vol. 88(4): pp. 437– 440. DOI: 10.1016/0030-4018(92)90070-8 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Dur11] DURAND, M., Y. LIU, B. FORESTIER, A. HOUARD, and A. MYSYRO-WICZ: 'Experimental observation of a traveling plasma grating formed

by two crossing filaments in gases'. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* (2011), vol. 98(12): p. 121110. DOI: 10.1063/1.3568888 (cit. on p. 2).

- [Dur12] DURAND, M., A. JARNAC, Y. LIU, B. PRADE, A. HOUARD, V. TIKHON-CHUK, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Dynamics of plasma gratings in atomic and molecular gases'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2012), vol. 86(3): p. 036405. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.86.036405 (cit. on pp. 28, 30).
- [Dur13] DURAND, M., A. HOUARD, B. PRADE, A. MYSYROWICZ, A.DURÉCU,
 B. MOREAU, D. FLEURY, O. VASSEUR, H. BORCHERT, K. DIENER,
 R. SCHMITT, F. THÉBERGE, M. CHATEAUNEUF, J.-F. DAIGLE, and
 J. DUBOIS: 'Kilometer range filamentation'. *Opt. Express* (2013), vol. 21(22): pp. 26836–26845. DOI: 10.1364/0E.21.026836 (cit. on pp. 3, 8).
- [Dzi06] DZIERŻĘGA, K., W. ZAWADZKI, B. POKRZYWKA, and S. PELLERIN:
 'Experimental investigations of plasma perturbation in Thomson scattering applied to thermal plasma diagnostics'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2006), vol. 74(2): p. 026404. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.74.026404 (cit. on p. 29).
- [Dzi10] DZIERŻĘGA, K., A. MENDYS, S. PELLERIN, E. THOUIN, G. TRAVAILLE,
 B. BOUSQUET, L. CANIONI, and B. POKRZYWKA: 'Thomson scattering from laser induced plasma in air'. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. (2010), vol. 227: p. 012029. DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/227/1/012029 (cit. on pp. 28, 29).
- [Edw14] EDWARDS, M. R., V. T. PLATONENKO, and J. M. MIKHAILOVA: 'Enhanced attosecond bursts of relativistic high-order harmonics driven by two-color fields'. *Opt. Lett.* (2014), vol. 39(24): pp. 6823–6826. DOI: 10.1364/0L.39.006823 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Edw20] EDWARDS, M. R. and J. M. MIKHAILOVA: 'The X-Ray Emission Effectiveness of Plasma Mirrors: Reexamining Power-Law Scaling for Relativistic High-Order Harmonic Generation'. Sci. Rep. (2020), vol. 10(1): p. 5154. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-61255-0 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Esa09] ESAREY, E., C. B. SCHROEDER, and W. P. LEEMANS: 'Physics of laser-driven plasma-based electron accelerators'. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* (2009),

vol. 81(3): pp. 1229–1285. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.81.1229 (cit. on p. 2).

- [Fab15] FABRIS, D., W. HOLGADO, F. SILVA, T. WITTING, J. W. G. TISCH, and H. CRESPO: 'Single-shot implementation of dispersion-scan for the characterization of ultrashort laser pulses'. *Opt. Express* (2015), vol. 23(25): pp. 32803–32808. DOI: 10.1364/0E.23.032803 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Fac05] FACCIO, D., A. MATIJOSIUS, A. DUBIETIS, R. PISKARSKAS, A. VARANAV-IČIUS, E. GAIZAUSKAS, A. PISKARSKAS, A. COUAIRON, and P. DI TRA-PANI: 'Near- and far-field evolution of laser pulse filaments in Kerr media'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2005), vol. 72(3): p. 037601. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.72. 037601 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Fac06] FACCIO, D., M. A. PORRAS, A. DUBIETIS, F. BRAGHERI, A. COUAIRON, and P. DI TRAPANI: 'Conical Emission, Pulse Splitting, and X-Wave Parametric Amplification in Nonlinear Dynamics of Ultrashort Light Pulses'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2006), vol. 96(19): p. 193901. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.96.193901 (cit. on p. 11).
- [Fac08] FACCIO, D., A. AVERCHI, A. LOTTI, P. DI TRAPANI, A. COUAIRON, D. PAPAZOGLOU, and S. TZORTZAKIS: 'Ultrashort laser pulse filamentation from spontaneous X Wave formation in air'. *Opt. Express* (2008), vol. 16(3): pp. 1565–1570. DOI: 10.1364/0E.16.001565 (cit. on p. 122).
- [Fau18] FAURE, J., D. GUSTAS, D. GUÉNOT, A. VERNIER, F. BÖHLE, M. OUILLÉ, S. HAESSLER, R. LOPEZ-MARTENS, and A. LIFSCHITZ: 'A review of recent progress on laser-plasma acceleration at kHz repetition rate'. *Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion* (2018), vol. 61(1): p. 014012. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6587/aae047 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Fay01] FAYE, G., J. KASPARIAN, and R. SAUERBREY: 'Modifications to the lidar equation due to nonlinear propagation in air'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2001), vol. 73(2): pp. 157–163. DOI: 10.1007/s003400100621 (cit. on p. 69).

- [Fen01] FENG, S. and H. G. WINFUL: 'Physical origin of the Gouy phase shift'. *Opt. Lett.* (2001), vol. 26(8): pp. 485–487. DOI: 10.1364/0L.26.000485 (cit. on p. 37).
- [Fib04] FIBICH, G., S. EISENMANN, B. ILAN, and A. ZIGLER: 'Control of multiple filamentation in air'. *Opt. Lett.* (2004), vol. 29(15): pp. 1772–1774. DOI: 10.1364/0L.29.001772 (cit. on p. 12).
- [Fli10] FLIESSBACH, T.: Statistische Physik. Fifth Edition. Springer Spektrum, Heidelberg, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-8274-2528-7 (cit. on p. 23).
- [Fon99a] LA FONTAINE, B., F. VIDAL, Z. JIANG, C. Y. CHIEN, D. COMTOIS, A. DESPAROIS, T. W. JOHNSTON, J.-C. KIEFFER, H. PÉPIN, and H. P. MERCURE: 'Filamentation of ultrashort pulse laser beams resulting from their propagation over long distances in air'. *Phys. Plasmas* (1999), vol. 6(5): pp. 1615–1621. DOI: 10.1063/1.873715 (cit. on pp. 3, 8, 9, 87).
- [Fou10] FOURCADE DUTIN, C., A. DUBROUIL, S. PETIT, E. MÉVEL, E. CON-STANT, and D. DESCAMPS: 'Post-compression of high-energy femtosecond pulses using gas ionization'. *Opt. Lett.* (2010), vol. 35(2): pp. 253–255. DOI: 10.1364/0L.35.000253 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Fri11] FRIDMAN, A. F. and L. A. KENNEDY: Plasma Physics and Engineering. Second. Taylor & Francis, New York, 2011. DOI: 10.1201/b11728 (cit. on pp. 26, 27, 75).
- [Gaa09] GAARDE, M. B. and A. COUAIRON: 'Intensity Spikes in Laser Filamentation: Diagnostics and Application'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2009), vol. 103(4): p. 043901. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.043901 (cit. on pp. 35, 36, 121).
- [Gal14] GALLET, V.: 'Dispositifs expérimentaux pur la caractérisation spatiotemporelle de chaînes laser femtosecondes haute-puissance'. PhD thesis. Université Paris XI, 2014 (cit. on pp. 5, 43).

[Gal99]	GALLMANN, L., D. H. SUTTER, N. MATUSCHEK, G. STEINMEYER, U. KELLER, C. IACONIS, and I. A. WALMSLEY: 'Characterization of sub- 6-fs optical pulses with spectral phase interferometry for direct electric- field reconstruction'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (1999), vol. 24(18): pp. 1314–1316. DOI: 10.1364/0L.24.001314 (cit. on p. 50).
[Gam02]	GAMALY, E. G., A. V. RODE, B. LUTHER-DAVIES, and V. T. TIKHON-CHUK: 'Ablation of solids by femtosecond lasers: Ablation mechanism and ablation thresholds for metals and dielectrics'. <i>Phys. Plasmas</i> (2002), vol. 9(3): pp. 949–957. DOI: 10.1063/1.1447555 (cit. on pp. 1, 33).
[Gia10]	DE GIACOMO, A., R. GAUDIUSO, M. DELL'AGLIO, and A. SANTAGATA: 'The role of continuum radiation in laser induced plasma spectroscopy'. <i>Spectrochim. Acta B</i> (2010), vol. 65(5): pp. 385–394. DOI: 10.1016/j. sab.2010.03.016 (cit. on p. 26).
[Gia14]	DE GIACOMO, A., M. DELL'AGLIO, O. DE PASCALE, R. GAUDIUSO, V. PALLESCHI, C. PARIGGER, and A. WOODS: 'Plasma processes and emission spectra in laser induced plasmas: A point of view'. <i>Spectrochim.</i> Acta B (2014), vol. 100: pp. 180–188. DOI: 10.1016/j.sab.2014.08.013 (cit. on p. 74).
[Gia17]	DE GIACOMO, A. and J. HERMANN: 'Laser-induced plasma emission: from atomic to molecular spectra'. <i>J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.</i> (2017), vol. 50(18): p. 183002. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6463/aa6585 (cit. on pp. 19, 22, 23, 26–28, 84, 85).
[Gio67]	GIORDMAINE, J. A., P. M. RENTZEPIS, S. L. SHAPIRO, and K. W. WECHT: 'Two-photon excitation of fluorescence by picosecond light pulses'. <i>Appl. Phys. Lett.</i> (1967), vol. 11(7): pp. 216–218. DOI: 10.1063/1.1755105 (cit. on p. 50).
[Gol90]	GOLUB, I.: 'Optical characteristics of supercontinuum generation'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (1990), vol. 15(6): pp. 305–307. DOI: 10.1364/0L.15.000305 (cit. on p. 11).

- [Gry17] GRYNKO, R. I., D. L. WEERAWARNE, and B. SHIM: 'Effects of higherorder nonlinear processes on harmonic-generation phase matching'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2017), vol. 96(1): p. 013816. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.96.013816 (cit. on pp. 38, 59).
- [Har08] HARTINGER, K. and R. A. BARTELS: 'Enhancement of third harmonic generation by a laser-induced plasma'. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* (2008), vol. 93(15): p. 151102. DOI: 10.1063/1.2993222 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Hau04] HAURI, C. P., W. KORNELIS, F. W. HELBING, A. HEINRICH, A. COUAIRON, A. MYSYROWICZ, J. BIEGERT, and U. KELLER: 'Generation of intense, carrier-envelope phase-locked few-cycle laser pulses through filamentation'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2004), vol. 79(6): pp. 673–677. DOI: 10. 1007/s00340-004-1650-z (cit. on pp. 34, 35).
- [Hee79] HEER, F. J. de, R. H. J. JANSEN, and W. van der KAAY: 'Total cross sections for electron scattering by Ne, Ar, Kr and Xe'. J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys (1979), vol. 12(6): pp. 979–1002. DOI: 10.1088/0022-3700/12/6/016 (cit. on p. 75).
- [Hen00] HENTSCHEL, M., Z. CHENG, F. KRAUSZ, and CH. SPIELMANN: 'Generation of 0.1-TW optical pulses with a single-stage Ti:sapphire amplifier at a 1-kHz repetition rate'. Appl. Phys. B (2000), vol. 70(1): S161–S164. DOI: 10.1007/s003400000327 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Hen01] HENTSCHEL, M., R. KIENBERGER, CH. SPIELMANN, G. A. REIDER, N. MILOSEVIC, T. BRABEC, P. CORKUM, U. HEINZMANN, M. DRESCHER, and F. KRAUSZ: 'Attosecond metrology'. *Nature* (2001), vol. 414(6863): pp. 509–513. DOI: 10.1038/35107000 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Her09] HERRMANN, D., L. VEISZ, R. TAUTZ, F. TAVELLA, K. SCHMID, V. PER-VAK, and F. KRAUSZ: 'Generation of sub-three-cycle, 16 TW light pulses by using noncollinear optical parametric chirped-pulse amplification'. Opt. Lett. (2009), vol. 34(16): pp. 2459–2461. DOI: 10.1364/OL.34.002459 (cit. on p. 1).

- [Hey16] HEYL, C. M., H. COUDERT-ALTEIRAC, M. MIRANDA, M. LOUISY,
 K. KOVACS, V. TOSA, E. BALOGH, K. VARJÚ, A. L'HUILLIER, A. COUAIRON, and C. L. ARNOLD: 'Scale-invariant nonlinear optics in gases'. *Optica* (2016), vol. 3(1): pp. 75–81. DOI: 10.1364/OPTICA.3.000075 (cit. on pp. 13, 120).
- [Hof14] HOFFMANN, M., T. NAGY, T. WILLEMSEN, M. JUPÉ, D. RISTAU, and U. MORGNER: 'Pulse characterization by THG d-scan in absorbing nonlinear media'. *Opt. Express* (2014), vol. 22(5): pp. 5234–5240. DOI: 10.1364/0E.22.005234 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Iac98] IACONIS, C. and I. A. WALMSLEY: 'Spectral phase interferometry for direct electric-field reconstruction of ultrashort optical pulses'. Opt. Lett. (1998), vol. 23(10): pp. 792–794. DOI: 10.1364/0L.23.000792 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Ion15] IONIN, A. A., L. V. SELEZNEV, and E. S. SUNCHUGASHEVA: 'Formation of plasma channels in air under filamentation of focused ultrashort laser pulses'. *Laser Phys.* (2015), vol. 25(3): p. 033001. DOI: 10.1088/1054-660x/25/3/033001 (cit. on p. 19).
- [Jar14] JARNAC, A., M. DURAND, Y. LIU, B. PRADE, A. HOUARD, V. TIKHON-CHUK, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Study of laser induced plasma grating dynamics in gases'. *Opt. Commun.* (2014), vol. 312: pp. 35–42. DOI: 10.1016/j.optcom.2013.07.082 (cit. on pp. 22, 26, 28, 30, 60).
- [Jol20] JOLLY, S. W., O. GOBERT, and F. QUÉRÉ: 'Spatio-temporal characterization of ultrashort laser beams: a tutorial'. J. Opt. (2020), vol. 22(10):
 p. 103501. DOI: 10.1088/2040-8986/abad08 (cit. on pp. 41, 43, 46, 47).
- [Jür19] JÜRGENS, P., VRAKKING M. J. J., A. HUSAKOU, R. STOIAN, and A. MERMILLOD-BLONDIN: 'Plasma formation and relaxation dynamics in fused silica driven by femtosecond short-wavelength infrared laser pulses'. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* (2019), vol. 115(19): p. 191903. DOI: 10.1063/1.5117837 (cit. on p. 84).

- [Jus19] JUSKO, C., A. SRIDHAR, E. APPI, L. SHI, U. MORGNER, and M. KO-VACEV: 'Filamentation-assisted plasma lifetime measurements in atomic and molecular gases via third-harmonic enhancement'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2019), vol. 36(12): pp. 3505–3513. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.36.003505 (cit. on pp. 37, 57, 59–61, 70–72).
- [Jus20] JUSKO, C., A. SRIDHAR, E. APPI, L. SHI, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Femtosecond laser-induced plasma evolution studies via third-harmonic enhancement in atomic and molecular gases'. OSA High-brightness Sources and Light-driven Interactions Congress 2020 (EU-VXRAY, HILAS, MICS). 2020: JW1A.15. DOI: 10.1364/EUVXRAY.2020. JW1A.15 (cit. on p. 78).
- [Kan03] KANDIDOV, V. P., O. G. KOSAREVA, I. S. GOLUBTSOV, W. LIU,
 A. BECKER, N. AKOZBEK, C. M. BOWDEN, and S. L. CHIN: 'Self-transformation of a powerful femtosecond laser pulse into a white-light laser pulse in bulk optical media (or supercontinuum generation)'. Appl. Phys. B (2003), vol. 77(2): pp. 149–165. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-003-1214-7 (cit. on pp. 20, 22).
- [Kan93a] KANE, D. J. and R. TREBINO: 'Characterization of arbitrary femtosecond pulses using frequency-resolved optical gating'. *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.* (1993), vol. 29(2): pp. 571–579. DOI: 10.1109/3.199311 (cit. on pp. 50, 51).
- [Kan93b] KANE, D. J. and R. TREBINO: 'Single-shot measurement of the intensity and phase of an arbitrary ultrashort pulse by using frequency-resolved optical gating'. *Opt. Lett.* (1993), vol. 18(10): pp. 823–825. DOI: 10.1364/ OL.18.000823 (cit. on pp. 50, 51).
- [Kap91] KAPTEYN, H. C., M. M. MURNANE, A. SZOKE, and R. W. FALCONE:
 'Prepulse energy suppression for high-energy ultrashort pulses using selfinduced plasma shuttering'. *Opt. Lett.* (1991), vol. 16(7): pp. 490–492. DOI: 10.1364/0L.16.000490 (cit. on p. 2).

[Kar15]	KARTASHOV, D., S. ALIŠAUSKAS, A. PUGŽLYS, M. N. SHNEIDER, and
	A. BALTUŠKA: 'Theory of a filament initiated nitrogen laser'. J. Phys.
	B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys (2015), vol. 48(9): p. 094016. DOI: 10.1088/0953-
	4075/48/9/094016 (cit. on pp. 22, 26, 75).

- [Kas00] KASPARIAN, J., R. SAUERBREY, and S. L. CHIN: 'The critical laser intensity of self-guided light filaments in air'. Appl. Phys. B (2000), vol. 71(6): pp. 877–879. DOI: 10.1007/s003400000463 (cit. on pp. 3, 9, 69).
- [Kas03] KASPARIAN, J., M. RODRIGUEZ, G. MÉJEAN, J. YU, E. SALMON, H.
 WILLE, R. BOURAYOU, S. FREY, Y.-B. ANDRÉ, A. MYSYROWICZ, R.
 SAUERBREY, J.-P. WOLF, and L. WÖSTE: 'White-Light Filaments for Atmospheric Analysis'. *Science* (2003), vol. 301(5629): pp. 61–64. DOI: 10.1126/science.1085020 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Kas08] KASPARIAN, J., R. ACKERMANN, Y.-B. ANDRÉ, G. MÉCHAIN, G. MÉJEAN, B. PRADE, P. ROHWETTER, E. SALMON, K. STELMASZCZYK, J. YU, A. MYSYROWICZ, R. SAUERBREY, L. WÖSTE, and J.-P. WOLF: 'Electric events synchronized with laser filaments in thunderclouds'. Opt. Express (2008), vol. 16(8): pp. 5757–5763. DOI: 10.1364/0E.16.005757 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Kat09] KATZIR, Y., S. EISENMANN, Y. FERBER, A. ZIGLER, and R. F. HUB-BARD: 'A plasma microlens for ultrashort high power lasers'. Appl. Phys. Lett. (2009), vol. 95(3): p. 031101. DOI: 10.1063/1.3184788 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Kel65] KELDYSH, L. V.: 'Ionization in the field of a strong electromagnetic wave'. Sov. Phys. JETP (1965), vol. 20(5): pp. 1307–1314 (cit. on p. 24).
- [Kol02] KOLESIK, M., J. V. MOLONEY, and M. MLEJNEK: 'Unidirectional Optical Pulse Propagation Equation'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2002), vol. 89(28): p. 283902. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.89.283902 (cit. on p. 99).
- [Kos97] KOSAREVA, O. G., V. P. KANDIDOV, A. BRODEUR, C. Y. CHIEN, and S. L. CHIN: 'Conical emission from laser-plasma interactions in the filamentation of powerful ultrashort laser pulses in air'. *Opt. Lett.* (1997),

vol. 22(17): pp. 1332–1334. DOI: 10.1364/0L.22.001332 (cit. on pp. 11, 87).

- [Kou20] KOULOUKLIDIS, A. D., C. GOLLNER, V. SHUMAKOVA, V. YU. FE-DOROV, A. PUGŽLYS, A. BALTUŠKA, and S. TZORTZAKIS: 'Observation of extremely efficient terahertz generation from mid-infrared twocolor laser filaments'. *Nat. Commun.* (2020), vol. 11(1): p. 292. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-14206-x (cit. on p. 121).
- [Kra09] KRAUSZ, F. and M. IVANOV: 'Attosecond physics'. Rev. Mod. Phys. (2009), vol. 81(1): pp. 163–234. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.81.163 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Kre14] KRETSCHMAR, M., C. BRÉE, T. NAGY, A. DEMIRCAN, H. G. KURZ, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'Direct observation of pulse dynamics and self-compression along a femtosecond filament'. *Opt. Express* (2014), vol. 22(19): pp. 22905–22916. DOI: 10.1364/0E.22.022905 (cit. on pp. 34, 35, 87).
- [Kre16] KRETSCHMAR, M.: 'Extreme Nonlinear Dynamics in the Filamentation Regime'. PhD thesis. Leibniz Universität Hannover, 2016. DOI: 10.15488/ 8721 (cit. on pp. 25, 32, 35).
- [Kre93] KREYE, W. C., J. W. HEMSKY, and M. L. ANDREWS: 'A simple numerical method for a modified Abel inversion in which the density can be approximated by elliptical symmetry'. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys (1993), vol. 26(11): pp. 1836–1842. DOI: 10.1088/0022-3727/26/11/003 (cit. on p. 29).
- [Kum03] KUMAGAI, H., S.-H. CHO, K. ISHIKAWA, K. MIDORIKAWA, M. FUJI-MOTO, S.-I. AOSHIMA, and Y. TSUCHIYA: 'Observation of the complex propagation of a femtosecond laser pulse in a dispersive transparent bulk material'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2003), vol. 20(3): pp. 597–602. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.20.000597 (cit. on p. 87).

- [Kur13] KURZ, H. G.: 'High-Order Harmonic Spectroscopy with Water Droplets'.
 PhD thesis. Leibniz Universität Hannover, 2013. DOI: 10.15488/8309 (cit. on p. 24).
- [Lan98] LANGE, H. R., A. CHIRON, J.-F. RIPOCHE, A. MYSYROWICZ, P. BREGER, and P. AGOSTINI: 'High-Order Harmonic Generation and Quasiphase Matching in Xenon Using Self-Guided Femtosecond Pulses'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (1998), vol. 81(8): pp. 1611–1613. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.1611 (cit. on p. 35).
- [Lea10] LEAHY-HOPPA, M. R., J. MIRAGLIOTTA, R. OSIANDER, J. BURNETT, Y. DIKMELIK, C. MCENNIS, and J. B. SPICER: 'Ultrafast Laser-Based Spectroscopy and Sensing: Applications in LIBS, CARS, and THz Spectroscopy'. Sensors (2010), vol. 10(5): pp. 4342–4372. DOI: 10.3390/ s100504342 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Leb17] LEBLANC, A., A. DENOEUD, L. CHOPINEAU, G. MENNERAT, PH. MAR-TIN, and F. QUÉRÉ: 'Plasma holograms for ultrahigh-intensity optics'. Nat. Phys. (2017), vol. 13(5): pp. 440–443. DOI: 10.1038/nphys4007 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Lee09] LEE, J.-H., Y. S. LEE, J. PARK, J. J. PARK, D. S. KIM, T. J. YU, and C. H. NAM: 'Implementation of the direct locking method for long-term carrier-envelope-phase stabilization of a grating-based kHz femtosecond laser'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2009), vol. 96(2): pp. 287–291. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-009-3489-9 (cit. on p. 35).
- [LHu91] L'HUILLIER, A., K. J. SCHAFER, and K. C. KULANDER: 'Theoretical aspects of intense field harmonic generation'. J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys (1991), vol. 24(15): pp. 3315–3341. DOI: 10.1088/0953-4075/24/15/004 (cit. on p. 21).
- [Lis04] LISTER, G. G., J. E. LAWLER, W. P. LAPATOVICH, and V. A. GODYAK:
 'The physics of discharge lamps'. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* (2004), vol. 76(2): pp. 541–598. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.76.541 (cit. on p. 19).

- [Liu03] LIU, W., S. L CHIN, O. KOSAREVA, I. S. GOLUBTSOV, and V. P. KAN-DIDOV: 'Multiple refocusing of a femtosecond laser pulse in a dispersive liquid (methanol)'. *Opt. Commun.* (2003), vol. 225(1): pp. 193–209. DOI: 10.1016/j.optcom.2003.07.024 (cit. on p. 8).
- [Liu05a] LIU, W., F. THÉBERGE, E. ARÉVALO, J.-F. GRAVEL, A. BECKER, and
 S. L. CHIN: 'Experiment and simulations on the energy reservoir effect in femtosecond light filaments'. *Opt. Lett.* (2005), vol. 30(19): pp. 2602–2604.
 DOI: 10.1364/0L.30.002602 (cit. on pp. 10, 32).
- [Liu05b] LIU, W., J.-F. GRAVEL, F. THÉBERGE, A. BECKER, and S. L. CHIN:
 'Background reservoir: its crucial role for long-distance propagation of femtosecond laser pulses in air'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2005), vol. 80(7): pp. 857– 860. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-005-1805-6 (cit. on p. 10).
- [Liu07] LIU, W. and S. L. CHIN: 'Abnormal wavelength dependence of the selfcleaning phenomenon during femtosecond-laser-pulse filamentation'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2007), vol. 76(1): p. 013826. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.76.013826 (cit. on p. 12).
- [Liu10] LIU, Y., M. DURAND, S. CHEN, A. HOUARD, B. PRADE, B. FORESTIER, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Energy Exchange between Femtosecond Laser Filaments in Air'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2010), vol. 105(5): p. 055003. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.055003 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Liu11] LIU, Y., M. DURAND, A. HOUARD, B. FORESTIER, A. COUAIRON, and
 A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Efficient generation of third harmonic radiation in air filaments: A revisit'. *Opt. Commun.* (2011), vol. 284(19): pp. 4706–4713.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.optcom.2011.05.050 (cit. on pp. 3, 37–39, 59).
- [Liu15] LIU, X.-L., X. LU, Z.-G. DU, J.-L. MA, Y.-T. LI, and J. ZHANG:
 'Enhancement of third harmonic generation in air filamentation using obstacles'. *Chin. Phys. B* (2015), vol. 24(3): p. 034207. DOI: 10.1088/1674-1056/24/3/034207 (cit. on p. 4).

[Liu19]	LIU, Y., C. KOU, A. HOUARD, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Optimizing the third harmonic generated from air plasma filaments pumped by femtosecond laser pulses'. <i>J. Opt. Soc. Am. B</i> (Oct. 2019), vol. 36(10): G13–G18. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.36.000G13 (cit. on pp. 3, 38, 39).
[Lor13]	LORIOT, V., G. GITZINGER, and N. FORGET: 'Self-referenced characterization of femtosecond laser pulses by chirp scan'. <i>Opt. Express</i> (2013), vol. 21(21): pp. 24879–24893. DOI: 10.1364/0E.21.024879 (cit. on p. 50).
[Lou17]	LOUISY, M., C. GUO, L. NEORIČIĆ, S. ZHONG, A. L'HUILLIER, C. L. ARNOLD, and M. MIRANDA: 'Compact single-shot d-scan setup for the characterization of few-cycle laser pulses'. <i>Appl. Opt.</i> (2017), vol. 56(32): pp. 9084–9089. DOI: 10.1364/A0.56.009084 (cit. on p. 51).
[Loz04]	LOZOVOY, V. V., I. PASTIRK, and M. DANTUS: 'Multiphoton intrapulse interference. IV. Ultrashort laser pulse spectral phase characterization and compensation'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (2004), vol. 29(7): pp. 775–777. DOI: 10. 1364/0L.29.000775 (cit. on p. 50).
[Lu14]	LU, CH., YJ. TSOU, HY. CHEN, BH. CHEN, YC. CHENG, SD. YANG, MC. CHEN, CC. HSU, and A. H. KUNG: 'Generation of intense supercontinuum in condensed media'. <i>Optica</i> (2014), vol. 1(6): pp. 400–406. DOI: 10.1364/OPTICA.1.000400 (cit. on p. 3).
[Lug68]	LUGOVOI, V. N. and A. M. PROKHOROV: 'Possible explanation of small-scale filaments of self-focusing filaments'. <i>JETP Lett.</i> (1968), vol. 7: pp. 117–119 (cit. on p. 30).
[Lut94]	LUTHER, G. G., A. C. NEWELL, J. V. MOLONEY, and E. M. WRIGHT: 'Short-pulse conical emission and spectral broadening in normally disper- sive media'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (1994), vol. 19(11): pp. 789–791. DOI: 10.1364/ OL.19.000789 (cit. on p. 11).
[Ma08]	MA, S., H. GAO, and L. WU: 'Modified Fourier-Hankel method based on analysis of errors in Abel inversion using Fourier transform techniques'. <i>Appl. Opt.</i> (2008), vol. 47(9): pp. 1350–1357. DOI: 10.1364/AO.47.001350 (cit. on p. 29).

- [Mah15] MAHIEU, B., D. GAUTHIER, G. DE NINNO, H. DACASA, M. LOZANO, J.-P. ROUSSEAU, P. ZEITOUN, D. GARZELLA, and H. MERDJI: 'Spectralphase interferometry for direct electric-field reconstruction applied to seeded extreme-ultraviolet free-electron lasers'. *Opt. Express* (2015), vol. 23(14): pp. 17665–17674. DOI: 10.1364/0E.23.017665 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Mah83] MAHAJAN, V. N.: 'Strehl ratio for primary aberrations in terms of their aberration variance'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. (1983), vol. 73(6): pp. 860–861.
 DOI: 10.1364/JOSA.73.000860 (cit. on p. 109).
- [Mai05] MAIRESSE, Y., O. GOBERT, P. BREGER, H. MERDJI, P. MEYNADIER,
 P. MONCHICOURT, M. PERDRIX, P. SALIÈRES, and B. CARRÉ: 'High Harmonic XUV Spectral Phase Interferometry for Direct Electric-Field Reconstruction'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2005), vol. 94(17): p. 173903. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.94.173903 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Mai66] MAIER, M., W. KAISER, and J. A. GIORDMAINE: 'Intense Light Bursts in the Stimulated Raman Effect'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (1966), vol. 17(26): pp. 1275–1277. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.17.1275 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Mai88] MAINE, P., D. STRICKLAND, P. BADO, M. PESSOT, and G. MOUROU:
 'Generation of ultrahigh peak power pulses by chirped pulse amplification'. *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.* (1988), vol. 24(2): pp. 398–403. DOI: 10. 1109/3.137 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Maj11] MAJUS, D., V. JUKNA, G. VALIULIS, D. FACCIO, and A. DUBIETIS:
 'Spatiotemporal rogue events in femtosecond filamentation'. *Phys. Rev.* A (2011), vol. 83(2): p. 025802. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.83.025802 (cit. on p. 122).
- [Mal09] MALONE, C. P., P. V. JOHNSON, J. A. YOUNG, X. LIU, B. AJDARI, M. A. KHAKOO, and I. KANIK: 'Integral cross sections for electronimpact excitation of the $C^3\Pi_u$, $E^3\Sigma_g^+$ and a" ${}^1\Sigma_g^+$ states of N₂'. J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. (2009), vol. 42: p. 225202. DOI: 10.1088/0953-4075/42/22/225202 (cit. on p. 75).

[Mar68]	MARBURGER, J. H. and E. DAWES: 'Dynamical Formation of a Small-Scale Filament'. <i>Phys. Rev. Lett.</i> (1968), vol. 21(8): pp. 556–558. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.21.556 (cit. on p. 17).
[Mar75]	MARBURGER, J. H.: 'Self-focusing: Theory'. <i>Prog. Quantum Electron.</i> (1975), vol. 4: pp. 35–110. DOI: 10.1016/0079-6727(75)90003-8 (cit. on p. 17).
[Mat04]	MATIJOŠIUS, A., J. TRULL, P. DI TRAPANI, A. DUBIETIS, R. PISKARSKAS, A. VARANAVIČIUS, and A. PISKARSKAS: 'Nonlinear space-time dynamics of ultrashort wave packets in water'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (2004), vol. 29(10): pp. 1123–1125. DOI: 10.1364/0L.29.001123 (cit. on p. 87).
[Mat18]	MATTHEWS, M., F. MORALES, A. PATAS, A. LINDINGER, J. GATEAU, N. BERTI, S. HERMELIN, J. KASPARIAN, M. RICHTER, T. BREDTMANN, O. SMIRNOVA, JP. WOLF, and M. IVANOV: 'Amplification of intense light fields by nearly free electrons'. <i>Nat. Phys.</i> (2018), vol. 14(7): pp. 695– 700. DOI: 10.1038/s41567-018-0105-0 (cit. on p. 8).
[Méc04]	MÉCHAIN, G., A. COUAIRON, YB. ANDRÉ, C. D'AMICO, M. FRANCO, B. PRADE, S. TZORTZAKIS, A. MYSYROWICZ, and R. SAUERBREY: 'Long-range self-channeling of infrared laser pulses in air: a new prop- agation regime without ionization'. <i>Appl. Phys. B</i> (2004), vol. 79(3): pp. 379–382. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-004-1557-8 (cit. on pp. 9, 12).
[Mic14]	MICHEL, P., L. DIVOL, D. TURNBULL, and J. D. MOODY: 'Dynamic Control of the Polarization of Intense Laser Beams via Optical Wave Mixing in Plasmas'. <i>Phys. Rev. Lett.</i> (2014), vol. 113(20): p. 205001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.205001 (cit. on p. 2).
[Mir12a]	MIRANDA, M., T. FORDELL, C. ARNOLD, A. L'HUILLIER, and H. CRESPO: 'Simultaneous compression and characterization of ultrashort laser pulses using chirped mirrors and glass wedges'. <i>Opt. Express</i> (2012), vol. 20(1): pp. 688–697. DOI: 10.1364/OE.20.000688 (cit. on pp. 5, 50, 51).

- [Mir12b] MIRANDA, M., C. L. ARNOLD, T. FORDELL, F. SILVA, B. ALONSO, R. WEIGAND, A. L'HUILLIER, and H. CRESPO: 'Characterization of broadband few-cycle laser pulses with the d-scan technique'. *Opt. Express* (2012), vol. 20(17): pp. 18732–18743. DOI: 10.1364/0E.20.018732 (cit. on pp. 5, 50, 51).
- [Mir14] MIRANDA, M., M. KOTUR, P. RUDAWSKI, C. GUO, A. HARTH, A. L'HUILLIER, and C. L. ARNOLD: 'Spatiotemporal characterization of ultrashort laser pulses using spatially resolved Fourier transform spectrometry'. *Opt. Lett.* (2014), vol. 39(17): pp. 5142–5145. DOI: 10.1364/OL.39.005142 (cit. on pp. 5, 43–45).
- [Mle98] MLEJNEK, M., E. M. WRIGHT, and J. V. MOLONEY: 'Dynamic spatial replenishment of femtosecond pulses propagating in air'. *Opt. Lett.* (1998), vol. 23(5): pp. 382–384. DOI: 10.1364/0L.23.000382 (cit. on p. 32).
- [Mle99] MLEJNEK, M., E. M. WRIGHT, and J. V. MOLONEY: 'Moving-focus versus self-waveguiding model for long-distance propagation of femtosecond pulses in air'. *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.* (1999), vol. 35(12): pp. 1771– 1776. DOI: 10.1109/3.806580 (cit. on p. 32).
- [Mul10] MULSER, P. and D. BAUER: High Power Laser-Matter Interaction. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-46065-7 (cit. on p. 24).
- [Nai16] NAIDOO, D., F. S. ROUX, A. DUDLEY, I. LITVIN, B. PICCIRILLO,
 L. MARRUCCI, and A. FORBES: 'Controlled generation of higher-order
 Poincaré sphere beams from a laser'. *Nat. Photonics* (2016), vol. 10(5):
 pp. 327–332. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2016.37 (cit. on p. 120).
- [Neo22] NEORIČIĆ, L., C. JUSKO, S. MIKAELSSON, C. GUO, M. MIRANDA,
 S. ZHONG, F. GARMIRIAN, B. MAJOR, J. M. BROWN, M. B. GAARDE,
 A. COUAIRON, U. MORGNER, M. KOVAČEV, and C. L. ARNOLD: '4D
 spatio-temporal electric field characterization of ultrashort light pulses
 undergoing filamentation'. Opt. Express (2022), vol. 30(15): pp. 27938–

27950. DOI: 10.1364/0E.461388 (cit. on pp. 52, 88–90, 101, 102, 104, 106–108, 110).

- [Nib96] NIBBERING, E. T. J., P. F. CURLEY, G. GRILLON, B. S. PRADE,
 M. A. FRANCO, F. SALIN, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Conical emission from self-guided femtosecond pulses in air'. *Opt. Lett.* (1996), vol. 21(1): pp. 62–64. DOI: 10.1364/0L.21.000062 (cit. on pp. 11, 32).
- [Nie18] NIE, Z., C.-H. PAI, J. HUA, C. ZHANG, Y. WU, Y. WAN, F. LI, J. ZHANG, Z. CHENG, Q. SU, S. LIU, Y. MA, X. NING, Y. HE, W. LU, H.-H. CHU, J. WANG, W. B. MORI, and C. JOSHI: 'Relativistic single-cycle tunable infrared pulses generated from a tailored plasma density structure'. *Nat. Photonics* (2018), vol. 12(8): pp. 489–494. DOI: 10.1038/s41566-018-0190-8 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Nis96] NISOLI, M., S. DE SILVESTRI, and O. SVELTO: 'Generation of high energy 10 fs pulses by a new pulse compression technique'. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* (1996), vol. 68(20): pp. 2793–2795. DOI: 10.1063/1.116609 (cit. on p. 3).
- [O'S01] O'SHEA, P., M. KIMMEL, X. GU, and R. TREBINO: 'Highly simplified device for ultrashort-pulse measurement'. *Opt. Lett.* (2001), vol. 26(12): pp. 932–934. DOI: 10.1364/0L.26.000932 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Oks10] OKSENHENDLER, T., S. COUDREAU, N. FORGET, V. CROZATIER, S. GRABIELLE, R. HERZOG, O. GOBERT, and D. KAPLAN: 'Self-referenced spectral interferometry'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2010), vol. 99(1): pp. 7–12. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-010-3916-y (cit. on p. 50).
- [Pap01] PAPADOGIANNIS, N. A., C. KALPOUZOS, E. GOULIELMAKIS, G. NER-SISYAN, D. CHARALAMBIDIS, F. AUGÉ, F. WEIHE, and PH. BALCOU:
 'Kilohertz extreme-ultraviolet light source based on femtosecond high-order harmonic generation from noble gases'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2001), vol. 73(7): pp. 687–692. DOI: 10.1007/s003400100734 (cit. on p. 3).

- [Par16] PARIENTE, G., V. GALLET, A. BOROT, O. GOBERT, and F. QUÉRÉ:
 'Space-time characterization of ultra-intense femtosecond laser beams'. Nat. Photonics (2016), vol. 10(8): pp. 547–553. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton. 2016.140 (cit. on p. 43).
- [Per66] PERELOMOV, A. M., V. S. POPOV, and M. V. TERENT'EV: 'Ionization of Atoms in an Alternating Electric Field'. Sov. Phys. JETP (1966), vol. 23: p. 924 (cit. on pp. 25, 99).
- [Pfe06] PFEIFER, T., CH. SPIELMANN, and G. GERBER: 'Femtosecond x-ray science'. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* (2006), vol. 69(2): pp. 443–505. DOI: 10.1088/0034-4885/69/2/r04 (cit. on p. 21).
- [Phi05] PHILIP, J., C. D'AMICO, G. CHÉRIAUX, A. COUAIRON, B. PRADE, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Amplification of Femtosecond Laser Filaments in Ti:Sapphire'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2005), vol. 95(16): p. 163901. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.163901 (cit. on p. 10).
- [Pre10] PREM KIRAN, P., S. BAGCHI, C. L. ARNOLD, S. R. KRISHNAN, G. RAVINDRA KUMAR, and A. COUAIRON: 'Filamentation without intensity clamping'. *Opt. Express* (2010), vol. 18(20): pp. 21504–21510. DOI: 10. 1364/0E.18.021504 (cit. on p. 36).
- [Pro21] PRODUIT, T., P. WALCH, C. HERKOMMER, A. MOSTAJABI, M. MORET, U. ANDRAL, A. SUNJERGA, M. AZADIFAR, Y.-B. ANDRÉ, B. MAHIEU, W. HAAS, B. ESMILLER, G. FOURNIER, P. KRÖTZ, T. METZGER, K. MICHEL, A. MYSYROWICZ, M. RUBINSTEIN, F. RACHIDI, J. KASPAR-IAN, J.-P. WOLF, and A. HOUARD: 'The laser lightning rod project'. *Eur. Phys. J. Appl. Phys.* (2021), vol. 93(1): p. 10504. DOI: 10.1051/epjap/2020200243 (cit. on p. 121).
- [Pus19] PUSHKAREV, D., E. MITINA, D. SHIPILO, N. PANOV, D. URYUPINA, A. USHAKOV, R. VOLKOV, A. KARABUTOV, I. BABUSHKIN, A. DEMIRCAN, U. MORGNER, O. KOSAREVA, and A. SAVEL'EV: 'Transverse structure and energy deposition by a subTW femtosecond laser in air: from single

filament to superfilament'. New J. Phys. (2019), vol. 21(3): p. 033027. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/ab043f (cit. on p. 87).

- [Rad07] RADUNSKY, ALEKSANDER S., IAN A. WALMSLEY, SIMON-PIERRE GORZA, and PIOTR WASYLCZYK: 'Compact spectral shearing interferometer for ultrashort pulse characterization'. *Opt. Lett.* (2007), vol. 32(2): pp. 181–183. DOI: 10.1364/0L.32.000181 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Rai00] RAIROUX, P., H. SCHILLINGER, S. NIEDERMEIER, M. RODRIGUEZ, F. RONNEBERGER, R. SAUERBREY, B. STEIN, D. WAITE, C. WEDEKIND, H. WILLE, L. WÖSTE, and C. ZIENER: 'Remote sensing of the atmosphere using ultrashort laser pulses'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2000), vol. 71(4): pp. 573–580. DOI: 10.1007/s003400000375 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Rey18] REYES, D., M. BAUDELET, M. RICHARDSON, and S. ROSTAMI FAIRCHILD:
 'Transition from linear- to nonlinear-focusing regime of laser filament plasma dynamics'. J. Appl. Phys. (2018), vol. 124(5): p. 053103. DOI: 10.1063/1.5027573 (cit. on pp. 22, 28, 29).
- [Rho17] RHODES, M., Z. GUANG, J. PEASE, and R. TREBINO: 'Visualizing spatiotemporal pulse propagation: first-order spatiotemporal couplings in laser pulses'. *Appl. Opt.* (2017), vol. 56(11): pp. 3024–3034. DOI: 10. 1364/A0.56.003024 (cit. on p. 42).
- [Ros97] ROSS, I. N., P. MATOUSEK, M. TOWRIE, A. J. LANGLEY, and J. L. COLLIER: 'The prospects for ultrashort pulse duration and ultrahigh intensity using optical parametric chirped pulse amplifiers'. *Opt. Commun.* (1997), vol. 144(1): pp. 125–133. DOI: 10.1016/S0030-4018(97)00399-4 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Rot09] ROTHHARDT, J., S. HÄDRICH, T. GOTTSCHALL, T. CLAUSNITZER, J. LIMPERT, and A. TÜNNERMANN: 'Compact fiber amplifier pumped OPCPA system delivering Gigawatt peak power 35 fs pulses'. *Opt. Express* (2009), vol. 17(26): pp. 24130–24136. DOI: 10.1364/OE.17.024130 (cit. on p. 1).

- [Run98] RUNDQUIST, A., C. G. DURFEE, Z. CHANG, C. HERNE, S. BACKUS,
 M. M. MURNANE, and H. C. KAPTEYN: 'Phase-Matched Generation of Coherent Soft X-rays'. *Science* (1998), vol. 280(5368): pp. 1412–1415.
 DOI: 10.1126/science.280.5368.1412 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Sal97] SALIÈRES, P., A. L'HUILLIER, P. ANTOINE, and M. LEWENSTEIN:
 'Study of the spatial and temporal coherence of high order harmonics'. arXiv e-prints (1997), vol., quant-ph/9710060. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv. quant-ph/9710060 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Sch09] SCHULZ, E., T. BINHAMMER, D. S. STEINGRUBE, S. RAUSCH, M. KOVACEV, and U. MORGNER: 'Intense few-cycle laser pulses from self-compression in a self-guiding filament'. Appl. Phys. B (2009), vol. 95(2): p. 269. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-009-3456-5 (cit. on p. 87).
- [Sch11a] SCHULZ, E., D. S. STEINGRUBE, T. BINHAMMER, M. B. GAARDE, A. COUAIRON, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'Tracking spectral shapes and temporal dynamics along a femtosecond filament'. *Opt. Express* (2011), vol. 19(20): pp. 19495–19507. DOI: 10.1364/0E.19.019495 (cit. on pp. 87, 88).
- [Sch11b] SCHULZ, E., D. S. STEINGRUBE, T. VOCKERODT, T. BINHAMMER, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'Gradient enhanced third harmonic generation in a femtosecond filament'. *Opt. Lett.* (2011), vol. 36(22): pp. 4389–4391. DOI: 10.1364/OL.36.004389 (cit. on p. 38).
- [Sch12] SCHULZ, E.: 'Ultrakurze Laserpulse aus einem Filament'. PhD thesis.
 Leibniz Universität Hannover, 2012. DOI: 10.15488/7973 (cit. on pp. 9, 11).
- [Sch16] SCHULTE, J., T. SARTORIUS, J. WEITENBERG, A. VERNALEKEN, and P. RUSSBUELDT: 'Nonlinear pulse compression in a multi-pass cell'. Opt. Lett. (2016), vol. 41(19): pp. 4511–4514. DOI: 10.1364/OL.41.004511 (cit. on p. 3).

[Sch99]	SCHILLINGER, H. and R. SAUERBREY: 'Electrical conductivity of long plasma channels in air generated by self-guided femtosecond laser pulses.' <i>Appl. Phys. B</i> (1999), vol. 68(4). DOI: 10.1007/s003400050699 (cit. on p. 23).
[Sha77]	 SHAPIRO, S. L.: Ultrashort Light Pulses - Picosecond Techniques and Applications. First Edition. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, 1977. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-22574-5 (cit. on p. 50).
[She71]	 SHEN, Y. R. and MICHAEL M. T. LOY: 'Theoretical Interpretation of Small-Scale Filaments of Light Originating from Moving Focal Spots'. <i>Phys. Rev. A</i> (1971), vol. 3(6): pp. 2099–2105. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA. 3.2099 (cit. on p. 18).
[She84]	SHEN, Y. R.: <i>The Principles of Nonlinear Optics</i> . Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1984 (cit. on pp. 30, 31).
[She90]	 SHELTON, D. P.: 'Nonlinear-optical susceptibilities of gases measured at 1064 and 1319 nm'. <i>Phys. Rev. A</i> (5 Sept. 1990), vol. 42: pp. 2578–2592. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.42.2578 (cit. on p. 99).
[Sil13]	SILVA, F., M. MIRANDA, S. TEICHMANN, M. BAUDISCH, M. MASSI- COTTE, F. KOPPENS, J. BIEGERT, and H. CRESPO: 'Near to mid-IR ultra-broadband third harmonic generation in multilayer graphene: Few- cycle pulse measurement using THG dispersion-scan'. <i>CLEO: 2013.</i> 2013: pp. 1–2. DOI: 10.1364/CLE0_SI.2013.CW1H.5 (cit. on p. 51).
[Sil17]	SILVA, F., I. J. SOLA, H. CRESPO, R. ROMERO, M. MIRANDA, C. L. ARNOLD, A. L'HUILLIER, J. TRULL, and C. COJOCARU: 'Monolithic single-shot dispersion-scan: a new tool for real-time measurement and optimization of femtosecond pulses'. <i>CLEO/Europe-EQEC</i> . 2017: CF 11.3. DOI: 10.1109/CLEOE-EQEC.2017.8086681 (cit. on p. 51).
[Sil19]	SILVA, C. L. da, R. G. SONNENFELD, H. E. EDENS, P. R. KREHBIEL, M. G. QUICK, and W. J. KOSHAK: 'The Plasma Nature of Lightning Channels and the Resulting Nonlinear Resistance'. <i>J. Geophys. Res.</i>

Atmos. (2019), vol. 124(16): pp. 9442–9463. DOI: 10.1029/2019JD030693 (cit. on p. 19).

- [Sku06] SKUPIN, S., G. STIBENZ, L. BERGÉ, F. LEDERER, T. SOKOLLIK, M. SCHNÜRER, N. ZHAVORONKOV, and G. STEINMEYER: 'Self-compression by femtosecond pulse filamentation: Experiments versus numerical simulations'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2006), vol. 74(5): p. 056604. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevE.74.056604 (cit. on pp. 33, 87).
- [Sme12] SMETANINA, E. O., A. E. DORMIDONOV, and V. P. KANDIDOV: 'Spatiotemporal evolution scenarios of femtosecond laser pulse filamentation in fused silica'. *Laser Phys.* (2012), vol. 22(7): pp. 1189–1198. DOI: 10. 1134/S1054660X12070122 (cit. on p. 9).
- [Smo00] SMOLORZ, S. and F. WISE: 'Femtosecond two-beam coupling energy transfer from Raman and electronic nonlinearities'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (Sept. 2000), vol. 17(9): pp. 1636–1644. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.17.001636 (cit. on p. 84).
- [Ste09a] STEINGRUBE, D. S., T. VOCKERODT, E. SCHULZ, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'Phase matching of high-order harmonics in a semi-infinite gas cell'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2009), vol. 80(4): p. 043819. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevA.80.043819 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Ste09b] STEINGRUBE, D. S., E. SCHULZ, T. BINHAMMER, T. VOCKERODT, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'Generation of high-order harmonics with ultra-short pulses from filamentation'. *Opt. Express* (2009), vol. 17(18): pp. 16177–16182. DOI: 10.1364/0E.17.016177 (cit. on p. 35).
- [Ste11a] STEINGRUBE, D. S.: 'High-order harmonic generation with ultra-short pulses from filamentation'. PhD thesis. Leibniz Universität Hannover, 2011. DOI: 10.15488/7762 (cit. on pp. 8, 25, 35, 36).
- [Ste11b] STEINGRUBE, D. S., E. SCHULZ, T. BINHAMMER, M. B. GAARDE, A. COUAIRON, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'High-order harmonic generation directly from a filament'. New J. Phys. (2011), vol. 13(4):

p. 043022. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/13/4/043022 (cit. on pp. 3, 35, 36).

- [Ste12] STEINGRUBE, D. S., M. KRETSCHMAR, D. HOFF, E. SCHULZ, T. BIN-HAMMER, P. HANSINGER, G. G. PAULUS, U. MORGNER, and M. KO-VAČEV: 'Sub-1.5-cycle pulses from a single filament'. *Opt. Express* (2012), vol. 20(21): pp. 24049–24058. DOI: 10.1364/0E.20.024049 (cit. on pp. 3, 19, 36).
- [Sti06] STIBENZ, G., N. ZHAVORONKOV, and G. STEINMEYER: 'Self-compression of millijoule pulses to 7.8 fs duration in a white-light filament'. Opt. Lett. (2006), vol. 31(2): pp. 274–276. DOI: 10.1364/OL.31.000274 (cit. on p. 87).
- [Sto92] STOCK, G. and W. DOMCKE: 'Detection of ultrafast molecular-excitedstate dynamics with time- and frequency-resolved pump-probe spectroscopy'. *Phys. Rev. A* (1992), vol. 45(5): pp. 3032–3040. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevA.45.3032 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Str85] STRICKLAND, D. and G. MOUROU: 'Compression of amplified chirped optical pulses'. Opt. Commun. (1985), vol. 55(6): pp. 447–449. DOI: 10.1016/0030-4018(85)90151-8 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Sun09] SUNTSOV, S., D. ABDOLLAHPOUR, D. G. PAPAZOGLOU, and S. TZORTZA-KIS: 'Efficient third-harmonic generation through tailored IR femtosecond laser pulse filamentation in air'. *Opt. Express* (2009), vol. 17(5): pp. 3190– 3195. DOI: 10.1364/0E.17.003190 (cit. on pp. 3, 4, 38, 59, 60, 83).
- [Sun10] SUNTSOV, S., D. ABDOLLAHPOUR, D. G. PAPAZOGLOU, and S. TZORTZA-KIS: 'Filamentation-induced third-harmonic generation in air via plasmaenhanced third-order susceptibility'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2010), vol. 81(3): p. 033817. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.81.033817 (cit. on pp. 4, 38, 59, 83, 85).
- [Swe97] SWEETSER, J. N., D. N. FITTINGHOFF, and R. TREBINO: 'Transientgrating frequency-resolved optical gating'. Opt. Lett. (1997), vol. 22(8): pp. 519–521. DOI: 10.1364/0L.22.000519 (cit. on p. 51).

- [Syt21] SYTCEVICH, I., C. GUO, S. MIKAELSSON, J. VOGELSANG, A.-L. VIOTTI,
 B. ALONSO, R. ROMERO, P. T. GUERREIRO, Í. J. SOLA, A. L'HUILLIER,
 H. CRESPO, M. MIRANDA, and C. L. ARNOLD: 'Characterizing ultrashort laser pulses with second harmonic dispersion scans'. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2021), vol. 38(5): pp. 1546–1555. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.412535 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Taj16] TAJALLI, A., B. CHANTEAU, M. KRETSCHMAR, H. G. KURZ, D. ZU-BER, M. KOVACEV, U. MORGNER, and T. NAGY: 'Few-cycle optical pulse characterization via cross-polarized wave generation dispersion scan technique'. *Opt. Lett.* (2016), vol. 41(22): pp. 5246–5249. DOI: 10.1364/0L.41.005246 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Taj79] TAJIMA, T. and J. M. DAWSON: 'Laser Electron Accelerator'. Phys. Rev. Lett. (1979), vol. 43(4): pp. 267–270. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.43.267 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Tak02] TAKAHASHI, E., Y. NABEKAWA, T. OTSUKA, M. OBARA, and K. MI-DORIKAWA: 'Generation of highly coherent submicrojoule soft x rays by high-order harmonics'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2002), vol. 66(2): p. 021802. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.66.021802 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Tak06] TAKADA, H. and K. TORIZUKA: 'Design and construction of a TW-class 12-fs Ti:Sapphire chirped-pulse amplification system'. *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.* (2006), vol. 12(2): pp. 201–212. DOI: 10.1109/JSTQE. 2006.871958 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Thé05] THÉBERGE, F., N. AKÖZBEK, W. LIU, J.-F. GRAVEL, and S.L. CHIN:
 'Third harmonic beam profile generated in atmospheric air using femtosecond laser pulses'. *Opt. Commun.* (2005), vol. 245(1): pp. 399–405. DOI: 10.1016/j.optcom.2004.10.020 (cit. on pp. 37, 38).
- [Thé06] THÉBERGE, F., W. LIU, P. TR. SIMARD, A. BECKER, and S. L. CHIN:
 'Plasma density inside a femtosecond laser filament in air: Strong dependence on external focusing'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2006), vol. 74(3): p. 036406. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.74.036406 (cit. on pp. 9, 74).

[Thé08]	THÉBERGE, F., M. CHÂTEAUNEUF, V. ROSS, P. MATHIEU, and J. DUBOIS: 'Ultrabroadband conical emission generated from the ultraviolet up to the far-infrared during the optical filamentation in air'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i> (2008), vol. 33(21): pp. 2515–2517. DOI: 10.1364/OL.33.002515 (cit. on p. 11).
[Toc19]	TOCHITSKY, S., E. WELCH, M. POLYANSKIY, I. POGORELSKY, P. PANAGIOTOPOULOS, M. KOLESIK, E. M. WRIGHT, S. W. KOCH, J. V. MOLONEY, J. PIGEON, and C. JOSHI: 'Megafilament in air formed by self-guided terawatt long-wavelength infrared laser'. <i>Nat. Photonics</i> (2019), vol. 13(1): pp. 41–46. DOI: 10.1038/s41566-018-0315-0 (cit. on p. 8).
[Tra03]	DI TRAPANI, P., G. VALIULIS, A. PISKARSKAS, O. JEDRKIEWICZ, J. TRULL, C. CONTI, and S. TRILLO: 'Spontaneously Generated X-Shaped Light Bullets'. <i>Phys. Rev. Lett.</i> (2003), vol. 91(9): p. 093904. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.093904 (cit. on p. 11).
[Tre00]	TREBINO, R.: Frequency-Resolved Optical Gating: The Measurement of Ultrashort Laser Pulses. First Edition. Kluwer Academic, Boston, MA, 2000. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-1181-6 (cit. on p. 51).
[Tre93]	TREBINO, R. and D. J. KANE: 'Using phase retrieval to measure the intensity and phase of ultrashort pulses: frequency-resolved optical gating'. <i>J. Opt. Soc. Am. A</i> (1993), vol. 10(5): pp. 1101–1111. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAA.10.001101 (cit. on p. 51).
[Tre97]	TREBINO, R., K. W. DELONG, D. N. FITTINGHOFF, J. N. SWEETSER, M. A. KRUMBÜGEL, B. A. RICHMAN, and D. J. KANE: 'Measuring ultrashort laser pulses in the time-frequency domain using frequency- resolved optical gating'. <i>Rev. Sci. Instrum.</i> (1997), vol. 68(9): pp. 3277– 3295. DOI: 10.1063/1.1148286 (cit. on p. 50).
[Tsa96]	TSANG, T., M. A. KRUMBÜGEL, K. W. DELONG, D. N. FITTINGHOFF, and R. TREBINO: 'Frequency-resolved optical-gating measurements of ultrashort pulses using surface third-harmonic generation'. <i>Opt. Lett.</i>

(1996), vol. 21(17): pp. 1381–1383. DOI: 10.1364/0L.21.001381 (cit. on p. 51).

- [Tur16] TURNBULL, D., P. MICHEL, T. CHAPMAN, E. TUBMAN, B. B. POL-LOCK, C. Y. CHEN, C. GOYON, J. S. ROSS, L. DIVOL, N. WOOLSEY, and J. D. MOODY: 'High Power Dynamic Polarization Control Using Plasma Photonics'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2016), vol. 116(20): p. 205001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.205001 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Tzo01a] TZORTZAKIS, S., B. LAMOUROUX, A. CHIRON, S.D. MOUSTAIZIS,
 D. ANGLOS, M. FRANCO, B. PRADE, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Femtosecond and picosecond ultraviolet laser filaments in air: experiments and simulations'. *Opt. Commun.* (2001), vol. 197(1): pp. 131–143. DOI: 10.1016/S0030-4018(01)01443-2 (cit. on p. 87).
- [Tzo01b] TZORTZAKIS, S., B. PRADE, M. FRANCO, A. MYSYROWICZ, S. HÜLLER, and P. MORA: 'Femtosecond laser-guided electric discharge in air'. *Phys. Rev. E* (2001), vol. 64(5): p. 057401. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.64.057401 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Tzo01c] TZORTZAKIS, S., L. SUDRIE, M. FRANCO, B. PRADE, A. MYSYROWICZ,
 A. COUAIRON, and L. BERGÉ: 'Self-Guided Propagation of Ultrashort IR Laser Pulses in Fused Silica'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (2001), vol. 87(21):
 p. 213902. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.213902 (cit. on p. 9).
- [TZ099] TZORTZAKIS, S., M. A. FRANCO, Y.-B. ANDRÉ, A. CHIRON, B. LAM-OUROUX, B. S. PRADE, and A. MYSYROWICZ: 'Formation of a conducting channel in air by self-guided femtosecond laser pulses'. *Phys. Rev. E* (1999), vol. 60(4): R3505–R3507. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.60.R3505 (cit. on p. 23).
- [Voc12] VOCKERODT, T., D. S. STEINGRUBE, E. SCHULZ, M. KRETSCHMAR, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVAČEV: 'Low- and high-order harmonic generation inside an air filament'. *Appl. Phys. B* (2012), vol. 106(3): pp. 529–532. DOI: 10.1007/s00340-011-4858-8 (cit. on p. 35).

- [Wah12] WAHLSTRAND, J. K., Y.-H. CHENG, and H. M. MILCHBERG: 'Absolute measurement of the transient optical nonlinearity in N₂, O₂, N₂O, and Ar'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2012), vol. 85(4): p. 043820. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA. 85.043820 (cit. on p. 20).
- [Wah13] WAHLSTRAND, J. K., J. H. ODHNER, E. T. MCCOLE, Y.-H. CHENG, J. P. PALASTRO, R. J. LEVIS, and H. M. MILCHBERG: 'Effect of twobeam coupling in strong-field optical pump-probe experiments'. *Phys. Rev. A* (2013), vol. 87(5): p. 053801. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.87.053801 (cit. on p. 84).
- [Wil20] WILLS, S.: 'ELI: Open for Business'. Opt. Photon. News (2020), vol. 31(1): pp. 30–37. DOI: 10.1364/OPN.31.1.000030 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Xi09] XI, T.-T., X. LU, and J. ZHANG: 'Enhancement of third harmonic emission by interaction of two colored filament with droplet in air'. Opt. Commun. (2009), vol. 282(15): pp. 3140–3143. DOI: 10.1016/j.optcom. 2009.04.038 (cit. on pp. 38, 39).
- [Xin93] XING, Q., K. M. YOO, and R. R. ALFANO: 'Conical emission by fourphoton parametric generation by using femtosecond laser pulses'. *Appl. Opt.* (1993), vol. 32(12): pp. 2087–2089. DOI: 10.1364/AO.32.002087 (cit. on p. 11).
- [Xu06] XU, B., Y. COELLO, V. V. LOZOVOY, D. AHMASI HARRIS, and M. DANTUS: 'Pulse shaping of octave spanning femtosecond laser pulses'. Opt. Express (2006), vol. 14(22): pp. 10939–10944. DOI: 10.1364/0E.14.
 010939 (cit. on p. 50).
- [Yam02] YAMANOUCHI, K.: 'The Next Frontier'. Science (2002), vol. 295(5560):
 pp. 1659–1660. DOI: 10.1126/science.1068449 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Yam11] YAMANOUCHI, K.: Lectures on Ultrafast Intense Laser Science 1. First Edition. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, 2011. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-95944-1 (cit. on p. 74).

- [Yao12] YAO, J., B. ZENG, W. CHU, J. NI, and Y. CHENG: 'Enhancement of third harmonic generation in femtosecond laser induced filamentation comparison of results obtained with plasma and a pair of glass plates'. J. Mod. Opt. (2012), vol. 59(3): pp. 245–249. DOI: 10.1080/09500340. 2011.624202 (cit. on pp. 38, 60, 83).
- [Yua13] YUAN, S., T. WANG, Y. TERANISHI, A. SRIDHARAN, S. HSIEN LIN, H. ZENG, and S. L. CHIN: 'Lasing action in water vapor induced by ultrashort laser filamentation'. *Applied Physics Letters* (2013), vol. 102(22): p. 224102. DOI: 10.1063/1.4809585 (cit. on pp. 3, 8).
- [Zaï07] ZAÏR, A., A. GUANDALINI, F. SCHAPPER, M. HOLLER, J. BIEGERT,
 L. GALLMANN, A. COUAIRON, M. FRANCO, A. MYSYROWICZ, and U.
 KELLER: 'Spatio-temporal characterization of few-cycle pulses obtained
 by filamentation'. *Opt. Express* (2007), vol. 15(9): pp. 5394–5405. DOI:
 10.1364/0E.15.005394 (cit. on p. 35).
- [Zew00] ZEWAIL, A. H.: 'Femtochemistry: Atomic-Scale Dynamics of the Chemical Bond'. J. Phys. Chem. A (2000), vol. 104(24): pp. 5660-5694. DOI: 10.1021/jp001460h (cit. on p. 1).
- [Zha09] ZHAN, Q.: 'Cylindrical vector beams: from mathematical concepts to applications'. Adv. Opt. Photon. (2009), vol. 1(1): pp. 1–57. DOI: 10. 1364/AOP.1.000001 (cit. on p. 120).
- [Zha10] ZHANG, Z., X. LU, Y. ZHANG, M. ZHOU, T. XI, Z. WANG, and J. ZHANG: 'Enhancement of third-harmonic emission from femtosecond laser filament screened partially by a thin fiber'. *Opt. Lett.* (2010), vol. 35(7): pp. 974–976. DOI: 10.1364/0L.35.000974 (cit. on pp. 38, 39).
- [Zho14] ZHOKHOV, P. A. and A. M. ZHELTIKOV: 'Scaling laws for laser-induced filamentation'. *Phys. Rev. A* (4 Apr. 2014), vol. 89: p. 043816. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.89.043816 (cit. on p. 13).

A Parameter study

In this appendix, the complementary figures of the parameter study of Sec. 3.2.1 for the parameters pulse energy, polarization, and pulse duration are shown. These particular figures were not implemented into Sec. 3.2.1, as the respective parameter scans showed no significant influence on the temporal plasma evolution illustrated in them.

Pulse energy

40

A.1 Pulse energy

0

0

20

Figure A.1: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse energies in carbon dioxide measured at 1.1 bar.

60

Delay (ps)

80

100

120



Figure A.2: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse energies in nitrogen measured at 1.1 bar.



Figure A.3: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse energies in xenon measured at 0.5 bar.
A.2 Polarization



Figure A.4: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump beam polarization states with respect to the probe beam in carbon dioxide measured at 1.1 bar.



Figure A.5: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump beam polarization states with respect to the probe beam in nitrogen measured at 1.1 bar.

A.3 Pulse duration



Figure A.6: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse durations in nitrogen measured at 1.1 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.



Figure A.7: Normalized temporal TH evolution signal for different pump pulse durations in xenon measured at 0.5 bar. The traces are normalized to the maxima of the signals.

Publications

Scientific publications

- Jusko, C., A. SRIDHAR, E. APPI, L. SHI, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Filamentation-assisted plasma lifetime measurements in atomic and molecular gases via third-harmonic enhancement'. *Journal of the Optical Society of America B* (2019), vol. 36(12): pp. 3505–3513. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAB.36.003505.
- APPI, E., C. C. PAPADOPOULOU, J. L. MAPA, N. WESAVKAR, C. Jusko, P. MOSEL, S. ALIŠAUSKAS, T. LANG, C. M. HEYL, B. MAN-SCHWETUS, M. BRACHMANSKI, M. BRAUNE, H. LINDENBLATT, F. TROST, S. MEISTER, P. SCHOCH, R. TREUSCH, R. MOSHAMMER, I. HARTL, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'A synchronized VUV light source based on high-order harmonic generation at FLASH'. Scientific Reports (2020), vol. 10(1): p. 6867. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-63019-2.
- APPI, E., C. C. PAPADOPOULOU, J. L. MAPA, C. Jusko, P. MOSEL, A. SCHOENBERG, J. STOCK, T. FEIGL, S. ALIŠAUSKAS, T. LANG, C. M. HEYL, B. MANSCHWETUS, M. BRACHMANSKI, M. BRAUNE, H. LINDENBLATT, F. TROST, S. MEISTER, P. SCHOCH, A. TRABATTONI, F. CALEGARI, R. TREUSCH, R. MOSHAMMER, I. HARTL, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Synchronized beamline at FLASH2 based on highorder harmonic generation for two-color dynamics studies'. *Review of Scientific Instruments* (2021), vol. 92(12): p. 123004. DOI: 10.1063/5. 0063225.
- NEORIČIĆ, L., C. Jusko, S. MIKAELSSON, C. GUO, M. MIRANDA, S. ZHONG, F. GARMIRIAN, B. MAJOR, J. M. BROWN, M. B. GAARDE, A. COUAIRON, U. MORGNER, M. KOVAČEV, and C. L. ARNOLD: '4D spatio-temporal electric field characterization of ultrashort light pulses undergoing filamentation'. *Optics Express* (2022), vol. 30(15): pp. 27938–27950. DOI: 10.1364/0E.461388.

Submissions to international conferences

- Jusko, C., L. SHI, A. SRIDHAR, E. APPI, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Filamentation-Based Transient Dynamic Studies via Third-Harmonic Generation in Gases'. 2019 Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics Europe European Quantum Electronics Conference (CLEO/Europe-EQEC). 2019: pp. 1–1. DOI: 10.1109/CLEOE-EQEC.2019.8873191.
- APPI, E., C. C. PAPADOPOULOU, J. MAPA, N. WESAVKAR, C. Jusko, P. MOSEL, S. ALISAUSKAS, T. LANG, C. M. HEYL, B. MANSCHWETUS, M. BRAUNE, M. BRACHMANSKI, H. LINDENBLATT, F. TROST, S. MEISTER, P. SCHOCH, R. TREUSCH, R. MOSHAMMER, I. HARTL, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'A synchronized VUV beamline for time domain two-color dynamic studies at FLASH2'. *Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics*. Optical Society of America, 2020: FW4D.2. DOI: 10.1364/CLE0_QELS.2020.FW4D.2.
- APPI, E., C. C. PAPADOPOULOU, J. MAPA, N. WESAVKAR, C. Jusko, P. MOSEL, S. ALISAUSKAS, T. LANG, C. M. HEYL, B. MANSCHWETUS, M. BRAUNE, M. BRACHMANSKI, H. LINDENBLATT, F. TROST, S. MEISTER, P. SCHOCH, R. TREUSCH, R. MOSHAMMER, I. HARTL, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Synchronized HHG based source at FLASH'. OSA High-brightness Sources and Light-driven Interactions Congress 2020 (EUVXRAY, HILAS, MICS). Optical Society of America, 2020: HTh1B.3. DOI: 10.1364/HILAS.2020.HTh1B.3.
- Jusko, C., L. NEORIČIĆ, S. MIKAELSSON, F. GARMIRIAN, C. GUO, S. ZHONG, B. MAJOR, M. MIRANDA, U. MORGNER, A. L'HUILLIER, A. COUAIRON, M. KOVAČEV, and C. L. ARNOLD: 'Spatio-temporal characterization of a femtosecond filament along its length'. OSA Highbrightness Sources and Light-driven Interactions Congress 2020 (EU-VXRAY, HILAS, MICS). Optical Society of America, 2020: HM1B.4. DOI: 10.1364/HILAS.2020.HM1B.4.
- Jusko, C., A. SRIDHAR, E. APPI, L. SHI, U. MORGNER, and M. KOVACEV: 'Femtosecond laser-induced plasma evolution studies via third-harmonic enhancement in atomic and molecular gases'. OSA High-brightness Sources and Light-driven Interactions Congress 2020 (EU-VXRAY, HILAS, MICS). Optical Society of America, 2020: JW1A.15. DOI: 10.1364/EUVXRAY.2020.JW1A.15.

Acknowledgments

Here and now, and in my opinion way too late in this thesis, I want to thank all the people, who helped and supported so much during my PhD. "PhD", three letters for experiences that could fill books. Trying to summarize this time in a little bit more than one page by expressing my gratitude to you all seems impossible but let me try.

Special thanks go to Milutin Kovačev for being my supervisor, who always encouraged me to go on and to tackle any issue on the way. I really appreciate your confidence in me for always finding a solution. My deep gratitude goes to both Milutin Kovačev and Uwe Morgner for giving me the opportunity to work on my project and for always welcoming me in their group since my bachelor time! At this point I also have to express my thanks to Cord Arnold for all the great assistance and support in finishing the analysis for our Lund-Hannover project despite living in two different countries and a worldwide pandemic taking place. Thank you to both of you, Milutin and Cord, for giving me this wonderful opportunity to perform a part of my research in Lund. I really appreciated my time there!

Big thanks also go to Lana Neoričić, for our congenial cooperation in performing all the measurements for the Lund-Hannover project and our countless great conversations about the project and so much more. We shared the effort and now we can also share the great outcome!

I am truly thankful for the super nice and inspiring atmosphere provided by all members of AG Morgner over my time in the group. I am more than happy to have been a part of you! Robin, keep going with your astrophotography projects! Limitless thanks go to the people from "downstairs labs", to José Louise Mapa for great conversations about everything and above all to Philip Mosel and Elisa Appi. Some people would be happy if they tamed a dragon once in their lifetime. We sometimes tamed a dragon multiple times a day among other tasks and thought it would be the most normal thing to do. Simply and truly thank you for the great time! Elisa, you deserve way more credit than I can possibly give you here. You have been the best lab buddy of the world! Thank you for your indescribable support over all these years from the beginning till the end. Mille grazie, my friend!

My deepest and greatest gratitude goes to my friends and family, who always supported and accompanied through all the ups and downs of these past years. You motivated me to always keep going. Thank you Laura, Tobi and Marcus for all the great distraction from work. You are the best! Immeasurable thanks go to my family. Mama, Papa, Thomas, Steffen, Oma und Opa, diese Arbeit ist auch eure Arbeit! Danke für alles!

My final credit is reserved for you, Christine. Thank you for your unlimited support and encouragement. I cannot express how happy I am to know you.

Danke schön!